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Divestment of Levels 3 and 2, 27 €ope St Redfern NSW 7wy

The National Congress of Australia’s First- Paoplas (Congress) is a national representative body for
Abo"rlgtna'i-gnd Tortes Stralt Islangder Australians, Gongrass is a leader antd advocats for protecting
and advancing the wellbeing.and ernpowerment of Aborliginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples, and
for securing aur eceniomic, political, cultural and envlronmental future,

Congress has created one of the largast networks of oud Peodles |n the country, Conjrass has more
than 7500 Individual members and close to 180 organtsationat members, with these national bodles,
peaks and comimunity organisations contributing their massive membership of tens of thousands of

our Peoples to the Congress movement.

P am wilting to inforin you that Congress wishes to-apply to the Indigenous Land Corporation for
divestient of Levels 4, and 2 of 27 Cope Streat, Redfern. Congress has leased Level 2 of 27 Cope
Streetsince September 2010,

The National Board of Congress believes divestment {5 part of the strategy to secura the fong-term
viabllity of Congress as the representalive volce for Australia’s First Peoples, and cantinue our worle

to bigdid natianal unity and advecate for key issues,

Preliminary giscussion with 1LC staff has not identitied any Impediment to divestment. Congiress is a
not for profit company fimited by guarantee, and the property and any Income generated from it will
be applied solely towards promoting the conipaiiy’s purposes, consistent with our Constitutiong,

Enclosed is ok subifalssion for divastment. Qnee vou've had an apportunity to consider the
information provided in pur subrdssion, | am proposing a meeting hetween myself and you, at 4
time and place-of your convenfenice, to discuss this further.

I ook forward to heating frof vou, and can be contacted on 02 3070 3100 or
Geoff.Scott@natlonaleongress.com.an
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EXECUTIVE SUMIMARY

The National Congrass of Australia's First Peoples (Congress) is the peak national,
representative arganisation of Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander Peoples. Congress was
established In 2010 and has a steadity growing membership which currently consists of aver
8,100 individual membiers and over 180 Aboriginal organisations. Congress was established
as a nat-for-prafit company, limited by guarantee, [t ls managed by a Board of Directors,
Congress’laperations are effected hy a secretariat which is located at the 27 Cope Street,
Redfern 2016.

This propgsal forms a request to the Indigenous Land Corporation for divestment of Levels 1
and 2 {plus three car parking spaces) of the property at 27 Cape Street, Redfern NSW 201?

to Congress.

_ The Congress secretariat has been accommadated atits present lacatlon for over three

years, Congressis riow weli-established and seeks to secure the tenure of Its secretariat,
taking over ownership af the premises it occuples. Congressalso requests divesttaent of
Level 1 which it seeksto rent aul to assist it in its fong-term strategy of bgcoming
sustamable and independent of governments. Except for one short-term tenant, Level 1 has
been vacant sincé the site was redeveloped. Lavel 2 has been leased to Congress, and Level
3 s occupied by the Gadigal Infarmation Service.

It is fitting that the Congress secretariat is located at 27 Cope Straet, Radfern, which as the
former site of the National Black Theatre is a historic and iconic location in the struggle for
Aboriginal and Tarres Stralt tslandet rights and cultural revitalization, The site is especially
significant to the local Aboslginal and Torres Strait slandet cammunity, which supports
divestment to Cangrass,

This document Includes Information about Cangress structure, operations and governance,
as welf as ts financial status and business plan, and relations with Redfern communlty
organisations. A lst of attachments is included in ‘the table of contents.




ABOUT THE NATIONAL CONGRESS OF AUSTRALIA'S FIRST PEGPLES

The fational Congress of Australia’s First Peoples [Congress) is the tational represeniative body for
Aborlgingl and Torees Strait Islander Australians, which advocates on hehalf of the interests of all
Aboriginal and Torres Strait-islander Peoples. Congress has created one of the largest networks of
our Peoples In the country with more than 8200 individual members and 180 organlsational
members, ‘We acknowledge and pay respect to our ancestors, our Elders and the diversity of
wraditional owhers across this anclent land.

Congress advocates for the malntenance and advancement of our cultures and fult participation of
our Peoples in natlenal econoinic, political and soclal [ife. 1t supports the improvement of wellbeing
of all Aborlginal and Torres Strait Istander peeples, self-datermination and the Implementation of
the tiﬁnited Nattons Declaration of the Rights of Indigensus Peoples. To faclltate Its legitimacy and
the transparency of its operations, Congress aspires to'be firancially independent and sustainable,

Orgalilsational Stracture

Congress was incorparated In 2010 as a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee, It
constitution provides fof three chambers, ach of which elects 40 delegates {20 womeniand 20
men) who raeet annially to gulde Congress’ work, The Australian Government supported the
osganisation with a grant of 529,2 miliioh. It has been granted G5T concessions and FBT rehate by
the ATO and 1 Income 1% exempl.

Chamber 1 tonsists of Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islandey national peak ovganisations.
Chamber 2 consists of other Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations. Chambery 3
consists of tndividual mermbers. Each chamber elects two dircttors for two-year, staggered
terms. Congress’ menibelsasa whole elect a female and male Co-Chair of the Board of
Directors, Congress’ Board of Directors Is comprised of 8 maribers,

Congress’ day-to-day operations are managed by its Chief Executive Officer (Appendix 3), who
oversees the workof staff in Congress’ secretariat, the duties of which Include policy atvice and
development; media relations and communications with membens, event management,
adminlsirative and logistics support. All continuing employees identify as Aboriginal and Torres
stralt Islander. These staffis supplemanted by tasual and short-term contract staff who are
employed for specific purposes or projects.

Congress has an [thics Councii which meets quarterly and oversees clections, provides %sdviae o
the Board, and Is empowered to investigate hreaches or complaints, Congress prides itsalf on
the achlevement of high ethical standards and of its gender equality, Appendix 4 proviges
coplas of Congress” Ethics Counclt Charter; its stalement of ethical standayds; standards|for the
appointment of delegates, co-chairs and directors; and the names-and brief biographies of
current fthics Councll mambers,

in many ways, Congress’ structure ean be lkened to that of a government. Hs menthers are the
eduivalent of an electorate; the delegates are similar to members of paliament, The Boaidis
fike a cabinet of mintsters and the co-chairs act as chief ministers, The secretarlat is tke a public
serviceand ethics counc is Hke a.commission of audH.

The followIng docurnents provide further information on Congress’ structure,




Appendix { - Congress’ Constitution
Appendix 2 - the minutes of Congress’ Atinual General Meetings for 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014

Appendix 3 the names and qualifications of current directors and CEC who are responsible for
establishing Congress’ strategic plan and overseelig it financig! management..

Appendix 4 informetion about Congreas’ Ethics Council

Appendix 10 Congress’ Board Charter

Human Rasgutcaes
Congress is anAhorighal md Torres Strait [slander arganisation. Al Individual memhm are

Aboiiginal and/or Torves Strait islanders, as are members of the Board of Directors; the Chief
Executive Offlcar; and policy, communications and adeinistrative stafl, In addition, many
Abotiginal and Torves Stralt Islander organlsations have Jofned Congress as mernbers (see Table

1)

Tuble 1: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander constituents of Cangress, s at 11 March 2015

Aboriginatjand Torres Strait lslander organisatiofs 189
individual jnembers 8,261
Board members 8
CEQ ' 1
Secratariat staff 9

Congress also employs a small number of consultants, casual and short-term staff to work on
specHic projacts. Most, but tiol all of these are Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islanders.
Divestment will support up to six staff members and strengthen Congress by allowing it to
expand Its operations to better represent Aboriginal and Tarres Strait Islander Peoples on a

wlder range of issues.

Relations with ather Abotiginal and Torres Stralt Istander organisations

As mentioried earfler, Congress conslsts of three chambers, each of which represents a merber
category and elects delegates and directors to represent it, In this way, chambers guide

Congress’ strateglc directions and policy positions, Through these member organisations

Congrass reaches tens of thousands of our Peaples (see Table 1},

Chamber one members are nationaland peak organisations and by way of examples include:

Abdriginal and Torves Steait Istander Healing Foundiation

Australian Indigenous Dogtors Assoclation

Australian Indigerioys Psychiologlsts Assactation

firsk Peoples Disability Network (Australia)

Indigenotis Alled Haalth Australia

The Lewitja [nstituta: Nationat Institate for ﬁborfgiml and Torras Strait slander Haglth Research
National Aborlginal Compunity Controlled Health Qrganisation

Matlonal Abariginaf and Torres Stralt Istander Education Consultative Network
Natlonal Aboriginal and Torfes Strait Islander Health Worker Assaciation
Natlonal Aboriginal abd Torres Stralt Istander Highér Education Consartium
Watlohal Ahorlginal aid Torres Steait Istander Legal Services Forum




National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders Women's Alllance
National Natlve Title Coungll

National Serrotarfat of Torres Stralt istendler Organisation:

Matforial Sorry Day Comnlties inc.

Secrelariat of National Aboriginal and Islander Childcare Irie. (SNAICE)
Stnlan Generations Alliance

Uniting Aboriginal and Istander Christiah Congress

Appendix 8 contains o list of Congress’ Chamber One orgahisations as at 14 March 20158

Chamber two membeérs are Aboriginat and Torres Sirait Islander organisations and by way of
examples include:

Aooriginal Chitd, Familly aid Community Cars State Secretariat (NSW} Inc,
Aborigingl Drug & Alcohol Councll {SA} Inc

Aborigingl Family Law Services

Aboriginal and Islonder Independent Community 5dwol

Aboriginal ane Torres Straft Islandor Women’s Legal Services NO nc
Abovighhal Legal Services of WA

Australian Indigenous Mentoring Experfence (AIME)

Bairehpl Gadjin Land Ceunci)

Darug Tribal Abotiginal Corporation

Goldfields Indigenous Bousing Organisation

Kinsherley Aborighal Law & Cultural Centre

Murdl Pazkl Regional Housing Corporation Linilted

Morth Australfan Aboriginal Justice A{genw

NAISDA Danée Coltege

North Queenstand Land Courcil

Saira Torres Strait islanders Corporation

Torres Sirait Islander Media Associatlon

Umoona Aged Gore Aboriginal Coporation

Appendix 8 contalns e fist of Congress’ Chomber Two ergenisttions as ol 11 March 2015

Redations with othey organisations
Congress has negotiated supporter’s accords with a number of prominent Australian companies
and organtsations, In addition o specific partnership projects, supporters Accords include an
agresment 1o support Congress and promote the:
v oplementation in Australia of the United Nations Beclaration on the Rights of Indigenous
Peoples;
o recognition of Aboriginal and Torves Strait Isfander Peoples In the Australtan Constitutlon;
and
¢ thee Nationdl Anti-Racism Sirategy.

Examples of organisations and companies which have signed Supporters Accords with Congress by
way of exarnples Include:

i Australian Couricil of Sockal Sarvices {ACOSS;
P piversity Counel] Ausivalia
Federation of Ethnle Communities Coundls of Ausiralia
KPMG
Royal Austrillan and New Zealand College of Rsyehiatrists {RANZCP)
Sintth Family




-ANTaR {Australians for Natlve Title and Reconcillation}

fn addition, Congress has recently inttlated a Friends of Cnrﬁ;rez:;s catagory for m,an--Aba_rl-glnz_ll and
Torres Steat Istanider peaple who support Congress. There are currently 416 Friends of Contgrass,

Relations in the Redfern community
Coligress has dstablished deop and abiding relationships in the Redfer area. [£1s cognisant of the
significance of the site’s histery in promoting Abariginal rights and is proud to cantinue that legacy.

The bullditg fn which Congress Is [ocated was ance the site of the Natlonal Black Theatre, which was
established In 1972 and was significant in'the histary of Ahoriginal rights, Iniglally, street theatre was
used to puplicize issues and support pratests and rallies, for example to establish an Aboriglial legal
satvice, raise awareness of the Tent Embassy, and suppaott land sights, (nidally various premises were
tsed in the Redfern area antf eventually It was established at the Cope Strect site, which was
donated to the community by the Anglican Church, The theatre hefd workshops in modern dancing,
tribal dandng, writing for theatre, and photagraphy, and provided a venue for new Abotlglnal
drama. Funding the Theatre was often prablematic and it closed at the end of 1978, Tha slte was.
handed ovar ta the Redfern Aboriginal community, via a group called the Ocganisation for Abariginal
Unity (OAU). 1t was subsequiently transferred to the Aborlginal and Torres Strait Islander
Commission {ATSIC), wilich razed the bullding in the 19805 dus fo (ts derelict state. Following the
disestablishinent of ATSIC, the property was transferred to the Indigenous Land Corporation which
eventually devaloped the site “to deliver long-term benefits for the ndlgenous cotmmunity”, Koort
Radio and the Gadigal information Setvice rnoved inta Level 3 of the ILC bullding.

Ceding part of the site to Congrass is conslstent with the resson for the establishment of the
Natfonal Black Thaatre and the ILC's Intention for the bullding ta provide long-term benefits to
Ahoriginal and Torras Strait Istander Peoples. Congress Is proud to be continuing the egacy of the
sfte since the early 13705 as a force In Aborlginal rights and welfare.

Though national In its dutlook, Congress engages with the Redfern community In a range of ways
including s;iﬁcmsoring and particlpating in local events, supporting local husinesses and organisations.
A substantial proportion of Congress members ive In Redfern (n=124}. On Survival Day in January
each year, &Zongres's has a stall at Yabun In Victoria Park, This year it hetd an Aborlginal flag ralsing
cerernany ik’l Redfarn Park as part of the local NAIDOC celebrations, and last yeat it arranged a
concett, bafrbeque and provided Information to local people on Human Rights Day. |

Congress Is pleased thal its application for divestmant has the support of local Aberiginal and T(J_ri'IEf.i
Strait Islander paople and organisatlons from whom we are collecting letters of support, S

Financlal Status
When it was establistied, the Commonwealth provided Congress with an establishiment grant of

$29,2 milfion, Provision fora furthar S15m was icluded i the Commonwealth's forward estimates
af the 2013 budget, The currerd governmient did hot honowr this commitiment arid eacouraged
Cotigtess ta stand an {ts awn, but allowed Congrass te retain 58m of unaxpended Income, Congress
was granted DRG status effective from 1 july 2013,

Congress restruckured its aperations in rasponse to these polley changes. it dramatically cutits
expebditare and reduced Its staffing complement. Congress is establishing a furidralsing progran,
The divesttnéntof the premises it now laases together with Level 1 {and three car patking spaces) 15
a component of lts financlal sustalnability strategy. Congress wishes to firther veduce is
expenditure by owning, rather than leasing, the space its secretariat occupies, and enhance its

i




fncome by renting out past of the divested premises, Divestiment could support up to six staff
positions Ih Congress aind enhianced activities,

Congress has well established and carefully regulated financlal processes, which are suidited each
year by Delofite Touche Tohmatsu, whose reports are submitted 1o the Annual General Mesthig and
Jodged with the Australiap Charlties and Not-for-profits Commission. The following documents
provide further information on Congress’ financial status and processes,

Appendix § contuing Sohgress” annual reports fer 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014,

Appendix 6 contains Congress’ 2014 eniual statement to the Australion Charlties and Not-fer-prafits
Cormmjssion.

Appendix 7 contalns details of Congress” budgel for 2014 und forecast to 2013,

Congress Actomplishiments .
Imenediately followlig its establishment Jn late 2010, Congress focused on hullding solid Touikiations
for the organisation, Priorites Included: '
»  member recriibment and engagement, )
o establishing advocacy and organisational administrative procedures {including engaging staff
and securlng the secretaiiat site), 1
o developing networks among Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander peoples and organisations,
o consulting Aboriginal and Terres Stralt Islander elders and leaders and Congress membars
ahout policy positions, and
o bullding connectlons with Corarnorwealth government policy makers

In 2011, Conpress established working groups in a range of polley areas to advise It and Jead its
advocacy activities, In 2012, Congress signed a historic Engagement Framework agreement
negotiated with heads of 14 Commonwealth Government departments which obliged them to
consult with Congress before taking any action affecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istanidar

Paoples.

Thereafter, Corigress lias been enargetic n representing Aboriginal and Torves Stralt Islander
interests fo the Austrelish Government, Gongress nembers nominated five: areas of primary
importance to Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander Peoples: health, education, justice, country and
soverelgnty listed above, Congress has been active each of these dreas (see below) and has
engaged it umerous other issuas in response to government inquiries, reports or requests for
advice,

Health

Congress played & central role In the formation of the Natlonal Health Leadership Forum (NHLF);
which consists of eléven Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health groups and-provides-unified and
consistent advice to governenent and other agencles, Via the NHLF and In partnership with éhe
Commonwéalth, Congress playéd a key role in the formuldtion of the National Abetiginal and Tolres
Stralt 1slander Health Plan, Gongress developed positions and ade subimissions to ingulries on
Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder, Close the Gap, suicide preventlon, and alcehol use in Aboriginal
and Torres Strait lslander communities. It has organized numerous workshops and roundtables, as
well as given mabhy conferénce presentations yelated to Aboriginal and Torres Stralt istander health
Issties. ‘ '




Fducation

tn June 2013, Congress released its education palicy, which forms a blueprint for impraving
Abhoriginal and Torres Strait tslander etfucation programs arid dosing the gap in pducational
attainment. The policy provides a coherent alternative to curvent policles hased on punitive
responses to faw school attendance, Congress met with the Minister for Schaol Education and
successTully tobhiled for a positive change to the allocation of tunding for Aboriginal and Torres Stralt
istander students, Congress teatmed up with the Australian Councll for Educational ftasearch o
begin a project on sttecess Indicators for educatighal programs,or accountability for expenditure on
education programs. Congress made submissions regarding the next phase of the Aboriginal and
Torres Stealt Islander Education Action Plan, and the review of funding for childhood edtcation and
care in reglonat, rernote and intligenots cotiumunities,

Louniy

Congress has propesed a National lndigenous Cultural Authority to asslst Abortginal and Tofres Straft
Istander Peaples assert their Indigenaus Cultural and fitellectual Property fights, induding genetic
resources, traditionat knowledye and traditional cultural expresslon. Congress has particlpaied in
activism related fo water tights, native title and extractive industries. Congress has tohbled for
ratification of the International Labour Organisation Cetiventlon 169 oii Indigentous and Tribal
peaples which is concerned with the rights of indigehous and tribal peoples within nation-States and
the rasponsibilitdes of governments to pratect these rights. The Convertion Is based on réspect for
Indigenous cultures andl ways of life, rlghts to lands and resources and the right to self-development.

Constitutianal Recognition

Conigress participated In the Expert Panel on Constitutional Recognition arxd has held meatings with
our Peoples around the nation to discussthe recommendations of the panel, and continues to |
engage In the discussion at a nationat and lacal level.

Jusifce
Corigrass’ justice poltcy Include advocacy of:

v ajustice refnvestment approaach In relation to Aborigihal and Torres Strait islander

communitles;

o the introductlon Justice targets; and

s support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal Services and Famliy Violence Services,
Congress has heen active in promating the concept and practice of justice refnvestment. It has
participated in many conferences and made submissions to gevernment inquirles and reports
ralated to the experience of Abariginal and Torres Strall slander with the justice system. Gongrass
co-chalrs the National Justice Coalltion with the peak organisation, the National Aboriginal and

Torras Strait 18landar Legal Sejvice.

Other policy areas _
Congress has represented Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander interests i a myriad of Issues by

developing policy and advising governiment, including the following!

Sixteen recommendations put by Congress were included In the House of Representatives reporl,
Our Liiid, Qur Languoges, Congress hosted a Languages Reference Group arit has lobbied for the
implementiition of the report’s recommendations.

Congross was very active in opposing proposed chapges to the Raclal Discrimination Actand
participated In a coalition to achleve this goal. Congress Is also a partner i the Austratian Human |
Rights Commission’s antl-racisrn carapalgn, Raclsm It Stops with Me. '

9




Congress has worked clusely with the Royal Commission nto Child Sexual Abuse and helped enstre
that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander peoples are involved in the inguiry oh terms acceptable to-

Us,

‘Conglass has alse takan an intermational Jeadersilp role in advocacy for indigenous rights,
Conhgress’ most recent activity onthe international stage is playing a central role in preparations for
a inebting by the United Nalions General Assembly on Indigenots People, held in September 2014,

In September, Congress organized a round-table of Aborlginal and Torres Strit Islander
organisations to develop a united response to the Forrest Review on Indigenous training an
eniployment, the McClure Report on welfare reform, and also the recent Federal Budget.

Congress will contibue to be active in these areas and pthers as they arise, Appendix 10 provides
Information aboutanticipated areas of Congress activiiy.

Appendix 11 contains an independent evaluation of Congress’ work

REQUEST

As nertioned earller, the bullding In which the Congress secretariat Is located was once thé site of
the National Black Theatre, which was significant In the history of Aboriginal fights, The property
was donated to the communlty by the Anglican Church. Followiig the dlosure of the Black Theatre
in 1978, the site was handed over to the RedFerh Aboriginal cominunity, via a group called

the Organisation for Aboriginal Unity {OAU), The bullding fell inte serfcus disrepalr aid was
subsetjuently transferred to the Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander Commission (ATSIC), which
raved the bisilding in the 1980s. Following the disastablishment of ATSIC, the property was
iz'zmsf&.arred o the Indigenous Land Corporation which eventually developed the site "to dellver long-
termibenefits for the Indigenous community”, On completien, loor Radio and the Gadigal

1

Information $ervice tnoved Into Level 3 of the building.

Congress moved into Level 2 of the building in November 2010, In addition to fit out costs ofiover
SROB,000 {excluding furniture and agulpment), as of December 2014 It has paid the 1EC over
$696,000 In rent and oltgoings. An investment In excess of $3.5m. ;

Cading part of the sfte to Congress Is consistent with the reasen for the.establishment of the
Nattonal Black Theatre and the 1LC's intention for the bullding to provide long-tern benefits to
Aboriginal and Torees Sirait Islander Peoples. Cotgress is proud to be continuing the legacy of the
shte slnce the early 19705 as a force In Aboriginal rights and welfare,

The land o which the bullding stands was donated to the Aboriginal community to support
organisations jnvolved In advbeacy of Aborlginal iights and the maintenance and development of
‘Aburiginm and Torres Stralt slander cultyires, As the national, reprosentative organisation of
Ahoriginal and Torres Strait lslander peoplés, Congress Is pleased Yo carry onthis work,

Accordingly, this document has been prepared in support of Congress’ request to the iLC that it

thivesi Levels 1 and 2 {plus three car parking spaces) of the premises at 27 Cope Street, Redfern, and
transier ligal ownership without caveats to the Natlonil Congress of Australia’s First Peoples,

10
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Appendix 1: Constitution of the National Congrass of
Australia’s First Peoples

Sees
fitte://natlonalcongress comau/wi-content/uploads/2012/09/2.6_Mational-Congeess-
Congtitytion.pdl
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Constitution
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“National Congress oi
] .y P y .
Australia’s First Peoples
Limited
Constitution
Adogted by the National Board on 78 Aprif 2010
Ampnciments- approved at the special general meeting on
1 Dacamber 2010
glice.macdougall@@ireehills.com
Freehills E
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Mlallon Sty it

Constitution

Mational Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

A company limited by guarantee

1 Contpany's name and governance structure
1.1 Name
The name of the company is National Gongress of Australia’s Firat Peoples Limiiod.
1.2 Strdcture
To asslst In understanding the structure of the campaity, this constitution provides for:
{=) meimbers being divided irito Chatnbers by the National Board, subject to
elfigibility requirements get by the National Board,;
(3)] Delegates from each of the Chambers will attend the annual National Congress.
It is anticlpated the Chambers will consider and raise issues for discussion at
the National Congress;
{c) the Natiorial Cahgress will review the policies and priorities of the company and
advise and tnake recommendations to the National Board;
{d) each Chamber's Delegates will elect 2 directors to the National Board;
(e} the menthers will elect two exacutive directors to the National Board who will be
the co-chalrs of the National Board;
't an Ethics Council will be appointed to monitor, review and advise the National
Board on the conduct of elections and other matters.
In addition to the constitution, the National Board will adopt regulations, procedures and
policies which will bind members in addition.to the constitution. The regulations,
pracedures and policies adopted by the National Board will be available to the members,
1.3 Steering Gommittes Report

This company and the terms of the constitution have atisen from the report issued in
August 2009 by the Steering Committee for the National Representative Body
consltations and the Australian Human Rights Gornmission entitled: 'Qur fulure in our
hands — Creating a sustainable National Reprasentative Body for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples’. The.contribution of the following individuals in drawing that report

- and this constitution together are acknowledged:

My Tom Calimia,;

Mr Mark Bin Bakar,
Ms|Tanya Hosch;
Mr Geoff Scott;

Dr Jackie Huggins AM; ;

(653680

Mr Tim Goodwin;

Constitution
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Ms Yananymul Mununggenr,
Mr Jason Glanville; and
My John Toshi Kils.

2 Company's purposes
(a) Tha company is established for the public charitable purposes of:

(1 providing natiohal leadership and recognition of the status and of the
rights of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander psople as first hations
pedples;

2) protecting and advancing the wellbeing and righis of Aborlginal and
Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities;

(3) broviding a reprasertative volee of, and a conduit for communications
with and between, Aborigital and Torres Strait Islander peoples;

{4) secLring economic, political, social, culural and environmental futures
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and communities by
working with governments, service providers, communities and other

| stakeholders;

(5) building strong refationships with government, industry and among
Aboridinal and Torres Straif Islander peoples and communities, based
on mutual respect and equality;

{B) identifying issues, researching solutions and aducating gove£nment,
service providers and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander pooples
and communities fo achieve the above purposes,

{h In carrying out its purposes, the company will operate with the following values:

(1) the highes! standards of professionalism and objectivity;

3] intagrity and honesty; )

(3} accountability, transparency and openness;

(4 participation and inclusion; and

(5) beaing informed,

3 Company’s powers

68453690

Solely for carrying out the company's plirposes, the company may:

{a) raise funds or encourage contiibutions by way of gifts (by will or ctherwise),
grants, sponsorships, personal or public appeals or in any other manner;

(b provide funds, facilities or other material benefits;

{c) accept-and hold funds or proparly of any kind on or for any charitable dhjects or
purposes specified or to be specified by any person or to be selacted by the
National Board from a class of trusts, objects or purposes specified by|any

person;

{d) engage or dismiss any employes, agent, contractor or professional person;

Constitulion
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(@) ‘accept and undertake tr(steeships, administration and managéiment of trusts

and funds, whether as trustee or as agent for tha trustes or otherwise, and
charge and accept fees, commission or other remuneration for doing so;

)] purchase, take on lease or in excliange, hire or otherwise acquire real or
parsonal proparty, and any rights or privileges;
{4} control, inanage, lease, exchange, mortgade, charge, sell, transfér, stirrender,

dispose of, develop, carry on business or otherwise deal with any real or
personal property of any kind or any estate ar intersst in that praperty,

(h) invest, deal with and lend money and otherwise provide financial
accommadation to, and guarantes or otherwise securg loans io, charitable
objedts ot plrposes;

(i) copstruct, improve, maintain, davelop, work, manage and contral real or
personal property;

{i) enter into contracts and deeds;

{k) appoint an attorney or agent with powers (including the power to sub- delegate)

and on terins the company thinks fit, and procute registration or recognition of
the company in any othér cotintry or plate;

{ enter inta arrangerments with any govermment or authority, |

{m) bharrow, raise ot secuire the payment of money and securs the repayment of
petformance of any debt, liability, confract, guarantee or other engagement in
any way and, in partmutar by mortgage, charge or overdraft or by the issue of
debentures or debenture stock (perpetual or otherwise) charged on all or any of
the campany's property (both presenit and future) and purchase, reédearm of pay
aff thosd sedurities:

() make, draw, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory hotes,
bills of exchange and other negotiable or transferable instruments;

{0} print and publish information in hard copy or by electronic means,

M accept any gift of real or personal property, whether subject 1o any special trust
of not-and dedline to aceept any gift;

(@) appoint patrons of the company;

{t) male donations for charitable purposes;

() arrange conferences, meetings and othet forums,; and 7

(t) do alt other things that aré incidental or ¢onducive o carrying out the campany's
puUiposes. .

| |

Not for profit

{a) The company’s incorne and property must be applied solely fowards promating
the company's purposes.

{h) No part of the income ot property may be paid, transferred or distributed,

directly or indiractly, by way of dividend, bonus, or other profit distributian, to
any of the members or <lirectors.

{c) This rule 4 does not prohibit:

(1) indemnification of, or paymerit of premiums on contracts of Insurance
for, or
(2) payment of director’s fees or other paytmants under rule 15.6 to
Constitution page G
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any director to the extent permitted by law and this constitution.

Membership

5.1 Application for membership

(8)

(¢}

The members are;
{h the persons who consent to be the initial members; and

(2} any other persons the National Board admit to membeiship in
accordance with this constitution and any reguiations, procedures and
polisies of the Matiohal Board,

Evésy applicant for menbership of the company (except the Initial mermbers)
must apply in the form and manner decided by the National Board,

Adter receipt of an application for membarship, the National Board {or ¢
delegate approved by the Mational Board) must consider the applicatirfn and
dacide whether to admit or reject the admission of the applicant. The National
Board need not glve any reason for rejecting an application.

Eligibility
(=2

(c)

(d)

6653‘6‘90

The Natlonal Board may formulate regulations for categories of membership
and eligibility to those catépories In consultation with the Ethics Council. The
National Board may inciease the numbeér of categories or change the fype of
catagory of sligibility requirements.

All members must assist the company in carrying ot its purposes and adhering
to its values.

The National Board must assign each member {6 a category of membership, At
the commencement of the company, there are the folldwing catagorios of
membership aid eligibility for the categories of meémbership (Subject to the
power of the Nailonal Board in rile 5.2(a)):

n Category 1 members - orgahisations which musi ba:

. Paak Bodies for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
at regional, 8tate or Territory, or National level or

P National Aboriginal and Torres Strail Organisationj
nat

which meat any other eligibllity requirérnents set by the Nati
Board,

(2) Catggory 2 membaers — Aboriginal afid Torres Strait Islander
Organisations which mest any other eligibility requirements set by the
National Board.

(3) LCategory 3 members - individual members who are Aboriginal or
Torres Strait Islander people and are over the age of 18 years old and
who moest any cther eligibility requiremerits sel by the Nationg! Board,

Any complaints relating fo eligibility or the category of membership a member is
assigned to can be referred to the National Beard in accordance with the
Grievance Procedure in rule 18,

Constitulion
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5.3

Subscription fee

{a)

().

©

()

A subscription faé may be decikled by the National Board. Varying amounts for
the subscription fee may be applied to differing types of membars as decided by

thé National Borrd and made available to the members fiv a subscription fee

policy.

The National Board must notify all petsons antered on the tagister of nrembers
of the amount and time for payment of any annual subscription fee and of any
alteration to the subscription fee.

Whiere the subscription fee is not récsived:

(') ane mohth after the due date, the National Board may issue a written
reminder notics ta the meimbiar; arid
(2) it the subscription fee is still not received onhe month after issue of the

written reminder notice, the member's rights and privileges associated
with that membership will be suspended,

If a member who was suspended under rule 5.3(c} has not paid a subscription
fae formare than 2 months after issus of the wiitten reninder notice, the person
ceasaes to be a ember, unléss the person is also a director, it which case the
suspension undet rule 5.3(c) wilt continue.

Mermbership of Chambers

(@]

(b)’

{e)

The membership of the campany is divided into Chambeérs hy reference to the
pategory of membership. The humber of Chambers may increase of the
compasition of the Chambers may he varled by regulation by the National
Board.

The Chambers at the-commencement of the company are intended to he: ?
(1) Ghamber 1 - Category 1 members are members of Chamber {;
{2) Chamber 2 - Catedory 2 members are members of Chamber 2;
(3) Chambet 3 - Gategory 3 members arg nienibers of Chamber 3.

The National Board may by regulation or policy, divide the Chambers into
divisions ar create separate. Chambefs hased on postcodes or focus areds for
meetings and communications and other putposes in the interests of the
campany.

Election and role of Delegates to National Congresa

6.1

6553690

Operations of Chamber 14

{a)

Chamber 1 must;

{1) nominate and elect, in accordance with the procedures set by the

o National Board, up to 40 Delegates (Chamber 1 Delogates). To be
eligible for nomination 4s a Chamber 1 Delegate, the person must be
an individieal imember of the company, niust not be a Delegate of
another Chamber or nominated as-a Delagate for another Chamber,
and must meet any other eligibility requirements set by the Nation |
Board, as approved by the Ethics Council. No more than twa 1
representatives from any Chamber 1 member are eligible for electi} n,

Congtituiiait
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(c)

(@)

()

—

(2} assiat and collaborate with the Chamber 1 Deélegates to enstire
Chamber 1's advice and information relevant to the operations and
purposes of the company-are pravided to the Natienal Congress and
to the Natiohal Board;

(3) hold & meeting of Chamber 1 members al least once every 2 years,
The agenda of the meeting will be set by the National Boardjin
consultation with the Chamber 1 Delegates.

After sach election of Delegates, the Ethics Coundil must review those elected.
The position of Dalegaie will not be effective until confirmed by the National
Board, In consultation with the Ethics Councll. The National Board is not
required to give reasons for any confinmation or refusal to confirm the position of
Dalegate, If the position is not confirmed within 6 months after the elections, the
position is taken not to be filled and the Person not slectad as a Chamber 1

Pelagate.

In the first year of the company, the National Boad will decide the procedures
by which Chamber 1 will hold the elettions for the Chamber 1 Delegates, with
the endorsement of the Ethics Council. In each subsequerit year, the Natiohal
Board will conzuilt with the Chamber 1 Delegates and then sel the procedures
for holding the elections. The intention is for substantive equality betwaen men
and women Delegates. The procedures and subsequent review process will
allow the National Board to address any inequality that may arise, in a manher
in accordance with the law.

The elections of the Chamber 1 Delegates will be staggered as follows:

{h In the first year the Chamber 1 Delegates will be elected with half (as
tecided by the National Board) having a tehm until the elections of
Chamber 1 Delegates in the second yeéar after their election (Group A
Gharber 1 Delegates) and $he otifer half will have a term until the
election of Chamber 1 Delegates to be held b the third year afier their
slaction (Group B Chamber 1 Delegales).

(2) In the second year after the election of the first Group A Chiamber 1
Delegates, and every second yoar thereafter, an election of up to 20
Group A Chamber 1 Delegates must be held with a term until the nexi
election of Group A Chamber 1 Delegates and the outgoing Group A
Ghamber 1 Delegates will retire (if not re-elected) on the election of
the next Group A Chamber 1 Delegates.

(3) In the third vear after the slection of the first Graup B Chamber 1
Delegates, and every sacond year thereafter (alfernating years to the
elactions of the Group A Chamber 1 Delegates), ar elsction of up fo
20 Group B Chamber 1 Delegates must be held with a term until the
next elaction of Group B Chamber 1 Delegatas and the outgeing
Group 3 Chanber 1 Delegates will refire (if not re-elécted) on the
élection of the next Group B Chaniber 1 Delegates.

() Chamber 1 Delegates can stand fof re-glection with & maximum
consetutive term of 10 years unless the Ethics Council set a longer
term for one ormore Chamber 1 Delegates.

Any vacancy in Chamber 1 Delegates created either by cessation under rule 7.2
or by failurg io he confirhhad wider rale 6.1(b), may be filed by appeintment by

" the Natioral Board, The appointes imust meéet the eligibility requirernents of a

Chamber 1 Delegate and the National Board must seek recommendations from
the Chamber 1 directors. The appointment will be for the tarm ‘remainiﬁg of the

Chamber 1 Delegate the appolniee is replacing, A vacancy may be left vacant
as the National Boeard decides,

The role of Chamber 1 Delegales is 1o

Consiitulion
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6.2
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{1 noiinate Ghamber 1 Delegates who aie also members of the
compariy and who meet the eligibility ctiteria set by the National
Board, as candidates for-directors of the company, as and when
requested by the National Board, Two directors must be-elected by
Chamber 1 Delegates at the National Congrass in accordance with
rile 15.4. The directors élected by the Chamber 1 Délegates a8
approved by the Ethics Couneil will be co-chairs of Chamber 1
{Chamber 1 directors);

{2) attend the National Congress each year;

{3) comimurnicate with Chamber 1 members and Chamber 1 directors ot
lssues relevant to the purposas of the company and advisa and assist
thie National Congress in recommimending strategy and priotities for the
company,

(4 assist in convening mestings, disseminating information ankl holding
alections in relation to the Chamber and assist the National Board in
developing policies for the operations of Chamber 1 it-a manner
cansistent with the purposes and values of the company.

(5) actively support and advocate for the issues set by the National
Boardls, as approved af the Nationa! Corigress, in accordance with
any communications palicy the National Board may adopt.

Operations of Chamber 2

@)

{b)

()

Chamber 2 must:

(1) nominate dnd, subject torule 6.2(c), slect, in accordance with the
procedures set by the National Board, up to 40 Delegates (Chamber
2 Delegates). To be eligible for nomination as a Chamber 2
Delegate, the person must be an individual member of the company,
must hot he a Delegate of another Chaimber or hoiviinated as a
Delegate for another Chamber, and must meet any other eligibility
requirements set by the National Board, as approved by the Ethics
Gouncil. No maore than one reprasentative from any Chamber 2
member is eligible for election;

(2) assist and coliaborata with the Chamber 2 Delégates to ensure
Chamber 2's advice and infoimation relevant to the operations and
purposes of the company are provided to the National Congrress and
to the National Board;

(3) assist the National Board in dividing Chamber 2 into divisions hased
on focus groups or locality or any other basls: |
(4) hold & meeting of Chamber 2 members or meatings of all divisions;of

Chembier 2 members at least oncs every 2 years. The agenda of the
fmgetings will be set by the Natiohal Board in consudtation with the
Chambier 2 Delegates.

After sach election of Delegates, the Ethics Council must raview those elected,
The position of Delegate will not be effective until confirmed by the National
Board, in consultation with the Ethics Council. The National Board is not
required to giva reasons for aty confirmation or refusal to confirm the position of
Delegate. [f the position is not conifirmed within 6 months after the elections, the
position is talken not to be filled and the person not electad as a Chamber 2
Delegate. )

In the first year of the company, the National Board will decide the procedures
by which the Chamber 2 Delegates will be nominated and selected, with the
endorsement of the Ethics Council, In each subsequent year, the National

Constifulion
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{d)

(e}

(f)

6653%3S1E)

Board will gonsult with the Chamber 2 Delegates and then set the procadures
for holding the elections. The intentfon s for substantive equality betwesn men
and women Detegates. The procedures and gubseduent review process Wil
allow the National Board to address any ineguality that may arise, in a manner
in accordance with the law,

The elections of the Chamber 2 Delegates will be staggerad as follows:

{n

3

()

In the first year the Chamber 2 Delegates will be selected with half (as
decided by the Naticnal Board) having a term until the elections of
Chamber 2 Delegates In the second year after thelr selection (Group
A Chamber 2 Delegates) and the other half will have a terim until the
election of Charnber 2 Delegates to be held in the third year after their
selection (Group B Chamber 2 Delegates).

In the sacond year after ihe lection of the first Group A Chamber 2
Delsgates, and gvery second year thereafter, an electioh of up {0 20
Group A Chamber 2 Delegates must be hield with a term until the next
slection of Group A Chamber 2 Delégates and the outgoing. F%roup A
Chamber 2 Delegates will retire (if not re-elected) on the election of
the next Group A Chamber 2 Delegates.

In the third year after the election of the first Group B Chamber 2
Delegates, and every second year thereafler {alternating years to the
slections of the Gioup A Chamber 2 Delegaies), an slection of up to
20 Group B Chaimber 2 Delegates must be held with a tenm until the
next election of Group B Chamber 2 Délegates and the cutgoing
Group B Chamber 2 Delegates will retire (if not re-elected) on the
election of the héxt Group B Chamber 2 Delegates.

Chamber 2 Delegates can stand for re-election with a raximum
sonsective tefm of 10 years unless the Ethics Councll set a longer
term for one or more Chaimber 2 Delegates.

Any vacancy in Chamber 2 Delegates created either by cessation under rule 7.2
or by fatlure to be confirmed under rule 6.2(h), may be fillad by appointment by
the National Board, The appciniee must meet the eligibility requirements of a
©hamber 2 Delegate and the National Board niust seek recommenclations from
the Chamber 2 directors. The appointment will bé for the term renaining of the
Chamber 2 Delagate the appointee is replacing. A vacancy may be left vacant
25 the National Board decldes.

The rola of Chamber 2 Delaegates is to:

(1)

ahd who meet the eligibilify criteria set by the National 'BoarcL, a5

noriinate Chamber 2 Delagates who are members of the company

sandidatos for directors of the company, as and when reguested by
the National Board. Two directors must be alected by Chaml;el 2
Delegates at the National Congress In accordance with rule 15.4. The
directors electad by the Chamber 2 Delegates as approved by the
Ethics Coungil will be co-chairs of Chanber 2 (Chamber 2 dueciors)

attend tHe National Congress each year;

comiminicate with Chamber 2 mambseis and Chambier 2 difectors on
issties relevant to the purposes of the company and advise and assist
the National Congress in recommending strategy and priorities for the
company;

assist in convening meetings, disseminating information and holding
elections in relation to the Chamber and assist ihe National Board in
developing policies for the operations of Chamber 2 in a manner
consistent with the purposes and values of the company,

Conslitullon
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{5} actively support and advocate for the issués set by the National
Boards, as approved at the National Congress, in accordance with
any communications policy the National Board may adopt.

6.3 Operations of Chamber 3

(@)

66536490

The National Bogird must invite Chamber 3 members to apply for-appointmeht
to the National Congress as Chamber 3 Delegatas, at least every 2 years. All
applications must be in the form and manner set by the National Board. All -
applicants must meet the eligibility requiremnents set by the National Board. To
be eligible to apply, the applicant must not be a Delegate of another Chamber
of nominated as & Delegate for ahother Chamber.

The Natiotial Board, must el out the procedures for appolntment by the
National Board of up to 40 Belegates from Chamber 3 members to the National
Congress (Chamber 3 Delegates). The intention Is for substantive equality
batween men and women Delegates, The procedures will allow the National
Board to address any inequality thal may atise, in a mianner in accordance with
the law.

The Chamber 3 members must assist and collaborate with the Chamber 3
Delegates to ensure Chamber 3's views and information relevarit to the
oparations and purposes of the company ave provided ta the Nationst Congress
and to the National Board,

Any vacancy in-Chamber 3 Delegates may be filled by dppointment by the
National Board with recommeéndations recelved by the Chamber 3 directors for
the term remalning of the Chambear 3 Delagate the appointee is replacing, or left
vacant as the National Board decides,

The role of Chamber 3 Dalegates is

{1) nomitiate meinbers of the company who meet the eligibility criteria|set
by the National Board, as candidates for directors of the campany,|as
and when requested by the National Board. Twe directors must be
slected by Chamber 3 Delegates at the National Congress in
accordance with rule 15.4, The directors elected Dy the Chamber 3
Delegates as approved by the Ethics Gouncll will be co-chairs of
Chamber 3 {Chamber 3 directors);

{2 attend the National Congress each year,

(3) cornmunicate with Chamber 3 memibers and Chariber.3 directors on
issues refevant to the purposes of the company and advise and assist
the National Congress in recammending strategy and priotities for the
company,

(4) assist ih cansultations with Chamber 3 members of divisions of
Chamber 3 members, converiing meetings and dissemiriating
infotmation in relation to the Chambet, and assist the National Board
in developing policies for the operations of Chamber 3 in a inanner
consistent with the purposes and values of the company;,

{5) actively support and advocate for the issues set by the National

Boards, as approved at the National Congress, in accotdance with
any cornmunications policy the National Board may adopt.

CGonslitution
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7 Cessation of membership or Delegate status
7.4 Cessation of membership
A parson Iimmedliately ceases 1o ba-a member ¥ ihe parson: i
b

(@) dies;

(b) resigns as a member by giving wiittan nolice to the company;

{c) becomes of unsound mind of the person is, or thelr estate is, llable to be dealt
with in any way under a law relating to mental health;

{c) becomas bankrupt or insolvent or makes any arrangement or camposition with
his or her ereditars;

(e) ceases to be g member undar rule 5.3 of is expelled uhder rule 7.3; or

H - becomas, if the National Board so decide in their absolute discretion, an
untraceable member because the person has ceased fo reside at, altend or
otherwise communicate with his or her Registerad Address.

7.2 Cessation as a Delegate

A parsen immediately caases lo be a Delegaie of a Chamber if the person:

{a) dies;

)] ceases to be & member;

! {c) becomes of unsound mind or the Delegate is, or their estale i, liable to be dealt
with in any way under the law relating to menital health;

(d) is removed from the office of Delegale by resolution of the members of the
Chammbér he or she represents in accordance with the provisions of the Act
relating to removal of a director by the members, read as though the Delegate
was the direcior and the members of the Chamber were the membersiof‘the
company; ]

(&) is expalled under rule 7.3;

(fy axcept to the extent of a leavs of absénce granted by the Nationat Board, if the
Delegate fails 1o aitand af least 3 gonsecutive meetings of the Chamber
Delegates; oy

{g) resigns by wiitten notice to the company.

7.3 Expulsion

(&) The National Board may by resofution expel a member from the company or a
Delegate from the position of Delegate of a Chamber, if, in their absolute
discretion after consultation with the Ethics Council, they decide it is not in the
interests of the company for the person to rermain a member of a Delegate,

(b) If the National Beard intend to consider a resolufion under rile 7.3(a), at least

BB836G0

one week before the meeting at which the resolution is {6 be considered, they
musi give the member or Delegate writien notice:

M slating the date, place and fime of the mesting;

(2} sefting out the intended resolution and the grounds on which it is
based, and

Constitulion
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{3) informing the member or Delagate that he or she may attend the
meating and may give an oral or wrilten explanation or submission
before the resclution is put to the vote.

Liability of members

Tha liahility of the members is fimited to the amotnt of the guarantee given in rule 9.

Gngl_arantee by members

10

Every mamber must contribute an amount not more than $100 to the property of the

company if it is wound up while the person is a member or within one year after the |

person ceases tohe a member, for:

() payment of the contpany's debts and liabilities contracted hefore the time helor
she ceased to bé a member; and '

{2} costs, charges and expenses of winding up.

Winding up

11

{&) If, on the winding up or dissolution of the company, any property remains aftar
satisfaction of all its debts and liabilitios, this property must onfy be given or
transferred to an institution:

() that is charitable at law;

{2) whose constitution prohibits distributions or payments to-its members
and directors (if any) to an extent at least as great as is autlined in
rule 4; and

{3 Gifts to which can be deducted under Division 30 of the ITAA 97.

{b) The identity of the institution reférred to in rule 10(a) must be decided by the
National Board, or if the National Board does not wish to decide or dogs not
dacide, it must he dacided by the members by ordinary resolution at or bafore
the time of winding Up of the company and, if the members do not decide, by
the Supreme Court of the state ar territory in which the company is registere'r-.

Altering this constitution

111

1.2

Alterations affecting charltable status

The company must not pass a special resolution altering the constitution, if, as a result,
thie company will cease to be a charity.

Motice to Commissioner

{a) The company must give written notice to the Commissioner if:

(1) a special resolution is passed materially alteririg rule 2; ot

Constitistion
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4] the company ceases to be entitled to be endorged as a tax
concession charity as a result of a change in its constitution or
activities or atherwise,

(b} The notice must ba given as scon as possible after the passing of the special
resolution or the cessation,

113 Changes to members’ righis
Any amendment, replacement or addition to rule 5 or this rule 11.3 or any other part of
the constitution which may affect the rights of any category of members differently to the
rights of any other category of members, imust be passed by a special jesolution of the
members of the affected Chamber, as well as a spaclal resolution of all members eligible
fo vola.
12 Public Fund
i : ) .
12,1 Establishment of Public Fund

(a) There is established a public fund to be known as the Mational Congress of
Australia’s First Peoples Public Fund (Public Fund) for the purmose of receiving
Gifts and Deductible Contributions to the company for the furtherance of the
company's pumposes in rule 2. '

(b} The company must establish a banl account in the neme of the Public Fund
into which all Gifts and Daductible Contributions of money in the Public Fund
miust be deposited (Public Fund Bank Account). Subiect to rule 12.2(a)(3), ho
other money is to be deposited into the Public Fund Bank Account.

(c) The company must invite the public to make Gifts and Deductible Contributions
tor the Public Fund.

122 Use of Public Fund
(a) The company miist ensure that:
(1) the Public Fund doss not contaln any property oiher than property
clgascnbed inyule 12.4;
{2) the Public Fund Is enly used in furtherance of the company's purpose
inrule 2; and
i {3 all money (including interest) derived from money or propert | in the
' Publie Fund Is credited to the Public Fund Bank Account.
12,3 Winding up oy ceasing to be a deductible gift recipient
{a} At the firs{ oceurrence of:
(1) the winding up of the company; or
(2) the company ceasing to be a deductible gift recipisht under saction
30-90 of the ITAA 97,
any surplus assets of the Public Fund must be fransferred to a fund, authority or
instiution:
3 which Is charitable at law,
653500 Constitulion
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{4) whose constitution prohibits distributions or payments to its members
and directors {if any) to an extent at laast as great as is outlined in rule
4, and

t

B Gifts to which an be deducted under Division 30 of the ITAA 97, f

{h) Tha identity of the fund, atithority or institution referred o in rulé 12.3(a) must be

12.4

12.6

6653680

decided by the National Boardl, or if the National Board does not wish to decide
or does not dacide, it mustbe decided by the mambiéars by ordinary resolution at
or before the time of winding up of the company and, if the members do not
dacide, by the Supreme Court of the state or tertitory in which the company is
registerad.

Heceaipts

Receipts for Gifts and Deductible Cantributions of money or property ta the Public Fund
must:

(@) be igsued in the name of the Public Fund, and
{b) state the information required in the applicable provisions of section 30-228 of
the ITAA 97,

Public Fund admiinistration

{a) | The Public Fund must be administered by the National Board. If there is not a
majoniy of the Nationaf Board who are Respanslble Persons the Nauonal

of at least 3 people the ma;onty of whom are Responsmle Persons

{b): If at any time the requilrement in rule 12.6(a) is not met, the committes must mt
exetclse any discretion or power untit the requirement is met, except:
{f) to protect the Public Fund; or
{2) in the case of urgency.
(c) Subject to rule 12, the Nationat Board inay specify:
S the manner in.which the committes's proceedings ar¢ to be to be
conducted;
(2) the mattars which the commitiee must have regard to in carrying out
its functions; and
{3 any ofher mattars concerning the comimittes or its functions that the

National Board decide.
Records and financial statements

{a) The comparty must keep and maintain proper books of aceount and regords
(which are wrilten up in accordance with generglly accépted accounting
standards and principles consistently applied) re!atmg to-all receipts and
outgdings for the Public Fund.

{b} For each financial year, the company must have financial statements {including
a profit and loss account and balance sheet) prepared by a suitably qualified
person {in accordance with generally aceepted accotnting standarde and
principles consistently applied) which detail the affairs of the Public Fund forl
that financial year including, withatit fimitation, the following matters with respéct
ta the Public Fund: 1

{Nn income;
2 capital;
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{(3) cosis and disbursements and other cuigoings paid or payable and
chargeable against income;

®H capital expenditure and labiiities ¢chargeable to capital; and

(5) investments ang proparty.

The financial statements referred to in rule 12.6(b) must be certified by the
Auditor to be true and proper statements of the affairs of the Public Fund.

13 Mestings of members |
13.1  Application of meeting procedures
The terms of this sule apply to general mestings of the members and apply as modified
hy this constitution and by the National Board, to National Congress and meetings of
Chambers and divisions of mambers.
13,2 Galling general mestings
)] A general megéting may only be called:
m by a resolution of the Naticnal Board;
(2) in accordance with a mambers' requisition under the Act, or
(3) as otherwise provided in the Act,
(b} The National Board may change the venue for, posipone or caiicel a general
meeting if:
(1 they consider that the meeting has become unnécessary;
2) the venue would be unreasonable or mpractical; or
{3) a change is necessary in the interests of conducting the meeting
efiiciently. j
(c) i the gensral meeting was not called by a resoluticn of the National Board or
was called in accordance with a members' requisition under the Act, then it may
not be postpohad or dancelled witholt the prior written congent of the persons
who called or requisitiongd the Trigsting.
13.3  Nofice of general mectings

6653690

{a)

{b)

Notice of every general meating must bo given in any manner authorised by
rule 21 to each person who Is at the date of the notice:

4 a member;
(2) a director;
(3) a cotncillor on the Ethics Councll; or

{4} tha Auditor,
A netics of a genetal mesting must:

{h ‘specify the date, time and place of the mesting;
{2) except as provided by the Act, state the general nature of the
business to be transacted at the meeting; and
(3) specify a place, fax number or electronic address for the receipt of
proxies.
Constituilon
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13

13.5

{e) §

(a)

(©

{d

(@)

(&)

{d)

(653630

A person may waive notice of g general maeling by written natice to the
campary.

Tha non-receipt of natice of & general meeting-or proxy form by, or & failure to
give notice of a genaral meeting or a proxy form to, any person erititied to
receive notice of a general meeting does not ;nval:date any thing done or
regalution passed at the geneidl meeting if:

{1) the non-receipt or failure occutred by accident or erior; of

{2) before or a_fter the meeting, the perspn has hatified ar hotifies the
campany of that person's agreetment to that thing ar resolition.

A person’s attendance at a goneral mesting waives any objection that parson
may have to:

(N a faillure to give notice, or the givilig of a defactive notics, of the
meeting unless, at the beginiing of the maeling, the person objects to
the holding of the meeting: and

(2) the consideration.of a parttcuEar inatter at the meeting which Is nof
within the business refarred to in the notice of the mesting, unless the
person ohjects to considering the matter when it is presented,

A Quorum at general meetings

Mo business may be (ransacted at a general mesting, except the election of a
chalr if ohe of the co-chairs of the National Board is not present, and the
adjaurnment of the meeting, unless a quorum of members is present when the
meeting proceeds to businass.

A guorum gansists of & members entitled {o vote and present at the mealing.

If & gquorum is not present within 30 minuteés after the time appointed for a
general meeting:

(1) whera the meeting was convened on the reguisition of members, the
meeting must he dissolved; or

{2) in any other case the meetifig stands adjourned to the day, and at the
tima and place, that the National Board degides or, if the National
Board does hot make a decision, to the same day in the hext week at
the same time and place.

If at the adjourned meeting under rule 13.4(c)(2), a quorutn is not present within

30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting must be
dissolvad,

General meetings by technology

The simudtaneoys linking together by telepthane or other electronic maans of a
sufficient numbier of the members in person, to constitule a quorum constitutes
a meeting of the members, provided each member has a reasonahle
opportnity to participate at'the measting.

All the provisions in this censtitution relating to meatings of the Imembers apply,
as far as they can, with any riecessary changes, to meetings of the marmbers by
telephone or other electrortic means,

A member who takes part in a maeting by telephone or other electronic means
is taken to be present.in person at the meeting.

A meeling by telephone of othér electronic means is taken as held at the place
decided by the chalr of the meeting. as long as at least onhe of the members
involved was at that place for the duratioh of the ingeting.
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13.6

13.7 |

Chair of general meetings

{a)

{b)

{c)

At a general mesting, the chair will be one of the co-chairs of the National Board
as they agres between them, or failing agreement as they determine by lot,
provided the co-chair who is to préside as chair is present within 16 minutes
afterthe time appointed for the mesting and willing 1o act.

If the co-chair who is to preside as chairis either not present within 15 minutes
after the time appointed for the mesting or is not willing to act, then the other ¢o-
chair must preside as chair unless he orshe is also not presant within 15
minutes after the time appointed for the meeting or is not willing 1o act. In which
case the members present must elect another ehair of the. mesting.

A chair glected under rule 13.6(k) must be;
{1 another director wio Is present and willing to act; of

(2) if no other director present at the meeting is willing to act, a member
who Is present and willing to act.

Adjourning general meetings

(a)

(b)

©

13.8°
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(d)

The chair of a general meeting may, and must if so divecled by the megting,
adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business
may he transacted at any adjourned meefing except the business left unfinished
at the meeting from which the adjournment took place,

Witeve a mesting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned
meeting must be given as for an original meeting.

Excapt as provided by rule 13.7(b), it is not necessary fo give any notice of an

adjournment of of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

Wheie a mesting is adiourned, the National Board may change the vehue of, or
postpone or cancel, the adjourned mesting, unless the meeting was callad and
arranged to be held by the members or the court under the Act. If a mesting is
called and arrangad to be held under section 249D of the Act, the National
Board may not postpona it beyond the date by which section 249D requires it to
be held and may not cancel it without the consent of the requisitioniing mermber,

Conducting genéral meetings

(@)

The chair of a geheral meeting is regponsible for the general conduct of the
meeting and for the procedures to be adopted at the meeting. A question arising
at a general meeting relating to the order of business, procedure or conduct of
the meeting must he referred lo the chair of the meating, whose dacision is
final,

The chalr of a general mesting may take any aclion they consider appropriate
for the safely of persons attending thé meeting and the orderly conduct of the
meeting and may refuse admission to, or require to leave and remain but of, the
masting any person:

(13 in possession of a pictorial-recording or sound-recording device;

(2} in possaesslon of a placard or banner,

(3} in possession of an article considered by the chair to he dahgeious,
offeisive or llablg to cause disruption;

% who refuses 1o produce or to permit examination of any article, or the

contents of any arficle, In the person's possession; andfor
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()

()

(e)

0

{g)

{h).

{a)

{b}|

{c)

{5). who bahaves or threatens to behdve in a.dangerous, offensive or
distuptive manher.

The chair may, at any time the chair considers It necessaty or desirable for the
propar and orderly conduct of the mesting:

(1) impose a limit on the time that a person may speak on each motior or
other item of bugingss and terminate debate or discussion on ahy
business, question, motion or resclution heing considered by the
meeting and regquire the business, question, motion or resolution to be
put to a vote of the members present; and

() adopt any pracedures for casting or recording votes at the meeting
whather an a shaw of hands or on a pall, inchuding the appoifment of
sorutineers.

The chalr hiay postpane the meeting before it has started, whether or not &

guaruny is present, if, at the time and place appainted for the meeting, he or she

considers that:

{1 theia is not shough raom for the number of marbers who wish to
atténd the meeting; or
{2) a postponement Is necessaty in light of the behaviour of persons

prasent or for any other reason so that the business of the fmeeting
can be properly carried out.

A postponement will be to another time, which may be on the same day as the
meeting, and may bé to another place (and the new time and place will bs taken
to be the time and place for the meating as if specified in the notice which called
the nieéting ariginally). '

The chair may at any time during the course of the meeting:

{1} adjourn the meeting or any business, rotion, question or resolution
heing considered or remaining to be considered by the meeting either
to a later time at the same meeting of to an adjourned meeting; and

) far the purpose of allowing any poll to be taken or determined,
suspend the proceadings of the meeting for such petiod/s as he or
shié decides without ffecting an adjcumment, No business may he
teansacted and no discussion may take place during any suspension
of proceedings unless the chair otherwise allows.

The chair's rights under this rule are exclusive and, unless the chair requires
otherwiss, no vote may be taken or demanded by the members present about
any postpanement, adjotirnment or suspension of proceedings.

Caly unfinished bustness may be transacted at a ineating resumed after an
adjournment. ‘

Decisions at general meetinge

The chair of a meeting must etisurs that a certificate, signed by the company
setretary, of Direct Votes received is available at the meeting ahead of any vote
taken,

Except where by law a resolution requires a special majority, questions arising
at a general meeting must be decided by a majority of votes castby the
inembears present at the meéting and any Direct Votas, Such a dedision is fo,L all
purposés a decision of the members, '

Where the votes on g proposed resolution are equal:
{hH the chalr of the meeting may exercise a second or casting vote, and

Constiibion
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()

o)

{®

()

(2) in the case of National Congress, if the chair Is not a Délegate, he or
she may exetcise a casting vote.

A resolution put 1o ihe vote of a general meeting must ba decided in the manner

decidled by the chair and I a Direct Vots has been received, the vote must be
decided in a mariner which includes the Direct Votes cast for or against that
resolution.

A poll may be demanded, before the vole is taken or hefore of immediately after
the declaration of the resyit of the show of hands and Direct Voles, by

(n the chair-of the mesting;

() at least 2 members present and with the right o vote on the
resolution; or

(3) amember or members present af the mesting and representing at

least 5% of the tolal voting rights of all imembers entitled to vote on the
resolution on a poll.

A demand for a poll does not prevent a gerieral meeting continuing to transact
any business except the guestion on which the poll has been demanded.

Unless a poll is duly demanded, a daclaration by the chair of a general meeting
that a resolution has on a show of haneds been:

(N carried;

(2) carried unanimously,

(3) carriéd by a paiticular majority; or
() fost,

and an entry to that effect In the book containing the minutes of the company's
proceedings, Is conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number of
proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. E ’

If a poltis duly demanded at a genaral meeting, it must be taken in su th
manner, and gither at once or after an interval or adjournment or otherwise, as
the chair of the imesting directs. The poll must include a count of the Dlli‘eb!
Votes cast for or against the resolution. The result of the poll is the resolution of
the masting at which the poli was demandsd. !

" A poll demanded at'g general meesting on the election of a chair of the meeling

or oira ghestion of adjournmeant nmust be taken immediately,
Thé demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

13.10  Voiing rights at gencral mestings

(@)

£853600

Subject to this constitution and to any rights or restiictions attached to any class
of membership, at a general meating every mambel present has one vote which
may he giveh;

{4) personally at the meeting;

{2) by proxy, altorney or representalive who is entitled to a separate vote
for sach mamber the person rspreseﬂts in addition o any vole the
person may have as a fnember in his or hér own right;

(3) by valid notice of their voting decision (Direct Voling).

Subject 1o clause 13.13, if a member attempis fo cast more than one vote ona
particular resolution the order of prioiity is:

() Direct Vote,

2 a voie by a member present on a show of hands; and
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{3) avote by a proxy, atiorney or representative,

{c} An objection to the qualification of a person to vote at a genetal. meetihy must
he:

{1} raised before or at the meeting at which the vote objected to is given
or tendered; and

(2} referred to the chair of the mesting, whose decision is final.

{c} Avote not disallowad by the chair of a meeting undet rule 13.10(c) is valid for
all purposes.

(e) Councillors on the Ethics Coundil in attendance-at a general meeting do not
have any vating rights however they may address the meeling as determined by
the chair.

13.11 Representation at general meetings

(8) Subject to this constitution, each member entitled ta vote at a thesting of
members wiay vote:
{n in person or, where a member is a bady cotporate, by its

representatives;

(2 hy ohe proxy; or
(3 by one attorney.

(b} A proxy, attorney of fepraseitative miay, hut nged not, b a mainber of the
company.

(] A proxy, attorney or representative rmay be appointed for alf general meetings,

or for any number of general meetings, or for a patticular general meeting,

13.42  Authority of a proxy, attorney or representative

(a) Unless otherwise provided in the instrument, an instrument appointing a proxy,
attormey or representative is to be taken to confer authority:
M io aigree to a mesting being convenad by shorter notice than is
raquirsd by the Act ar by this constitution; and
{2 1a agree o a resolution baing proposed and passed as a special
resolution at 2 maeeting of which less than the pariod of notice lequxred
by the Act has been given.
{b) Even thaugh the instrument (appointing a proxy, attorney or representative)

maly refer to specific resolutions and may direct the proxy, attarmey or ]
representative on how to vote an those resolutions, unless otherwise provided,
it is taken 1o confer authority:

{1) to vote on any amendment moved to the proposed resolutions and on
any motion that the proposed resolutions not be put or any similar
moation;

{2) to vate on any precedural motion, including any motiofi to elect the
chair, to vacate the chair or to adjourn the meeting; and

(3) ta act genarally 4t the meeting.

(c) An instrument appointing a proxy, altornay or leprebentatwe may direct the

mannet in which the proxy, attorney or representative is to vole in respect of &
particular resolution and, whera an instrument so provides, the proxy, attorney
or represeptative is not entttlad to vote on the proposed resolution except as

directed in the instrument.

8653690 Conatitution
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Subject to rule 13.12(e), an instrument appointing a proxy, attorney or
representative need not ba in any particular form as long as it is in wiiting,
legally valid and signed by oron hehalf of the appointer or the appoeinter's
altorhey.

A proxy, atiomey or tepresentative fay not vote at a general mesting or
adjourned meeting or on & poll unless the instrument appointing the proxy,
attorney or representative, and the authority under which the instrument is
signed, or a cedified ¢opy of the authority, are:

hH recelved at the registered office of the company, a fax number at the
company's registered office or at another piace fax number or
electronic address specified for that pirposé ih the hotick convening
the meeting hefore the time specified in the notice]

(2 in the case of a mesting or an adjoumed meeting, tabled at the
meeting of adjotimad meesling at which the person named in the
instrument proposes fo voto; or

(3) in the case of a poll, produced when the poll is taken,

The National Board may waive all or any of the requiremants of rules 13.12(d)
and 13.12(e} and In particular, may, on production of other evidence {o prove
the valid appoiniment of a proxy, aitorney or repiesentative required by the
MNafionatBeard, accept:

{n an oral appointment of a proxy, attorney or representalive;

(=) an appointment of a proxy, attorney or representative which is not
signed in the manner required by rule 13.12(d); and

{3 the deposit, tabling of praguction of a copy (including a copy sent by

fax) of an instrument appointing a proxy, atterney of representative ot

a power of attorney or other authority under which the instruments

signed.
A vole given in accordance with the terms of an instrument appointing a proxy,
altorney or represeniative is valid despita the revocation of the instrumeni o the
authorily under which the instrument was executed, if no wiitten notice of the
revocation has been received by the company by the time and at one of the
places at which the instrument appointing the proxy, attorney or representative
must be deposited, tabled or produced under rule 13.12(s).

The appointment of a proxy or attorney is not revoked by the appointer
attending and taksng part in the general meeting but, if the appointer votes on a
resolution, in- person or by Direct Vote, the parson acling as proxy or attorney
for the appointer is not entitled fo vote, and must not voie, as the appeinter's
proxy or atlorney on the resolution.

Direci Voiing i general meetings

(a)

)

A person who has cast a Direct Vote is entitled fo attend a meeting. Howevar,
they are not able {0 vole on resolutions the subject of the Direct Viote af that
meeting,

A Direct Vote may be in any form decided or accepted by the directors but,
subject to rule 13.13(c), is not valid unless the Direct Vole is:

(1) recelved at the registered office of the company, & fax number at the
company's registered office or at another place, fax number or
electronic address specified for that purpose in the nolice cohvening
the meeting before the time specified In the notice;
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4] in the cdse of a mesting or an adjourned meeting, tabled at the
mesting or adjournad mecting at which the person named in the
instrument proposes to vote; or

(3) in the case of a poll, praduced when the poll is taken.

The directors may, on thé production of such evidence as the directors reqLu &
to prove the validity of the Direct Vote, aceept:

(1) an-oral Direct Vote,

(2} a Direct Vote lodged through the internet or by electronic means;
{3) a wiitlen Direct Vote which is not signed; and

) the depasit, tabling or production of a copy’ (mc!udmg a copy sent by

fax) of a Direct Vote.
If a vote |s-ta!_<en at ameeting on a resolution on which a Direct Vote was cast,
tha chair of the meeting must;
(N where the meeting votes other than by a poll (ie on a vote on a show
of hands) count each member who has submitted a Direct Vote for or

against the resolution in accordance with their Dirsct Vote as well as
the votes cast at the meeting; and

(2) oft a poll, count the votes cast by each member who has submitted a
Direct Vote directly for or against the rasolutlon.

i
i

6553690

(&)
(b}

Nationaf Congress s the annual meeting of the Delegates and National Bmlcl

All Delegates are expectad to attend and participate in National Congress as
delegates of the_Chambor they represent with their primary duty at Nafional
Congress to review the parformance of and assist the company in car rying out
its purposes in accordance with its values. Delegates must present the views of
thelr Chambar but act for the best interests of the Gompany as & whole, ie not
just for the objectives 'or interests of the Chamber they represent or ofany
employer, contractor or interest group they may represéent.

Each Mational Congress will be conducted in accordance with rule 13 with any
madifications sef out by the Mational Board or under this constitution.

Aquorim for a mesting of the National Congress consists of 70% of Delegates.

Delegates cannot appoint a proxy, attarney or altarnate to attend and vate in
their place at National Congress,

National Board must set the agenda for National Gongress and it must include; '

{1) review of a raport from National Board setting out its activities,
financial statements and performance since the previous Natiotial
Congress against any strategic or perfmmance ohjectives and budget
recammendad by the previous National Congress;

() discussion and recommendation of the following 12 months and
longer tetm stratagy, budget and priorities for the company within the
terms of the purposes and values;

(3) réview of policies set by the National Board, i

{4) division into separate meetings of Chatnber Delegates to elect the
Chamber directors {where required).

Constitutlon
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15 Nafional Board

The Natlonal Board may also réquest Delegates to divide into focus groups o
provide reconumendations ag to policy end priorities in specified areas, to the
Mationai Board, ‘

The National Board will issus an invitation to all councillors on the Ethics

Council to attend and parficipate in the National Gohgress. Councillors on the
Ethice Counéll will not héave any voting rights at the National Gongress.

15.1 Mational Board

(@)
(b

(e}

The minimum number of directors’is 3 and the maximum number of directors is
14, unless the company in general meeting resolves otherwise.

The National Board must consist of;

{1} iwo executive directors who are go-chairs elected under rile 15.3;

(2) two Chamber directors from each Chamber, who are co-chairs of the
Chamber and are elocted under rule 15.4;

(3 any additional directors appointed or elected under any policy or

regulation adepted by thé National Executive, as approved by the
Ethics Council,

The company must have substantial gender equality in its leadership and the
Natichal Board may take spaclal measures within the law to achieve substantial
equality af all levels of its leadership and management, including in setling the
procedures for the election and appointment to the Natichal Board.

18.2 | Initial National Board

()
)
(c)

The first divectors are thosenarmed as directors in the application for registration
of the company.

The initial term of the first directors is until 20 Business Days from the and of the
first Nationa) Congress.

The first directors are appointed to the following roles:

(1 the co-chairs of the National Board are Sam Jeffries and Keriy
Arabehs;

(2) the co-chairs of Chamber 1 are Daphne Yarram and Peter
Buckskin;

{3) tho co-chairs of Chaniber 2 are Kiynton Wanganenn and Josephine
Bourne;

(4 the co-chairs of Chamber 3 are Colieen Hayward and Ned David.

18.3  Election of co-chaiis

(2)

$653690

Thé National Board in conigultation with the Ethics Council must set out the
procedures for the application, eligibility and review process for the election by
the members of the co-chalrs of the National Board. The procedures will
include:

(H any Individual member who meets the eligibility requirements may
czppty in accordance with the proceduras;

CGonsfitulion
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(b}

(@

(d)

(e)

()

@

(2) the applicant must be prepared to be an executive director of the
company, in full time employment with the company;

(3) the requirement for substantive gender equality expressed in 15.1(c);

{4) raview of those candidates with the most votes by the Ethics Council

befoie the slection is effective,

The slestion of co-chalrs will be subject to approval by the Ethics Council. The
election of co-chairs will net e effective until confirmed by the Mational Board,
in consultation with the Ethics Council. The Natiohal Board is not requiired to
disclose the numbet: of votes réceived by any candidate and wilf not give
reasons for any confirmaticn of refusal to confitm the election of any candidate.

The teim of office for & co-chair commences 20 Business Days from the first
National Congress at which his or her election is confirmed by the National |
Board as co-chair of the National Board (or if the confitmation occtirs before,a
National Congress, 20 Business Days after the National Cangress immediataly:
following the confirmation) and ends (subject to rule 16:5) 20 Rusiness Day
after the second National Gongrass followiid the commencément of the co-
chair's term of office. The co-ghair can apply for re-election. .

{f only 2 candidates ave hominated then these candidates provided they meet
the eligihliity critatia and are confitmed by the National Board in consultation
with the Ethics Coundil are deemed (o be elected without the need for a vote. I
more than 2 candidatés who meet the eligibility criteria are nominated, the
National Board may decide that the election of the co-chairs of the National
Board will take place by ballot or at a meeting of marbers.

If the election of co-chairs to the National Board is to take place-by ballot or at a
general meeting, voting will take place in accordance with the proceduras set by
the Natlonal Board it consuliation with the Ethics Council.

The procedures for a ballot will inglude, in addition to the matters refarrad to in
rule 15.3(a):

{1) the date on which the members rust be on the fegister of members in

order to be entitled to vote;

{2) the appointrmaent of a Returning Officer and ong ar inore independent
serutinears to oversee the procadures for the election of co-chairs by
hallt;

3) the timeframe which will enable the names of the elected and i

confirmed co-chalrs to be announced at the National Congress
following the ballot.

If the office of co-chair becomas vacant, the National Board, in consultation with
the Ethics Committee must appoint & co-chair who meets the eligibifity
requirements. A co-chait-appointed undér this paragraph holds office for the
remainder of the term of the co-chair he or she is replacing.

Chamber directars

{(a)

The Naticnal Board in consultation with the Ethics Council must set out the
procedures for the eligibility and for the elaction of the Chamber directors of the
National Board. The prosedures will include:

(1) the Chambrer ditectors may not he full or part time emptoyees of the
company,
(é) the requirement for stbstantive gender equality expressed in 16.1{a};
Gonstifution

“°f

page 26




_Frechills

8553500

(b)

()

()

{3) each Chamber must elect the Chamber directors who will co-chair that
Chambet and the candidates must be from: the nominations recelved
from the Chaimber Delegates;

(4) review of those candidates with the most votes by the Ethics Council
hefore the eleclion Is effective.

The election of co-chairg of each Chamber will be subject to approval by the
Ethics Council. The election of co-chairs will not be effective until confirmed by
the National Board, in consultation with the Ethics Council. The National Board
is not required to disclose the number of votes recelved by any candidate and
will not give reasons for any confirmation or refusal to confin the etection of
any candidate.

The ferm of office for a Chamber director commences on the later of 20
Business Days from the National Congress at which elections for the Chamber
director was held or the date the National Board confirms the appointment of
the Chamber director and ends (subject fo rule 15.5) 20 Business Days after the
National Congress in the fourth year after the National Congress at which the
Chainker director was alected, subject to an inatgural terim for 3 of the first
elected Chamber directors (which must be one of each of the co-chairs for each
Chamber, as decidad by the National Board) being until 20 Business Days after
the National Congress in the second year after their appointment. The|Chamber
director can ba nominated for re-glection,

If the office of a Chamber director becomes vacant or the slection of ajhew
Charaber director has not been confirmed within 2 months of the National
Congress at which the election was cionducied, the National Board must fill the
casual vacancy o must replace the oulgoirig Chamber director by appeinting &
mamber who meets the relevant eligibility requirements and is approved by the
Ethics Council as Chamber director and confirming his or her appointment as
the new co-chair . A Chamiber director appointed under this paragraph holds
office for the remainder of the term of the oulgoing Chamber director or, if the
appointment is as a result of there baing no confirmation by the National Board
withlin 2 months of an election, for the teym he or she would have f rule 15.4(s)
appliad. '

Vacation of office

The office of a director hecomes vacant;

(@)
(b)

{©)
(d)

(8)

in the circumstances in the Act;

if the director becomes of unsound mind or a director is, or their estate is, liable
to be: dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental heaith;

if tha director Is removad from office by reschition of the mambers in
accordance with the Act;

axgep! to the extent ofa leave of absence granted by the National Bo‘lp‘d, ifthe
director Tails to allend at least 3 consecutive meetings of the National ?oard or

at least 4 mestings over a period of 365 days; or 1

if the director resigns by written notice lo'the company:

Paymerits to National Board

()

All payments to directors or iembers must be approved by the National Board
including, but not fimited to:

{1) out-of-pocket expensas incurred by a director in performing a duty as
a director of tha company;
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5

{2) payments for a service rendered ta the company by a directar aor
member in a professional or technical capacity, provided the sorvice
has the priar approval of the Mational Board, and the amount payable
is commercialiy reasonable for the fee of service,

{3) indemnification of, or payment of prémiums on contracts of insuratice
for, any director to the extent permitted by law and this constitution:
(4) payments for goods or praperty suppliad or leaised by a divéctor or

member provided the amount Is commercially reasonable.

Each director is entitted to remuneration from the compaay for his or her

sarvices as a director as the National Board decide, but the total amount

provided to all directors for their services as the National Board, must not

exceed in-aggregate in dny finaricial vear the amount fixed by the campany in

general meeting.

When calculating a director’s remuneration for the putposes of rule 16.6(b),

disregard any amount paid by the company:

{1} (0 & superdinuation, retirement or perision flirid for a director so that
the company is not liable to pay the superannuation guarantee charge
ot similar statutory charge; or

{2) far any insurance premium pald or agreed to be paid for a director
under this consitution; or

{(3) In payment of travelling and othei' expenses they inclr in attending to
the coimpany's affairs, meetings and other events;

(4 ifi payment of extea services approved by the National Baard for the

benéfit of tha company.

Rernuneration may be provided in such manner that the National Board decide,
including by way of non cash benefit, such as a contribution to a I
gsuperannuation fund. The rethuneration is taken to accrde from day to day.

7 Directors may contract with the company and hold other offices

(@)

{c)

(&)

665369¢

The National Board may adopt regulations requiting the disclosure of interests
that a ditector, and any person considered by the National Board as related to
or associated with the director, may have in any matter concerning the
company. Any regulations made under this sonstitution binds alf of the National
Board hut no act, transaction, agreement, instrument, resolution or other thing
with a third party is invalid or voidable only because & director fails to comply
with the ragulations,

Unless the Act patinits and the National Board agrée that this rule will not apply
in any particiilar mattet, a director who has a material personal interest in a
malter that is being considered at a Natiohal Board meeting must not;

{1). be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting; or
{2). vote oh the matter.

A director is nat disqualified from contracting or entering inta an arrangement

with the company.as vendor, purchaser ot In another capacity, mersly because
the dirgdtor halds offics as a direclor or becausa of the fiduciary obligations |
arising from thal office,

A contract o arrangeraent entered into by or on behalf of the ¢ompany in which
a dirgotoris in any way Interested is nof invalid or voidable merely because the
director holds office as a director or-because of the fiduciary obligations atising
from that office.

Conshitution

O

o

page 28




Freehills

Jlisacie s

{e)

(h}

A divector who s interested in an arrangement Involving the company is.not
liable to account fo the company for any profit realised under the arrangement
merely because the dirsctor holds office as a director or hecause of the
fiduciary obligations arising from that office, provided thet the director complies
with applicable disclosure réquirements uhder any regulations adopted by the
National Board, and under the Acl regarding that inferest.

A director may hold any other office or positien (except Audilor) in the company
in conjunction with his or her direstorship and may be appointed to tha office or
pesition on terms (including remuneration and tenure) that the Nationg! Board
decides.

A diractor may be or hecome;

(1 a diregtor of;
{2} another officer of;, or
(3) interested in,

a body corporate associated with the company, and, with the consent of the
company's National Board, need not ascount to the company for remuneration
or other banefits the director receives as a director or officer of, or from having
an interest in, that body corporate,

The National Board may exercise the voting rights conferred by shares in a
body corporate held or owned by the company in the manner that they think fit.

15.8  Powers and duties of the National Board

-(a)

BE53GO0

The National Board is responsible for managing the company’s affairs and
carrying oul the company’s purposes. The National Board will consider the
recommendations and advice of the National Congress and the Ethics Coundil
wheh exercising the company's powers and in carrying out the company's
purposes. The National Board may exercise to the exglusion of the company in
general megling all the company's powers which are not vequired, by the Actor
by this constitution, to be exercised by the company in general meeting.

The National Board imay decide how chegues, promissory notes, hankers
drafts, bills of exchange or other negotiable instruments must be signad, drawn,
accepted, endorsed or otherwise exscuted (as applicable) by oron behali of the
company.

The National Board may pay out of the company's funds all expenses of the
promotion, formation and registration of the company.
The Natiohal Board may.

(1} appoint or employ an officer, agent or attorney of the company with
the powers, discretions and duties vested in or exercisable by the
National Board, o the terms the National Board decides;

(2} authorise an officer, agént or altorney to delegate alt or any of the
powers, discretions and duties vested in the officer, agent or attormey;
and

{3} subject to any contract belween the company and the relevani officer,

agent or attorney; remove or dismiss any officer, agent or atiofiiey at
any timg, with or without cause. :

A power of attorney may contain provisions for the protection and convenlence
of the aitomey or persons dealing with the atforney that the National Board
thinks fit. ;
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Procesdings of the National Board

(&)
(b)

(d)

(@)

. The National Board may meet together and adjourn and otherwise regula:te their

meetings as they think fit.

The simultaneous linking together by telephone or other electronic means of a
sufficient riumber of the National Board to.constitute a-quorum constitutes a
maeting of the Natiohal Board. All the provisions in this constitution relating to
rieetings of the National Board apply, as far as they can and with any
necessary changes, to mestings of the National Board by telephone or other

-alectronic means,

A director who takes part in-a meeting by telephoné or other elestronic means is
faken 1o he present in person at the meeting.

A mieeting by telaphone or other electronic means is taken as held at the pl 06

decided by the chair of the meeting, as long as at least one of the National

Board involved was at that place for the duralion of the meeting.

if, before or during the meeting, a technical difficulty occurs which means that
ane or mare of the directors cease to participate, the chair may adjourn the
meeting until the difficulty is remedied or may, if a quoium of the National Board
remains present, continte with the meeting.

Convening meetings of the National Board

(@)

{b)

Either co-chair or any 2 of more diractors may conveng a meeting of the
Natiohal Board whenevet he or she or they think fit.

A secrataty must, on the raquisition in accordances with paragraph (a), convene
a magting of the National Board, -

Notice of maetings of the National Board

(@)

{b)

()

(ch)

Subject to this constitution, notice of a meeting of the National Board must be
given to each person who is at the time of giving the natice a director, axcept a
dirgctor on leave of sbsence approved by the National Board.

A notice of a meeting of the National Board:

(1) must specify the time and place of the meeling; !

{2) need not state the nature of the business to be fransacted at the
meaeting;

(3) may be given immediately bafore the meeting, ard

{4 rhay be given il person of by post, telephone, fax or other electronic
means.

A director may waive notice of & meeting of the National Board by notifying the
company to that effect in person or by post, telephone, fax or other slectronic
means.

The nan-receipt of hotice of & meeting of the National Board by, or a failure to
give notice of a ineeting of the National Board to, a director does not invalicate
arly thing dote ar resolution passed at the meeting If.

(1 the non-teceipt or fallure occurred hy accident or error;

() the director has waived of walves notice of that meeting under
eule 15.14(c) before ar after the meeting;

Constitutian
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{e}

{3) the director has notified or notifies the cempany of his or her
agreament 10 that thing or resolution personally of by post, telephona,
fax or olher electronic means bafore or after the nieeting; or

(4) the direcior altended the mesting.

Attendance by a person at a meeting of the Nationa) Board waives any
objection which that person may have 1o a failure {o give notice of the meeting.

Quorum 2t meelings of the National Board

{a) No business may be transacted at a mesting of National Board unless a
quorum of the National Board is present at the tlime the business Is dealt with,

{0 A quorum consists of a majority of directors.

fc) ) thene Is a vacancy in the office of a director then, subject to rule 15.12(d), the
remaining directors may act.

() If {hee number of dirgctors in office at any time is less than the minimum humbes
of diractors fixed under this constitution, the remaining directors must act as
soon as possibie to appoint additional duectors as reqwred and, unill that has

happened, may only act if and to the extent that there is an emergency requiring
them toact.

Ghalr of the National Board i

(@) The co-chairs elected under rule 15.3 are the co-chairs of the National Board.

{h) At & meeting of the National Board, the chair will be one of the-co-chairs of the
Nationa) Board.as they agree belween them, or falling agreament gs they
determine by lot, provided the co-chair who is to preside as chair is present
within 10 minutes after the time appointed for the megeting and willing o act.

.(c_) if tha ¢o-chalr who is to preside as chalr is either not present witliin 10 minutes

6853590

after the time appointed for the meeting or Is not willing to act, then the other co-
chair must preside.as chair unlass he or she is also not present within 10
minutes after the time appeinted for the meeting or is not willing o a¢t. In which
case the directors presént must slect one of the National Board as ¢halr of the
meeting.

Decisions of the National Board

(a)

(k)

{)

A mesling of the National Board at which a quorum is present may exercise all
the powars and discretions vested in or oxercisable by the National Board undér

this-constilution,

-Questions_;aﬁsing at a mesting of the-National Board must be decided|by a
‘majority of votes cast by the National Board present, Such a decision {s for all
‘purposes a decision of the National Board.

Where the votes on a proposed resolution are equal the chair of the maeting
may exercise a second or casting vote, |

Written resolutions of the Natlonal Board

{&)

A resolution is taken to have been passed by a meeling of the National Board if:

{t) all the National Board {except any director on leave of absence
approved by the National Board, any director who disqualifies himself
or herself from considering the resolution in question and any director
who would be proliibited by the Act froim voting on the resolution in
guestion) sign or consent to a written resolution; and
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GBI

(2) the directors who sigh or conset to the resolution would have
constituted a quarum at a National Board meeting held to consider
that resolution.

{h) A director may consent to a resolution by:

(1) signing the document containing the rasolutiott {or a cupy of that
document);

(2) giving to the company at its registered office a written notice (including
by fax or other electronic mgans) addressed to the secretary or to the
co~chairs of the National Board signifying assent to the resolution and
aithar setting out its terms or otherwise clearly identifying them; or

(3) telephoning the secretary or either of the co-chaits of the National
Board and sighifying assent to the resolution and clearly identifying its
tatims.

Mintutes of meetings and minutes of resolutions

(ay “The National Board must ensure:
{1 minutes of proceedings; and
4] résolutions of general meetings arid of mostings of the National Board

(inctuding cominitiees of the Mational Board),

ara tecorded iri books kept for the purpose, within one month after the relevant
meeting is held.

{b) The National Board must ensure that minutes of resofutions passed by Natignal
Board (and committees of the National Board) without a meeting are recotded
in baoks kept for that purpose within ofte month dftet’ the resolttion ts passed.

{c) The minutes of ameeting must be signed within a reasotiable time by the chair
of the maeting or the chair of the next meeting.

Comimittees of the National Board

{a) The National Board may delagate ahy of their powers (o ofig or mofe
committees consisting of the nurber of directors and other people as they think
fit,

{b) A committes to which powers have been delegated must exercise those powers
delegated in accordance with directions given by the Nationat Board.

{c) Provisions of this constitution that apply to meétings and resolutions of the

National Board &pply, as far as they can, with any necessary changes, to
migetlrigs dnd resolutions of a committes of the National Board,

Delegation to individual directors

(a) The National Baard may delegate any of thelr powers to one director.

()] A directol to whom powers have been delegated must exercise those powers
delegated in accordance with directions giveh by the National Board.

Validity of acts

An act done by a person agting as a director, a meeting of the Natianal Board, or a
committee of the National Board attended by a person acting as a dirgotor, is not
invatidated merely because of one of the following circumstances, if that circumstance
was not known by that person, the National Board ot the comimittes (ds applicable) when
tive act was done:
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{a) a defect in the appointment of the persen as a director;
(b) the persoh being disqualified as a director or having vacated office; or
(&) the person not being entitied to vote.

16 Board officers ;
16.1  Board director

(a) The National Board may appoint the co-chairs of the National Board as
exgcutive directors.

{n A director’s appointment as an executive director automatically terminates if
they cease to he a direstor

{c) The National Board may confer on an executive director any fitle they think fit,

6.2 Secretary

(a) The National Board must appoint at lesist one secretary and may appoint
additional secretaries,

(b The first secretary of the company is the person who has consented to act as
secretary and who is hamed as the secretary in the application for registration
of the company.

Provisions that apply to all executive officers

16.3

6653690

{a) A reference in this rule 16.3 te an executive officer is a reference to an
execittive diractor and the secretary of the company.

(b) The appointment of an executive officer may be for the period, at the |
rernungration arnid on the conditions that the National Board think fit.

{c) Subject fo any cohitract betwaan the company and the relavant execuiive

officer, an executivé officer may be removed or dismissad by the Naticnal Board
at any time, wilh or without cause, !

{ch) The National Board may:

(h confer on an executive officer the powers, discretions and duties
{including any powers, discretions and dutiss vested in or exorcisable
by the National Board) they think fit;

(2) withdraw, suspend or vary any of the powers, discretions and duties
conferred on an executive officer; and
(3 authorise the executive officer to delegate all or any of the powers,
disgretions and duties conferred on him or her.
(&) An act done by a person acting 4s an executivé officer is not invalidated merely

because of one of the following circumsiarnces, if that circumstance was not
known by that person when the act was done:

{h a defect in the person's appolntment as an sxeculive officer; or
(2) the porscn belng disqualified fo be an executive officer.
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Ethics Council
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(&)
{b)

(c)

The National Board must maintain an Ethics Council as an advisory commitlee
to the National Board,

The number of counclilors must be at least 8 and the councillors must ba

-Aboriginal or Tarres Strail Islander people with the highest integrity. While

gieting as a coundillor on the Ethics Colnell, & counciflor must not be a member
of the corapany or a representative of a member of the company. The councilior

may aftend meetings of members, charnbers or the National Congress but may

not vote.

The first directors referred to i rule 15.2(a) must appoint an initial Lthics
Council and subjact to the decision of the National Board to extend the term or
to remove a maiber, the term of the appointment will be 2 years. The funct: ns
of the initial Ethios Council will be set out in a charter set by the National Bagi
and must include;

{1 recomimending the process for the appointment and removal of
members of the Ethics Council by the Natiohal Board;
4] other matters required of the Ethics. Council in this constitution and as

requested by the Natienal Board.
The functions of the Ethics Council will thclude:

(1} reviewirig the candidates to the positions of co-chairs of the National
Board and recommending candidates to the National Board for the
office, bearing in mind the requirements of rule 12.5(z) and other
ehglb:hty requirertients,

(2) reviewing the Chamber 1 and 2 Delegates once elected (0
racommend confirmation o rejection of the election bearing in mind
the eligibility requirements;

(3) reviewing the applications to positions of Chamber 3 Delegates and
making recommendations to the National Board, bearing in mind the
eligibility requirements,

(4) féviewing the candidates to the positicins of the Chamibar direclors
and recomimending candidates fo the National Board for the office of
co-chalr of each Chamber, hearing (he requirements of rule 12.5(a)
and the eligibility requirements; !

(5) acting as a mediator if requested under the grievance procedures;

6) reviewing the policies and application of eligibility for the categories of
meambership;

{7} reviewiny the creation and aperation of any divisions within a category
af membership;

(8) assisting in reviewing the terms of any Ghamber Delegates;

{9) assisting and recommend policies and procedures to ensure the

company, National Board and National Congress maintain the highest
ethical standards;

(10) assisting the compatiy in adhering to the purposaes and values;

(11 mvestlgatmg any potential breaches of ethical standards or the
corapany’s values,

(12} racatmmending members for joining the Ethics Council;
(13) ofher métters reguired By the National Board,

o
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The National Board must specily in the charter:

(1) the manner in which proceedings of the Ethics Cetincil are to be
conductad;
(2} the matters which the Fthics Council must include in any

consideration of issues in carrying out its functions; and

{3) any other matters concerning the Ethics Coungll or ils functions tivat

the Natiohal-Board decide.

18~ Grievance procedure

@

(b)

(c)

(&)

®

8653600

Any dispute under these rules between a member and ancther member or

‘batwesn a member and the company must, unless the parties otherwise agree,
e dealt with by the procedure in this tile 18.

Any party to a dispute between members, Tay refer the dispute to the Nationa
Board for détérmination. The Natlonal Board may appeint a director, Subje(}f to
tule 18{d} below, to act as the mediator 6f a third party,

If there Is a dispute belween the company and a membor, eithey party imay
require the dispute be referred to the Ethics Councll for determination.| The
Ethics Gouncit may appoint a membey of the Ethics Council, subject to rule
18(d) below, fo act as the mediator or a third parly. l

The mediator must be;
(n a parson agreed belween the parties to the dispute; or

(2) in the absence of agreement within 14 days of a party requiring
mediation;

s in the case of a dispute between a member and another
member, a persen appointed by the National Board, or

o in the case of a dispite batween a member and the
company, a person who is a mediator appointed or
smployed by the Dispute Settlement Centre of Vicloria
(Department of Justice) or its successor in law or
organisation with similar authority and struciure within
any othar State or Teritory.

A member can ba a mediator.
The mediater cannot be a parly tothe displte.

Any parly o a dispute may appoint any person to act on behalf of that party in
the process of determination by the mediator.

The mediator, in-conducting the mediation, must:

4} give the parties to the dispute every reasonable opport mty 1o be
heard;

(2} allow due considsration by all paitles of any written statement
subimitted by a parly; and

(3) ansurs that natural justice is.accorded to the parties to the dispute
throughout the process,

A determination made by the mediétor, as the case may bie, any under this rule
is final and binding on all parties to the dispute,
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19 ndemnity and insurance
18,1 Persons fo whom the indemnity and insurance apply
Tha indemnity and insurance referred to in this rule 19 apply to Indermified Officers. !
19.2 Indemnity
(a) The company must indemnify, on a full indemnity basis and to the full extent
permitted by law, each Indemnified Officer against alt losses or liabilities
{including costs and expensas) incurrad by the person as an officer of the
company.
)] This indemity
{h is & continuing obligation and i enforceable hy an Indemnified Officer
even though that person has ¢ceased to be an officer of the company:
and
(2 operates only to the extent that the loss or Hahility in question is hol
covered by insufance.
1.3 Insuwrance
The cotnpary may, to the extent permitted by law:
(a) , purchase and maintain insurance; or
) pay of agree to pay a preémium for insurance,
for any Indemnified QOfficer against any liability incurred by the person as an officer of the
campany whisre tha National Board coasiders it approptiate to do so.
19.4  Savings
Nothing in this rule 19;
(a} affects any other right or remedy that an Indemnified Officer may have in
respect of any loss or liahility referred to in this indermnity or ingurance; or
) limits the capacity of the company to indemnify or provide or pay for insurance
for any person to whom this rule 198 does not apply..
20 Auditor
The company must appoint & properly qualifled Auditor whose duties will be regulated in
acdordance with the Act.
21 Notices |
211 Notices by the company to members

The company may give notices, Including a notice of general meeting to a member:

{a} pearsanally;
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21.2

21.3

21.4
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(b by sending it by post to the acliress for the member in the fegister of members
or the alterndtive address (if any} nominated by the miember; or

(¢} by sending it to the fax number or electronic address (if any) nominated by the
member.

Notices by the company to National Board

Subject {o this constitution, a notice may be given by the company to any clirecii)r'by:

{a) serving it personally at the director's usual residential of business addiess;

(b} sending it by post in a.prepaid envelope to the director's usual residential or
business address; or

{c} sending it to the fax number or electionic address supplied by the directorto the

company for giving notices,
Notices by member or National Board to the company

Subject to this constitution, a notice may be given by a member or direcior to the.
company by:

(a) serving it on the company at the registered office of the company,

(b sending it by postin a prepaid envelope to the registered officé of the company;
of

{c) sending it to the principal fax number or the principal electronic address of the

company at its registered office.

Time of service

(e} A notice prober]y addressed and posted is talen to he served:
)] in the case of a notice of a general meeting, at 10.00am on the day
aifter the date it was posied, or
(2} in any other case, af the fime the leiter would be deliverad injthe
ordinary course of post.
) Where a notice is sent by fax, the notice is taken as servad at the time the fax is

sent if the correct fax number appears on the fax report produced by the
sender’s fax machine.

(¢} Where a hotice is sent by an electronic messaging system with a delivery
verification function, the notice is taken as served on generation of a dslivery
verification notice, log entry, or othar confirmation by the electronic messaging
system. :

{chy Where a rictice is sent by emall or other electronic messaying system (not
coviarad by fule 21.4(¢)), the notice is served on delivery o

(1) the addresses’s emaill or electronic messaging system account if the
addressee is a nafural person; or

{2y = the corporation’s complter systems if the addressee is a corporation.

(&) If service under riles 21.4(b), 21.4(c) and 21.4(d) is on a day which is nota
Busingss Day of is after 4,00pm (addresses’s tima), the notice is regardad as
having been received at 9.00am on the next following Businass Day,
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21.5  Other commurdcations and documents

Rules 21,1 to 21.4 (inclusive) apply, as far as they can, with any necessary changes, to
the service of any communication or document.

21.6  HNofices in wiiting
A reference In this constitution to a wiitten notice includes a notice given by fax or
glectronic transtission or any other form of wiitten communication.
22 Definitions and interpretation :
224 Definitions

8053680

The meanings of the terms used in this constitution are set out balow.

Term Meaning
Act the Corporations Act 2001 {Gth).
Aboriginal and & person;
vos Stralt lalatder N '
Forwos Stralt lalandat ot Aboriginl and Torres Stralt tslander doscont; and

porson
2 who identifies themselves as an Aboriginal or Torres Strait (slander;
and
3 is accepted as an Aboriginal or Torres Strait islander by an
Aboriginal ar Tarres Strait Islander community,

’ as accepted by the National Board.

Abgriginal and an incorporated organisation: 1
votpes Staltlslander 4 hich has at least 51% of its members being Aboriginal and Torres
danisatiott ;
Strait Islantder peaple r
2 which has af loast 51% of its governing board being Abuoriginal and
Tarres Strait lslandar people !

3 whose principal purpose and activity is rélated specifically 1o
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanider people

but which {s nof a National Aboriginal and Torres Slraii lslander
Organisation.

Audiitor ‘the auditor of the company.

Business Day a day an which banks are opan for business in the City where the
registored office of the Company is located, excluding a Saturday,
Sunday or a public holiday in that city.

Consti iulien paye 19
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Meaning

Chambers

the groups of members divided info chambers basec on the category of
rembership.

Chambar 1 directors

has the meanirig in rale 6. 1(H(1).

Chamber 2-dirgciors

has the maaning I rule 8.2(H(1}

Ghamber 3 directors

has the meaning in rule 6.3(e}{1}

Ghamber tivettors

means divectors .

Commissionar the Cornfivissionar of Taxation, & Second Commissioner of Taxation or &
. Deputy Commnissioner of Taxation for the purposes of ITAA 97.
|
Deductible & contribution of money or property as described initem 7 or Igt_enﬁ 8 of
Contribuilon the table in section 80-15 of the ITAA 97 in relation to & fundraising
event held for the principal purpose of the company.
Délegates the individuals slected or appointed to attend the National Congrass,
Direct Vote Valid niotice of a member's voting decigion.
Gift a gitt of meney or properly as described In item 1 of the table in
saction 30-15 of the ITAA 97 for the priiicipal purpose of the company.
indeinnifled Officer 1 each person who is or has been a diractor or exesutive officer (within
the meaning of tule 16.3(a)} of the company, and
2 any other officers or former officers of the company as the National
Board in each case deside.
STAA 97 the fncome Tax Assessment Act 1997 {Gihy).

National Aboriginal
and Torres Strait
Islander
Orgasiigations

- _ o i

Aboriginal and Torres Siralt lslander Qryanisations that operate, or have
significant number of members, threughout, of substantially throughout
Australia, as decided by the Nationsl Board.

National Gongress

‘the annual meeting of the Delegates.

6653690
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Meaning ’ ‘

MNational Board

the hoard of directors of the company, ‘

Peal Body

must meet the followlng criteria:
1 not controlfed by government

2 members of the Paak Body are erganisations (including one or more
Aboriginal and Torres Strait [slander Organisations) which provide
the same or sinillar. services as each other, to or for the henafit of
Aboriginal and Torrés Sirait Islander peopls

3 members of the Peak Body either:

a. operate in a reglon or in a State or Tenttory (reglonal or State or
Territory Peak Bodies) or
b. are organisations refarred to in ariteria 3a (national Pealk Bodies)

4 gctivities indude supporting niemiber setvices, research, information,
co-ardination, developineitt of policles, progratns or services

5 atleast 51% of the gaverting board are Aboriginal and Torres Sirait
Islander people

6 not, and could not be, a member of a Peak Body as defined in
criteria 1-5, I

Registered Address

a member's address as notified o the company by the membar and
recorded in the compatiy's records.

. Responsible Person

i

an fndividual who:
1 performs a significant public function;

2 s o member of 4 prafessional bady having a code of ethics or rules
of conduct;

3 is officially charged with spirituaf functions by a religious irstitutior;

4 is adirector of & company whase sharas are lsted on the Austealian -
Securities Exchange,

has feceived & formal racogriition from government for services fo
the cominunity; or

&

6 [z approved as a Regponsible Parson by the Australian Taxation
Office.

222 - lnlJerpretation

In this constitution: L

(a) references to notices include formal notices of meating, ali documents and other
eonmimunications from the tompary to lts membsts,

(h) a teference to any legislation Includes all delegated legislation made under it

and amendments, consolidations, replacernents nor re-enactmens of any of

them;

~ 6653690
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{c)

()

{f

areference to a member presant at a general mesting is a raference toa
meimber presant In person or by proxy, altornay or representative;

a reference to writing and written includes printing, lithography, electronic
means of writing {eg fax, email} and other ways of represenfing or reproducing
woitls ih a visible form;

tha singtilar includés the plural and the plural includes the singular; and

headings and beld type are used for convenience only and do not affect the
interpretation of this constitution,

23 Application of the Act N !

231 What parts of the Act apply

Unless the contrary intention appéars:

()

)

an exprassion-used in a rule that deals with a matter dealt with by a proviston of
the Act:has the same meaning as in {hat provision; and

subject fo rute 23.1(a), an expression in a rule that has a defined meaning for
the purposes of the Act has the same meaning as in the Act

23.2 Replaceable rules displaced

(@)

(b}

6653800

The provisions of this constitukion displace sach provision of a section or
subsgection of the Act that applies {or would apply bul for this ruls) to the
company. .

The replaceable rules do not apply lo the company excapt those which operate
as Mandatory vules for public companies under the Act.
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initial members

The initial mernbers of the company {consents are set out betow) adopt, on registration of
the company, the attached constitution as the company's constitution in accordance with

saction 136(1) of the Act.

Eull name of iniflal member

Signafures consenting to he a mamber

Date:

6653680
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National Board Charter

o -
National Board NATIONAL GONGRESS

PolicylGuideline Number; NEZ

OF AUSTRALIAS FIRST PEGPLES

|

|

This Board Charter is to be read in conjunctior with the Directors Code of Conduct,

1 National Board Structure

1.1 The National Board is composed of the following:

(a)  the two (2) Co-Chairs (one male, one female) elected by Natlonal
Congress members; _

(b) twa (2) Chamber directors {(one male, one female) from each of the 3
{three) Chambers, glected by the Chamber délegates of the refevant
Chamber; and

(©) any additionat director's appointed or elected under any policy or
regulation adopted by the National Board, as approved by the Ethics
Council.

1.2  The maximum number of directors on the Nafional Board is 14,

1.3 ’Achievin_'g substantial gendar equity is a guiding principle in the composition of
the National Board, Ethics Council and feadership positions within Congress and
Illhe Natiohal Board may take special measures within the law to achieve :

substantial equity at all levels of its leadership and management, including in

setling procedures for the election and appointment to the National Board.

2 Purpose and Role of Natlonal Board

2.1 The National Board has pritnary responsibility for the governance and
manageinent of the National Congress of Australia's First Peoples Ltd
© ("Congress”) cansistent with the purposes of the Company set out itt the
Constitution and listed below:

(a) providing national leadership and recognition of the status and of the
rights of Aborigirial arid Torres Strait Islander people as first nations
peoples;

(h) . protecting and advancing the wellbeing and rights of Aboriginal and
Torres Stralt stander peoples and comimunities;

{¢) providing a representative voice of, and a conduit for communications
with and between, Aboriginal and Tories Strait Istander peoples;

() securing econornic, political, social, cultural and environmental futures
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander peoples and c‘:omml.miti(?s By
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working with governments, service providers, communities and other
stakeholders,

(&) building strong relationships with government, industry and among
Abotigingl and Torrés Strait Islander peoples and communities, based
ot mutual respect and equality;

6] identifying issues, researching solutiohs and educating government
service providers and Aboriginal and Torres Strail Islander peoples
and communities to achieve the above processes,

2.2 In carrying out the purposes of Nalional Gongress, the National Board will
operate with, and enswre that National Congress as a whole operates with, the
following values:

(a) the highest standards of professionalism and objectivity;
(b}  integrily and honesty;

(c) accountability, iransparency and openness;

€) participation and inclusion; and

(&)  being informed,

2.3 In carrying out its yesponsibilities, the National Board will act at all times:
{a) in & manner designed to create and build trust and sustaingfable values
for members, employees and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
peoples and communities; and : 3

)] in accordance with the duties and obligations imposed on them by the
Constitution, the Directors Code of Conduct and by law.

2.4 In addition to maiters expressly required by law to be approved by the National
Board, powars specifically reseived for the National Board are as follows:

{a) formulaﬁng; advosating and implementing policies and priorities
consistent with the decisions of the National Congress meetings;

() developing the strategic and operational plans for National Gongress
consistent with Its purposes, apd mohitoring managsment’s
implemeritation of those plans;

| {c) organising and leading engagement strategies with Aboriginal and
Tones Strail Islander peoples;

(d)  communicating the views and policies of Natiohal Congress to
Australian Governmenis, stakeholders and the Australian jjublic;

{e) selecling and appointing the CEQ and Company Secretary
determining conditions of service and remuneration, monitoring
performande against established objectives and ensuring appropriate
succession planning;
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) monitoring financial outcomes and the integrity of reporting, in
particular approving dnaual budgets and longer-tenm strategic and
husiness plans;

) ensuting that effective corporate governance, audi, riskk management
and compliance systems are in place and regularly tested and
reviewed to protect National Congress and support compliance with
legal requiremerits and acceptahle risk parameters,

{h) establishing and implementing regalar review processes for the
Directors Code of Conduct, Congress Accountabifity Framework and
other Board policies, including remuneration poficies (subject to
mamber approval), and ensurtng compliarice with those codes and
policies by all officers and smployees,

{i) appointing such committees of the Nativhal Board as appropriate (o

assist in t_he discharge of its responsibilities and déterrnining the
membership, scope and charter for each commitiee;

b

Hh setting spacific limits of authotity for management to commit to nlew
expenditure, entering contracts and acquisitions without Nationa

Board approval;
(k)  approving key policies and significant changes to key policies; and

{) complying with the repotting and other requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth),

3 Role of the Col-Chair-sl

3.1 The Go-Chairs are execulive directors of National Congress.

3.2 The term of appointrment for a Co-Chait is two (2} years.

8.3 The role of the Co-Chairs is to:

(a) lead the implementation of the strategic plan and be the public face of
National Congréss;

(b) provide leadarship to the Natiopal Boarl, i

(c) ensure that the National Board is fulfiling its role and achieving Eley
milestanes as set out in the Constitution and the Congress
Accountability Framework;

(<) work with the CEO and thé National Boald to deliver the business of
National Congress;

{e) mest regulatly with the Ethics Council Co-Chairs;

] establish the agenda for National Board meetings, in consultation with
the CEOQ and the Company Secrelary,
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o) preside over National Board méetings, Natlonial Congress meetings
and ensure that meetings are conducted in an efficient and epen
manner;

()  ensure that Directors are well-informed and have.the opportunity
within National Board meetings to participate fully in decision-making
processes, including the opportunity to air differences, explore ideas
and generate the colléctive views and wisdom hecessary for the
proper operation of the National Board and National Congress,

(i} set the standard for Directors in terms of attendance at meetings and
prior famiiarity with agenda papers and issues to be raised;

1) liaise with the CEO and Company Secratary to ensure that| Directors
are propetly biféfed and have access to all relevant information on the
operations ¢f National Congress;

(ky  be the main point of contact and communication between the National
Board ail the CEO 16 ensure that the Neational Board's views are
communicaied clearly and accurataly;

)] act as primary counseilors to the CEQ,

{m)  lead the review of the performance of the CEO and ensures that the
delegated authorities of the CEO and expected key performance
criteria for the CEQ are clsar;

{n ensure the regular review of the National Board's performance; and

(o) protect the independence of the National Board,

4 Role of individual National Board Directors

The Directors (other than the Co-Chairs) are non-executive directors of National
Congress.

Subject to certain transitional arrangements that apply to the first eteo]ted

4.2
Chamber Directors (see clause 15.4(c) of the Constitution), the ferm Af
appointment for a Chamber Director Is four (4) years.

4.3 Directors have cerfain obligations to National Congress and its membérs. These
duties rhay in some cases extend to other stakeholders (such as creditors and
govermnment regulators). The sources for these duties include the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth), the general law and contractual obligations.

4.4 The Directors Code of Conduct and the Congress Accountabllify Framework sets
out the duties and responsibifities of individual National Congress directors.
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§ Role 0‘_Ef the Ethics Council

8.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

& Role of the CBO

E
he Ethics Councll is an advisary committee to the National Board.

he minimum membership of the Ethics Council is six (6) Aboriginal or Tor}es
Strait Islander persons with the highest integrity.

Unless otherwise determined by the National Board, the term of appointmelit to
the Ethies Council is two (2} years.

The functions and manner of operation of the Ethics Council are set out in clause
17 of the Constitution and the Ethics Council Charter,

6.1 The roles and duties of the CEO are sat out in the CEQ's employment contract
and the Congress Accountability Framework but in summary include:

(a)

(b)

{c)

(d)

devotion of the whole of his or her time, atiention and skills during
normal business hours and at other times ag reasonably necessary, to
the duties of the ofiice;

accountability for planning, coordinating and directing the operations
of National Congressto achieve strategic, financial and opetatmg
objectives as agreed with the National Board; .

formulation and recommendation of busmess and financial strat(tqios
and plans to develop Congress's husiness and activilies and
implementation of these plans to achieve agreed performance tgrgets,

prormotion of the interests of Congress,

faithful and diligent performance of the duties and exercise of bowel‘s;
0 gansistent with the position of CEQ of Congtess;

(i as set out in the Conslitution and the Congress Accountability
Frameawork; and

(iii) as assigned by the National Board.

6.2 Infulfilling his or her duties, the CEO:

{a) reports directly to the National Board,;
() provides prompt-and full information to the Natjonal Board regarding
the cohduct of the businiess and activities of National Congress; and
(e complies with reasonable diréctions given by the National Board
-
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7 Role of the Comipany Seciaiary

JH The Company Secretary supports the effectiveness of the National Board by

{a) menttoring compliance with National Board policies and procedures;
and

(b) co-ordinating the completion and digpatch of the National Board
agehda and supporting papers in a timely manner.

7.2 The Company Secretary is also responsible for:

(a) ih conjunction with the Co-Chairs and the CEO, organising National
Board meetings;

(b} with input from the Co-Chairs, other Directors and the CEO, preparing
agenda; and .

{c) in conjunction with the GEO, co-coordinating the preparation of Board
papers.

7.3 The Company Secretary is accountable to the National Board, through the Co-
Chairs, on all governance matters.

4 Directors are expected to provide the Company Secretary with such information
and assistance as is reasonably required to enable the Company Sedretary to
fulfil his or her functions and duties.

§  National Board Meeting Protocols
8.1 Calling Mational Board Meetings

(a) An annual calendar for National Board meetings will be developed in
consultation with the Co-Chairs and the GEQ for endorsement by the
National Board,

(I In addition, under clause 15.10 of the Constifution, a National Board
meeting may be called by:

(i - either Co-Chair; or
(i) any two (2) or more Directors
notifying the Company Secreiary {o convene g meeting.

(c) Meetings may take place face-to-face or by felephone or other
elecironic means provided that éach Director is able o be heard by
and hear each other Director.

{ch Where a Director is unable to attend a National Board meeting, the
Diractar hould submit an apology o one of the Co—Ghairs,i the CEO
or the Campany Secretary.
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8.2 Development and Circulation of Board Papers

(@)

{b)

A draft agenda for a meeting will be developed by the CEO and the
Company Secretary in consulation with the Co-Chalrs. The final
agenda will be approved by the Co-Chalirs.

The final agenda and all associateil board papers will be citculated to
all Directors will be circulated to all Directors hy email one week
befare a scheduled National Board meeting where possible.

8.3 Conduct of Natfonal Board Meetings

(a)

(b)
{c)

(d)

One of the Co-Chali's will be the chair of the meeting. i the Co-Chalrs
are not able to agree, the matter will be determined by lot.

A quorum for a National Board meeting is a majority of Directors.
i

Each Director has one vote on any maotion put to a meeting. Where
the votes on a motion are equal, the chair of the meeting may exercise
& second or casting vote. , >]

All National Board papers and all discussions of the National Board —
hath forfmal and informal ~ are confidential.

8.4  Minutes of Meeting

8.5

C)

)
(c)
()

(e)

(a)

{b)

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking the minutes of a
National Board mesting.

Draft minutes must be drafted and emailed to the Co-Chairs and the
CEQ within 48 hours of tha meeting for review and approval.

Aftet approval of the draft minutes of meeting hy the Co-Chairs, the
minutes will be ¢irculated o the rermaining Directors for comment.

All Directors should provide any cormmerits they have in relation fo the
minutes within one (1) week of their ciroulation.

A copy of the minutes must be placed in the Minute Baok within 30
days of the teeting and must be sighed within a reasonable time by
the chair of that meeting or the chalr of the next meeting.

Reasponsibilities of Directors

Directars ara expected to have read all papers distributed prior to the:
meating in guestion.

Directors are expected to be responsive to husiness arising in
between formal National Board mestings.
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9  National Board Evaluation and Charter Review

9.1

The National Board is comimilted 10 reviewing the National Board's performance
and to the ongoing development of the Nationhal Board as a whole. This review
enconpasses the following:

(a)
()
(c)

)]

the role of the National Board,

the Natiohal Board's processes, including the conduct of meetings;
the National Board's performance,

the performance of individual Directors;

i
the performance of National Board Committees and the Eﬂl}ios
Council; |

the need for conlinuing professional development;.and }

any othét relevant issue.

9.2 The National Board will conduct, at least every two (2) years, a comprehensive
National Board review, The method of conducting each review, and the extent of
that review, is for the National Board to determine from time o time.

8.3

The Natienal Board will reguiarly review this charter and the charters of National
Board cominlitees 1o ensure they remain consistent with the National Board's
objectives and responsibilities and relevant standards of corporate governance

10 Breaches

o Corporgtions Act

1M AdditionalRelated Resoulce

l

11,1 Associated documenis

o Constitution, \Corporate Goverpance\Constitution - amended 1 December:

2010.pdf

o Directors Code of Conduct.. Directors Code of Conduat Folicy - National
Boarddoe.doc

11.2 lLegislation

o Constitution

o Corporations Act

Guideling/Policy:

Last upciaie:
Effactivg Dale
Fite Ref

Natioriat Board Charier Page | 8

Endorsed by Nalional Roard on 27 May 20114
27 May 2014 _ _
QaCrganisalional MenualOperations Manual\Wational Board\Board Chatler - National Board.dos




11.3 Effective date

o Endorsed by National Board on-27 May 2011
14 Review date/Cycle

o May 2013
11.5 Guideline/Policy replaces

§ None,

Guidaline/Policy:  National Board Charier
Last update: Endarset by National Board on 27 May 2011
Effestive Date 27 May 2011

File Ref

QAGrganisational ManuahOperations Manual\Naticnal Board\Board Charter - National Board .dec
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Appendin 9: List of Congress” Chamber Two Organisations

" Appendix 9: Congress Chaimber 2 organisations as of 11 March 2015

Aboriginal & Torres Stralt Islander Comemunity Health Service Brishane Limited
Aboriginal and Islander Independent Community Schaol

Ahoriginal a icl Tarves Stralt islandet Women's Legai Services NQ [nc.
Aboriginal Child and Famity Cormmunity Care State Sécretariat
Ahoriginal Disability Network NSW tic,

Aboriglnai Drug & Alcohol Councit (SA)dne

Ahoriginal Family Law Services (WA}

Aboriginal Family Support Services INC,

Aborigitnal Family Violence & Prevention Legal Service Victoria
Aboriginal Legal Rights Movement Inc.

Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT} Limited

Ahoriglnal Legal Services of WA

ACT Torres Strait Istanders Corporation

Arrtilka Business Aboriginal Carporation

Australian Indigenous Leadership Centre

Australizn Indigenious Mentoring Expertence

Barengi Gadjin Land Council Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC
Bldwell-Maap Aborigindl Corporation

Booroornigen Djugun College

Bundiyarra Aboriginal Community Aboriginal Corporation

Burranijie Aboriginal Corporation

Buthu Cultural Development Organisation

Butucarbin Abotiginal Corporation |
Ceduna Koonlbba Abotiginal Health Service Aboriginal Corporation
Central Australian Aborigiial Legal Ald Services fnc,

Centre for Indigenous Technalagy Information & Engineering Solutions
Congress Commurtdty Development and Education

Crana Aborigonal Corporation Inc

Danila Ditha Health Service

Darug Tribal Aboriginal Corporation

Dja Dja Wurrung Clans Aboriginal Cotporation

Dorriga Plateau Local Abariginal Laad Council

Gallang Place

Gamarada Aboriginal Men's Healing Program

Gandangaia Local Aboriginal Corpotation

Gannambarra Enterprises Lid

Glrringun Aboriginal Corporation

Goldfields Land and Sea Council

Goomburrup Ahorlginal Corporation

Gundit] Miering Traditional Aboriginal Owners Carporation
Gunieawon 'Culturai Herltage Aboriginal Corporation

Gurlngat Triqal Link Aborigital Carporation




Healesville Indigenous Community Service Assaclatiob e
Indigencus Dentists Association of Australia

indigenous Leadership Network Victoria

Indigerious Remete Cominunications Assoclation
Jabalbina Yalanji Aborigingl Corp

Kalano Commiunily Association Inc

KARI Aboriginal Resources Ing,

Kimberley Aboriginal Law and Culture Centre

Kimberley Language Resource Centre

Kirrawe 1atligenous Corporation

Kungari Association Incorporated

Lakes Entrance Aboriginal Health Association

Link-Up NSW Aboriginal Corp.

Lower Murfay Nungas Club

Mabunji Aboriginal Resource Assoclation Inc

‘Magabiala Books Aboriginal Corporation

Marnul Aboriginal Corporation

Mandurah Hunter Indigenous Business Chamber Inc.
Marmun Mia-Mia Aborlginal Corporation

WMerana Aboriginal Community Assoclation for the Hawkesbury Inc
MiiMi Aboriginal Corporation

‘Murd Faaki Regional Enterprise Corporation Lid

Murd Paaki Regional Housing Corporation Limited
NAIDOC Perth ing

MNAISDA Dance College

Narragunnawali Aboriginal Corporation

National Aboriginal Solutions

National Aboriginal Sporting Chance Academy

Native Title Services Victoria Lid

Ngambit Local Aboriginal Land Council

Nganampa Health Counci Inc,

Ngarliyarndu Bindirri Aboriginal Corporation

Ngarluma Yindjibarndi Foundation Ltd

Ngarrindjeri Elders Mousing Association Inc,

Ngarri‘)djeri Heritage Commitiee

Ngarrl?djeri Land and Progress Association Inc,

Nigyanni Indigenous Corporation

NVIN ]hdige‘nous Corporation

North Australian Aboriginal Justice Ageney

North Queensland Land Councll NTRB Aboriginal Corporation
Northern Project Contracting Pry Ltd

NSW Teachers Federation Aboriginal Members Commitiee
NSW/ACT Higher Education Network Aboriginal Corporation
NT Stolen Generations Aboriginal Corporation

NTSCORP Limited

Nunkuwarrin Yunti of South Australia Inc




Nyacha Kumopinta Aboriginal Corporation

Nyoongat Sports Association

OPGED Makrems Rugby League T5i Corparation

Pangula Mannamuina inc. '

Patrdarrama Pungenna Aboriginal Corporation

Playful Beginnings Aboriginal Corporation

QLD Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander Child Protection Pealk Limited
Ramahyucl District Aborlginal Corporation

Safma Torres Strait Istanders Corporation

Saltwater Freshwater Arts Alllance

Shoalhaven ?ommun-i’ty Development Lid

Six Rivers Aboriginal Corporation

Solid Young Fulla's Aboriginal Corporation

South Coast p/omen‘s Health & Welfare Ahoriginal Corporation
South Eastern Regional Management Services

South Wast Abariginal Land and Sea Council

South West Aborlginal Medical Service

Strong Aboriginal Families Together

Suntise Health Service Aboriginal Corporation

Tarwirri - Indigenous Law Students & Lawyers Assoclation of Victoria Inc
Tauondi College

Thamarrurr Development Corporation

The Goldfields Indigenous Housing Organisation

The Kimberlay Land Council

Torres Strait Islander Media Assaciation

Townsville Aboriginal and lstander Health Services Ltd
Townsville Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Istander Corporation for Women
UM Arts Limited

Urnoona Aged Care Aborigital Corporation

Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency Co-op Lid

Victorian Abpriginal Legal Service Co-operative Ltd

walbunja Aljoriginal Corp

Warlpiri Youi'h Development Abariginal Corporation (Mt Theo Program)
Wathaurong Aboriginal Co-operative

Waellington Aboriginal Gorporation Health Service

Wastern Regional Media Abariginal Corporation

Wreck Bay Aboriginal Cormmunity Council

Wyanga Aboriginal- Aged Care Program Inc,

Yagurrbulanjin Aberiginal Carers Group inc

Yamatji Marlpa Abariginal Corporation

Yarkuwd Incigénous Knowledge Gentre

Yawoorraong Miriuwung Gajerrong Yiergeb Noong Dawang Aboriginal Corparation (MG Corporation)

Yula-Punaal Education & Healing Centre Organlsation







Appendix 8: List of Congress’ Chamber One Organisations

Congress Chamber 1 organisations as at 11 March 2015

Abariginal atd Totres Strait Islander Healing Foundation

Aboriginal Employment Strategy

Abariginal Health and Medical Ressarch Council of NSW

Abariginal Health Council of South Australia

Aborlginal Health Council of Western Australia

Aboariginal Housing Victoria

Aborlginal Medical Setvices Alliance NT

Ahariginal Peak Organisation {MT)

ACT Abariginal and Torres Strait slander Elected Body

Anangu [Jit_ja‘ntja"tjai"a Yankurtytiatjara

Australian Indigenous Doctors Association

Australian lnidigenous, Psychologist Association

Central ‘Austfalian Reammote Health Developement Services

Congress of Ahoriginal ard Torres Strait Islander Nurses

First Peoples Disability Networl {Australia)

Foundation for Abariginal and islander Research Action

[ndigenous Allied Health Australla

Indigenous Allied Health Australia

indigenous Committee and Associated Affillates — ACTU

taynhapuy Homeland Aboriginal Corporation

Midwest Aboriginal Organisations Alllance

Murdi Paaki Regional Assembly

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait tslander Dementla Advisory Group
National Aboriginal and Torres Strait tslander Education Consultative Networlk
Mational Aboriginal and Torres Strait [slander Health Worker Association
National Aboriginal and Torres Strait [slander Higher Education Consortium Corporation
National Aboriginal and Torres Strait (slander Legal Services Forum

National Abariginal and Torres Strait [slanders Women's Alliance

Natlonal Abgriginal Cammunity Controlled Health Organisation

Mational Asshciation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait (slander Physiotherapists, fnc.
National Ind}genous Postgraduate Abariglnal Association Corporation. ‘
National Instltute for Aborigial and Torres Strait Islander Health Research Limited (Lowitja lnsﬁtétute}
National Native Title Council _

National Secretariat of Torras Strait lslander Organisations Ltd

Naklonal Sorry Day Committea inc,

New South Walaes Abariginal Land Council

Ngarfindjeri Regional Authotity

Ngu_r_r_a‘tjufa/ Pmara Ntjarra Aboriginal Corp

NSW AECG

NSW Indigenous Chamber of Commerce Inc.

QLD Remote Ahorlginal Media

Queensland Aboriginal and Islander Health Council




Secretariat of National Aboriginal and Islander Childcare Inc.
Stolen Generations Alliance

Tasmapian Aboriginal Corporailon for Ecucation

Torresistrait Islanders Regional Education Counci)

Uuitin? Aboriginal and 1slander Christian Congress

Victotian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation
Victorian Aboriginal Education Assoaciation Ine,
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2014 Annual Information Statement
Nitional Congress OF Australia's First Peoples .td
A7143207587

Section A: Charity Information
| 1. Charity's Australian Business number (ABN)
| 47143207587
| 2. Charity's name

; National Congress Of Australia’s First Peoples Ltd

{ 3. Ars there any other names your charity is known by (such as a trading name)?

i

i 4. What is your sharity's address for servige, including contact person?
| Titlo Mr

g Family narna i Scott

| Givon name Gaoff

§0ﬂmr givan nama

§ Date of birth

| Daytime phone number 02 80703100

Mobile phatie number

! Address for service

: Email info@corporatecomparnton.com.au

Pastal PO Box 1446
Strawberry Hills Ql.D 2012

! 5. What Is your charity's address?

| Charity's Email info@nalionalcongress.com.au
| Address

¢ Businiess Address Level 2

* 27 Cape Strest

L
i
i
!
i
{

REDFERN NSW 2016
| 6. What is the size of your charity?

% Large

| 7. 18 your (:harify registored with a charitable purpose of advancing religion?
i No

i
Page 1 of &
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)D 14 Annuat iformsation Statement e

Saction B: ﬁ%i;mti@&s ;

; 8, Did your charity conduct any activities in the 2014 reporting period?
§ Yas |

i 8. What were your charity’s activities in the 2014 reporting peviod?

Main activity Civie and advocacy activities

———

| Activities

| International activitiss
: Rasearch

i Other

« Other activity: Policy development :
{ 70, Describe how your chavity’s activities and oufcomes helped achieve vour charity's i
| purpose (charitable purposa). :

*developed the 2014 and 2015 Strategic Plan to guide the work and direction of Congress
*Significantly Increased our mémbarship to more than 8200 with 2400 new mambers in 2013«
2014 financial year _

*held a successful Natlonal Congress meeting for delegates in Caimns including the election of
Chamber Delegates and several board positions, Delegates disdussad and provided advice on
policy prictities including hialth, sducation, employment and training, child protection and more.
*Conimued to engage with our Membars, through national svents such.as Survival concetrts,

i conferences and community events

t *Held a successiul free Human Rights Day concert n Redfern Park with Archié Roach

| *Established Supporters Accord with hon-Aboriginal ongamsahons to support Conhgress agenda
| *Established Fiiends of Congress' for non-Aboriginal and Torres Stiait 1slander people to show ¢

: support - gurrently more than 500 "rlends’ L
f *Culiaborated with the Australian Human Righls Commission (o implement communlly workshops
: on the Declaration of the Rights of Jndigenous Peoples
: *Launched Congress's Education Policy for national dissemination and implementation i
E *Led a sustained campaign to defeat the RDA amendments and involved in the establishment of
i a mudlticultural alilance
| "Spacific support to the development and preparation for the Woild Conference on Indigenous
Peop!es (WCIP)

*WOI ked towards the resiructure of the organisation o faciliiate sustainability

11 Will your charity change the way it pursues its charitable purposes in the next ‘}
i repo; ting period?

| No
; 12. Who was helped by your charity's activities in the 2014 reporting period?
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Please describe the other beneficiaries your chayity helped In the 2014 reporting period.

A714IL07HRT M JHGU"H Crongress GF Australia’s Fhsl Peaples Ltdg Page 2 of 6




2014 Annual Information Staternent
Section G Resources

13, What is the number of paid employees who worked for your charity during the last pay
period of the 2014 reporting period?

| Fail time employees 10

i

FPart (e employees 1
Casual employces 3

| What is the estimated number of unpaid volunteers who worlked for your charity during the
| 2044 vaporting period? '

1-10
(14, Whare did yi:u_r-c:_harity operate durlrig the 2014 reporting period?
Statelterritory | Auslvalizn Capital Territory i
l Maw South Wales i
; Norllern Territory
i : Queansland
South Australia
Tasmania
Victatia
Woestarn Australia
Cverseasioutside of No
Australia

Please list all overseas countries where your charity conducted activities or helped
commuities.

47145207557 Mational Congrass O Austratia's First Peoples Lid Page 3 of &




f“OM Anral Information Statement L
g Section 1) Reporiing to other aagenme:&a o Thatss sef%mn is @;atmnai ;

.

—— 1

: 15 el vour charity have to report to a Commonweaith depariment or agency over the
i : 2014 veporting period, exeluding the ATO and ACNG?

i Yas
f Select Commonwealth departmentf{s) and/or agency:‘agencies

! Department of Human Services
i Deparimeqt of the Prifie Minlster and Cabinet

= Dthar Agancy Dotajls

{46, Dig your charity have to report fo any state oy teyritory depaitment or agency over the
i last reporting period, exeluding a siate or tertitory regulator under associated i
: mcorporations oy cooperatives laws? :

: No

7. your-charity had to report {o any Gommonwealth, state or territory deparfments oy
i agencies in the 2014 reporting period, how many heurs did your ¢harity spend on
reporting during this period?

| Approximate hours spent veporting by paid staff 60,00
i (a)

{ Approximate houvs spent reporting by unpaid 0.00
voluniesys (b)

"l‘étal howrs spent reporiing ({a) paid staff plus (b) 60,00
| unpaid volunteers) '

¢
H

§§%ef~ﬁﬁn E: Financial Information
'18 Ddd yei i charlty prepare general purpose financlal statements, special purpose

| financial gtatements ot financial etatements approved under the fransitional reporting
i artangemants?

| Generdl puipose financial statements

LINCOME STATEMENT

é Gross Income :

| Bovernment Granis 6666030.00

' Donations and beguesis 33753.00

AN other revenue 284480.00

{ Total Reveniie 6984263.00

* Other Income 11678.00

Total Gross income 8995941.00

: Expenses . ;
| Employee expensss 3090255.00 }
$inferest 0.00

47543207507 [National Songress GF Australis's First Peoples Lid Page 4 of 6
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Finsncial Reports

2014 reporting period..

18, Upload your financial report for the

?{118 Annual thformation Statement
! Grant and donations for use in 0.00
| Australia I
Grant and donations for use. outslde 0.00
Ausiralia
All other expenses 3816944.00
| Total expenses 6907199.00
Naot surplus/deficit 88742.00
BALANCE SHEET
| Assets
E Total curient assets 6420261.00
l Non-current loans 0.00
! Other non-current asséls 365686.00
| Total nonscurrent assets 3556666.00
} Total assals 6775817.00
| Liabilities
% Total current-liabilities 5266418.00
l Norn-current loans 0.00
(Jther non-currgnt liabilitios 5133.00
Tnfza! pon-curreht liabifitios 5133.00
Total liabilities | 5261551.00
| Not Assets/Liabilities 1514266.00

Annual Financial Statements 2014 Final reduced

size.pdf

If your financial report is not 1 July 2013 to 3G June 2014, please provide the date range

e

that your finaiicial report covers e.g. 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2014

E

P From
'

fTe

» Did your charity report to a

Statei Tarritory regulator because itis
an lrcorporatad association, 4
cooperative or a charitable fundraising
organisation?

In which state or tert itory is the
regulator wheee you submitted your
mpm £?

47443207557 Matonal Congrass OF Ausiralia's First Peoples Lid Page 5 of &




2014 Annual Information Statement

Bection G Daclaration

i is a seripus offence fo give false or misleading information. Penalties may be imposéd.

| Who is the person $igning this declaration?

 Title Ms !
Farnily Name Kearslay

Given Name Tania

z Other Glven Names Natasha

é Business hours phong nsmber 0733966614

{ Mobile Number

Einail Address tania kearsley@corporatecompanion.com,au
Poskion Held Company Secretary

 Attention - lmportant informationt If you click the Submit bution, all of the information you provide
i on this statement (aparl from your delails of the ACNC ¢ontact peison ahd the details In Section
{ G Declaration, will he published on the ACNC Register. You can request thal information be
withheld from the ACNG Register. For more information and instructiens about how to apply to

- withhold information refer to the guidance on ache.gov.au, I you have applied to withhold

: information, only submit your charity's Annuial Information Statement after we confimm that you

can do this.

: Privacy

{ The information collecled inthis form is collected for the purpose of administering the Austrah!an
Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 (Gth) (the ACNC Act). We will use the
information collected at Section G: Declaration fo process your Anntal informalion Statement
(A1), If you do not provide us with this formation, we cannot process this form, This 1
information will be kepl confidential and will not be published on the AGNC Register.

All of the other sections-of the AIS (unless withheld) will be published on the ACNC Register as
required by section 40-5 of the ACNC Act.

We will use the informalion collecled in the AlS to help us administer the ACNC Act, update our
! recolds about your charity and maintain the AGNG Register, Where authorised to do so, we may
I give this information te other government agencies (for exatmple, through the use of the Charity
: Passport)

:The ACNC's privacy policy is available on our websile (www.acnc.gov.au ). Tha policy contains
i |mporhn’i information about how you can access and request correction of information we hold

: about you, how you may somplain about a breach of the Australian Privacy Principles and how
the ACNC will deal wilh any privacy complaint,

If you have any guestions, our contact details are advice@acnc.gov.au, 13 22 62 or GPO Box
5108 Melbourns Victorla 3001,

Declaration

i Authorised person's declaration

! declare tjat:
+ | am authorised Lo gign on behalf of the charity whose ABN appears on this fomm '1boui

ihe bontents of this form and any documenits fited with this form, and
s the information given on this form, any documents filed with this form and any attached
document is true and correct.

 Date: 11/12/2014

47143207587 National Gongress OF Australia’s First Peoples Lid FPage G o 6
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National Congress of Australia First Peoples
Names and Qualifications of Current Divectors and CEQ

31 March 2015

The Directors curtently in Office ahd CEO are ag foliows:

‘Robert Lesiie Malezer | President, FAIRA (2003-2011); | Director and 8 July 2011 -
former Head, Qld Depattent of | Co-Chair ongdoing
Abariginal and [slander Affairs

Kirstie Maud Parker Nianaging Editor, The Koorie Mall | Director and Go- | 16 August 2013
(2008-2013); Diractor, Chair - otigoing

Reconciligtion Australia;
Freelance journalist;
Communications Adviser; Media
Trainet

Rodney Kelth Litlle

Chairpérsén',ﬁ ACT Aborigiﬁal and

Director and Ciiéir

8 July 2071 -

Torres Strait Islander Elected of the ohgoing
Bodly (curren); held sehior Remuneration
appdirtments it soctal policy Committee
areas in the public service (Cth
and Stale
Venassa Michelle Aboriginal and Torres Strait Director and Chair | 8 July 2011 -
Curnow {slander Liaison Officer, of the Finance ongoing
Alzheimer's Australia; 16 years in | Committee
the health and aged care sactor
Gerald Clive Mootra Managing Director, Hahitat Director 16 August 2013
Persannel; Member, NSW - ahgoing
Attorney-General Expert
Comittee on Criminal Justice,
farmer GEO, Aboriginal Legal
Service (NSW/ACT)
Daphne Joan Yatram Chairperson, Ramahyuch District | Director and 19 March 2010 -
Aboriginal Corporation; Board Member of the ongoing
Metiber, hdigenous Leadership | Finahce Committee
‘Networl Victoria and the
Remuneration
Cominiltea
Mark David McMillan Senidr Lecturer, The University of | Director ahd 16 August 2013
'r Malbourne Law School; Board Member of the ~ ongoing

Member, Trangie Local Aboriginal
Land Council; Director, Annecto

Finance Gohinitlee

Amala Groom

Board Member, Desart Pea
Media; Membership, The Law
Saciety of New South Wales
indigenous {ssues Commiittee;
Participant in eight United Nations
Forums; Award-winning artist,

Director

2 February 2016
« angoing

Geoff Scott

CEO NSW Aboriginal Land
Caungil; Director Géneral NSW
Departmerit of Aboriginal Affairs
and Deputy CEQ Aboriginal and
Torres Stralt [slander
Commission,

Chief Executive
Officer

27 January 2014
- ohgoing

T
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Fourth Annual General Meeting
Minutes -

24 Novamber 2014

Winnunga Nitmmityfah Aborigina
Health Sefvice, 63 Boolimba
Crascent Narrabundah ACT 2604

A, Prasant and Apologies

Mombers j Leg Mialazer (Co-Chalr, Natlonal Bogd)
{Chalrperson)

The Lawitfa Institute (represented by Pat Venessa Curnow (Director, National Board)

Antlarson)

Jodie Dowd ' Sunwver Finlay

Joanne Kery Katie Kiss

Rod Little (Director, National Board) Carla MeGrath

Mark MeMillan (Director, Natlonal Board) Gerry Moore {Direttor, National Board)

Kirstie Pagéar {Co-Chalr, Wational Board) Aaron Ross ‘

Geoff Scott Mahala Strohfeldt

Karel Wilams Daphnie Yarram (Director, Natlonal foard)

Obsorvers

Tanla Keaisley (Company Sacretary)

Apologles
Tamniy Solonec (Director, National Board)

The Chalrperson opened the meeting at 4.28pmi anhd acknowledged the traditlonal owners of the land on
which the meeting was belng held. The Chalfpérson welcomed all present to the Annual General Meeting
of the Rationipl Congress of Australia’s First Peaples Led and advised that a quorum was present. €ach
member of the Natlonal Baard, who was present, Introduced themselves to the moeting.

2, -{-’J]mj and Welcome

The Chairperson advised the meetlng that Directoy Solonec was unable to.attend the AGM and had sgn
her apologles. The Chalrperson advised that Director solonec would be stepping down from her role ps
Director In the months following the AGM ahd thanked Director soloned for her servige,

The Chalrjperson also advised the Conjgress CEG, Geoff Scott; Congress staff, Aarah Ross oiyd Mahala
strahfeldt and the Company Secratary, Tanla Kearsley. .

3 Motice of Meeting

‘the notice convening the meeting was taken as read.

it was noted that there was an Inconslstancy between the AGM starttima specifled an the Congrass wl
page {3.30pm) and the start time specifled in the Notice of Mecting (4.00pm}. The Chalrperson alsa
acknowtedgad that Conpress would endeavour {o ensuie that members received advance hotice of the
time for the AGM to allow mefubers the opportunity to use avallable mechanisms for bringlng motions to
the AGM for consideration by the membership,

Helional Congress AR Minules -~ 23 Hoveinber 2014
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Natlohal Congrass of Austealls's Flyst Peaples Ltd

A Presentation.of Financial Statements and Reports

The 2013-2014 Audited Financial Statements and Directors Roport for the-yoar ending 30 June 2034 were
presentad to and consideredby the meeting. The CEO deliverad a shoit p':__j‘tfgse'nta't_ion on the Audited
Financal Statéments, The CEO nated that It had been a challenging sacond half of the finandlal year with
markedly reduced expanditure to manage remaining funds and ensure that the organisation remains
operational and sclvent. Congraess has recelved an eeguaiified audit apinfon from Hs external augitors., m
current expenditure projactlons, Congress has sufficient funds to operate far at leasta further 2 years,

5, Quiestions and Angweys

Membdrs ware provided with an opportunity to-ask questions regarding the F nancial Statements and
Directors Report and about the general management of Congress,

Members noted the announcement at the 2013 AGIM {held on 13 February 2014} that the Boart had
c_l_e’ci'{iec; an » 20% reduction in director remuneration and sought advice on lmplemehtatiun, naehig that
the financial statements indicated that rémaneration washigher for the 2013-2014 reporting perlod.

For ¢larity, the Chairperson vead out to members the text of the Board's resolution In 1espect olf poard
renineration passed at the Bodrd meeting dated 13 February 2014 :

“The Board resolved as follows:

{a} that the Bodrd sheres the concerns of ull supporters of Congress that the withdrawal of financial
support by the Goverment will feapardise e financlal security of the organisation and inhibit:the
sastalnable operations of Congress litte the future. .

(b} {one director dissenting) that-as u result the Boord-anhounces that alf Directors have agreed to
[forego 20% of their contructed remuneration into the Publiz Fund of Congress,

{c) {two directars dissenting) that the Board maintains that Divectors on the Board of the Natlont!
Congress of Austiulla’s First Peoples should always e remupeitited at executive rates to eqasure the
highest standard of representation, responsihitity and ethical skandards at the national level to
represent.und udvocate the Hghts and interests of Aborlginal and-Torres Stralt Iskinder peoples,”

Wiembers were advised that Implermentation of the reduction could be effectad lna numbet of ways,
cluding by way of regutar donatlon to the public fund, areductionin fees paid or perlodic denations, The
mannet i which the Board’s declslon wasimplemented was an jssue for vdividual directors o daterming
based «{n theirawn fintsonal crumstances and {n fight of existing contractual arrangerneits. The impact of
the reduction in Board remiinaration would be réflected in various sections of the financial statements and
net nedessarlly be reflected I 8 20% reduction in the Board remuneration {ine ftem in the financial
statemenis, .

Members sought confirmation thigt the 2013 AGM cireulated with a ‘draft’ watermark were thae fial
mingites. The Company Secretary confirtpad that the final version of the rinutes had heen approved by ihe
Board and were the version contalbed on the website and idéntlcal to the coples available al the meeting

Membets were generally supiortlve of the prindples of proper rerpuneration,

One faember expressed concern as to the guality of the dotumentation provided at the meeting and asked
for this concern to be placed on the record,

6., Close

There belng no further busiess, the Chalrperson thanked all present for thelr attendance and closed the
raeeting at 5,140,

Conflrmed: .,..;L'..,......,.,.¢.,.p-\,,......,...................!'.u.....,.u...u.,-.‘-.,.,‘
{Chalrsinyson Signature)
r =3 R I/ - ¥ xa
S8 B chag SR
Datet e .:‘....:‘......".A-..;.‘.':{.-.'{j,ir;.'J
£ g
Hollonal Canprass AGM Mlnides ~ 23 Rovenher 2014
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National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples
Fthical Standards

¥
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Abaoriginal and Torres Strait slander Peoplés requested ethical standards to be Incorporated In thie Congress
imodel, The Congress Constitution'is the framing document for the organisatian which sets out our purpose,
structure, rules for meetings, &ligibility for metabership and the following values:

o higheststandards of prafessionalism and objectivity X
e Infegiityand honesty 5
. accatntability, transparency and openness |
« participation and inciusion, and

helng informed.

To pursue what is right, falr, just and good for the First Peoples of Australia, Congress supports the Seven
Principles of Public Life, known as the Nolan principles,” which were defified by the Cotmittee for Standards in
Public Life. They set high ethical standards by which an organisation and its members and defegates can be
judged as public office holders by the community in accordance with criteria of ‘the common good’.

The Ethics Council, with Input frorn Congress Delegates, has adopted and added to the Notan Principles,? to set
the standards for the cultural and procedural conduct that s expected of all Congress Directors, Ethics
Couticillors arid Delegates, who are considered by our governance modet to be “halders of public office.”
Congress Employees ave subject to these stanidards, and it is expected that these standards will be uphield by all
Cangress Members,

e - Culture Holders of public office must understand cufture as connection to and responsibility for land, sea
and Country. It is about how we as the First Peaples of Austratia understand ourselves and our ioles, namely
our ‘commort’ sense of being in this warld,

¢ Respect Holders of public affice must implement thelr roles and services always with care and sensitivity to
Aboriginal aﬁd Torres Strait Islander Peoples, and especially toward the maty who have beenremoved fram
Country, and must use respectful protdcols In our activities.

o Selflessness Holders of public office should make decisions solaly In terms of the public interest of
Austealia’s First Peoples. They should not do so in order to gain financial or othet benefits for themselves,
their family or their friends. !

o Integrity Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or other obligation to
outside Individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of their official
duties.

+ Ohjectivity In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding contracts, or
recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of public offlce should make choices on merit.

o Accountability Holders of public office are accountable for thelr decisions and actions to the public and
must-stbmit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.

o Openness Holders of public office should be a$ open as possible about all the decisions and actions that
they take, They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider public
interast clearly demands it. : -

o Honesty Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their public dutles
and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest.

o Leadership Holders of public office should promote and suppoit thase principles by leadership and example.

o Behaviour Holders of public office miust exhibit exeniplary levels of professional behaviour at all times.

The Natlonal Board has. adopted these as standards for all iqvolved in the wortl of Congress. The standards are
to he read in cohjunction with the Congress Statement of Principles”® which cotimit the Congress to meaningful
engagement with Members and Delegates,

' The Congress Constitution can bé found at: hitto://nationalcongress.com.au/ahout-us/. :
* The Molan Principtes can ba found at:http:/fwww._a_rchiv_ﬁ:\_officialndocuments.co.uk,/document/rJarlment/notan.g’nalan.h;m.
% Culture, Respect and Behavigur were added by the Ethics Council and Delegates, as iImpottant additional standards for
Congress public office holders to uphaid. ,

¥ Thhe Cangress Statement of Principles can be found at: htt;‘::/[_nat%or_aalcongress.com.aL%/f)olicvancladvotacv/.
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National Congress of Augiralia’s Firgt Peoples Limited

Divectors’ report

The divectars of Natiottal Congress of Austalia’s Fist Peoples Limited submit horewlth the annual financlal report
of the company for the financial period ouded 30 June 2011, In order fo camply with the proviglons of the
Cortporations Adt 2001, the directors report as follows:

'inforittationalout the directors and asenlortmanagetaent

The nainey and 1' avtlenlais of the divectors of the company duing or slice the end of the financiul period ate:

D Bgvry Arabiond, PhD

National Congress Co-Chait 19 Maveh 2010 - 3 Decernher 2016
Natlonal Congeess Board Meimber 19 Mareh 2030 8 July 2011
Cuvrent Postiton

Consultant

Previous Positions

Director of the Replonat Govermance Uniit, Office of Indigenous Pollcy Coordinatiot

Fxecutive Dirsclor of Sexual Health and Family Plauning ACT and Repraductive Healtheare Services in Canberts;
Executive Director Apunipinta Cape York Health Couneil

© Chat, Tnternationnd Advisory Conuitlties for Sexval Heglth and Family Planning Anstralia,

Chalr, Neitiona! Indigenous Australions Sexual Heallli Committee

Chair, ACT Healthpact Flealth Promotion Board,

My Sam Jeffiles
Nationgl Congress Co-Chale 10 Mareh 2010 fo 8 July 2011

Current Posidons

Dysputy Chafrperson: Indigenows Land Corporation FLC)

. Hoard Member, NSW Western Catchuent Management Authority
Pansl Member, NSW Aboriginal Trgst Fund Repayment Scheto
Chaitperson/CEO, Indigenous Environmental Servicey February 2004
Current Appoitinents

Chalr, Murdl Pagki Regional Assembly

Co-Chalr, Nationdl Centre of Indlgenous Bxcellense

Chair; Baewon Darting Allisnee

Chair, Natlonal Aboviginal Sports Catporation

Frevious Positions/Appaintments

Councitfor on the Walgstt:Shire Councll

ATSIC Reglonal Cauneiflor (five terms)

A'TSIC Repional Counell Chair (Huee tertms)

Deputy Chale of the Indlgenaus Land Corporation

Chair of the Natlonal Centra For Indigenous Excellence

Board Member of the NSW Abarlginal Housing Office

Chadv, Barwon Darling Alliatce

s Fosephine Bourne
National Congress Co-Chalv 3 Docember 2010 (¢ § July 2011

Hourd Member 18 Mlarch 2040 - 8 July 2011

Crirrent Appolnfaent

Piamber, Txpert Panel ont Constitational Recoguition of Abuoriginal and Torres Strait Islauder peo ples

Previous Pesitious '

Managet; Ind igeflmus Vouth Leadership Program

Seorctaviat Member, Steeting Commitice for he Creatioti of a New Nattonal Representative Body

Metnbet, Aborigrnﬂl and Torees Strait Islander Contmunity and Philanthropy Parthetstip Prajoct Member, Menber,
Meltbouene Living and Leatniag Cetitte Steering Comtnlites

Varlous positi(m{; it Qucensland Bdyeation Depattument in Tawnsville

o)




Natignal Gongress of Australla’s Firsi Peoples Limited

Professoi- Pofer Buekskin )
Nationind Congress Bonid Membéy 19 Maveh 2010 — 8 July 2011

Divestors’ Feport {continusd)

Crurrent-Posiilon .
Dean, David Unaipon College of Indigenons Hdueation & Roscarch

Cwrrent Appoinbents

Diresiot, Tho Lowigja Institute _ _

Chair of (he Natlonal Indigenous Highor Hducation Nefwork

Bxecutive Member of the World Indigenous Higher Edveation Consortivin

Co~Chalr of the Sonth Ansiralian Aborigingl Eduention nnd Training Consuitative Body
Co-Chalr Reconeilfation South Ausiralia,

Previous Positions

Chadr of the South Austyalian Aboriginat Bducation Consuliative Cominltfee

Commissioner of the Avgfratian Conmaission to UNESCO

Ministerial Adviser, Suporintondent of Schools

Senior Bxecullve at both State and Pedsral lovel

Awards o

Cormhomvealth Public Sorvice Medal (PSM) in recopnition of hls outsianding public sevvice n purseing equality in

sducation|for Australia's Indigenous peoples. y
Blecled Follow of the Acadeny of the Australian College of Bduentors for s continulng contribution to edneation,

Wiy Nedt David ‘ .
National Congress Board Membey 19 March 2010 -8 July 2011

Curreiit Position
Director of the Ymui Education Suppoit Ssrvices

Civrent Appoiniments

President of the Torres Sivait Jslanders Regional Bducation Comeil {TSIREC)
Momber of the National Advisory Commitsee for the Indigencns Youth Leadership Program
President, the Urapun Tubudalgal Land Trust

President of Magant Lagaugal Registered Native Titlo Body

Segreinry of the Torres Strait Islanders Media Asscclation,

Previons Posltions

Manager of Strategie Inifiatives, Depariment of Edveafion and Training
Manager of the Torres Stralt Compus, Tropieal Nosth QLD Institnte of TATE.

Profegsor Colleen Hayward
National Congress Board Member 19 Moreh 2010 ~ 8 Fuly 2011
1

Current Fosition . S
Head, Bdifh Cownn Uniiversity Centre tor Indigeious Avstralinn Education and Reseach, Kuronglan] Katitjin
Currvent Appointments _ '
Member, Gaming and Wagering Conmilssion of Western Australia

Member, WA Ombudsman's Child Death Review Advisory

Member, Minfsterlal Advisory Copneil on Child Protegtion

Previous Positions _

Muandger of the Koiangn Rosearch Network af the Telethon Institute for Child Héalth Research

Senior roles at ATSIC and ATRIS

Deputy Chief Exeoutive Officer of the Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Austaln,

Awards

hdnoted into the WA Depaiinient of Bdasatlon Haoll of Fame for Achievement in Aboriginal Eduodtion
NAIDOC Person of the Yenr, 2008

Er)




Mational Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Directors' report {continuod) 1

M Blyuton Wangaueen
Natieual Congress Boayd Member 19 Mnreh 2010 — 8 July 2011

Corrent Position _
Conntnissioner for Aloriginal Engagoment in South Australia

Crrrent Appobifnients

Chair of the Narungga Nations Abariginal Corporpiion

Chair, SA. Congress of Native Title Cominittes

Previong PosHions _

Moinber, the National VET Indlgenous Taskforco

South Austiglian Zone Commisstoner of the Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Istander Commission (ATSIC)
Chailtnan of the Patpa Warra Yuntl and Regional Ceaneil

State-wide Program Leadter Abotdginal Education TAFE §A

Previous Appolitments

Chatrman of the South Austealian Aboriginal Health Partudrship

i .
Ms Daphe Yaj‘m m
Kational Congress Heard Menther B9 Ilarel 2010 —euvrent

Current Pasttion
- Manager, Yoowiina Wurnalutig Healing Setvice
Currsit Appointmends
Directar, Galeenabeek Holdings Carporation
Chatrporson, Wutreker Regional Comumittee
Roard Meniber, Victorlan Indigenouis Leadeship Network
Board Meémber, Ramalyuck Distelst Aboriginal Corporation
Menibei, State Wide Stearfug Coitunittes on Family Violsnee, Indigenaus Rep Cornmittes
Meinber, Vietorian Indigshats Family Vielence Pattnership Forum
Previons Pasitions
Chafrpatsan, ATSIC Binjirrt Reglonal Council
Clief Bxecutive Officer - Ramaliyuck District Aboatiginal Coxporation, Sale Victoria

Ms Jody Broun
Mational Congress Co-Chair 8 July 2011 - euvrent

Chrrent Pogition

Natlonal Congress Ca-Chaiv

Previous Posttions/Appolutoionts _

Director Getierall NSW Department of Aborlginal Affairs

Execitive Directpr, Abotiginal Housing andt Infrasteuctuve, Depattinent of Housing and Warks (WA)
Director of Equal Opportunity [n Public Bmployent (WA)

Exocutive Direotor, Poliey atd Caordination, Aborlginal Affairs Planning Authotity (WA)

Awards :

National Abariginal and Towres Steait Islander Art Award, 1998

Canberra Art Aveacd, 2003

Ir Les Malezer
Nationa! Congress Co-Chalr 8 July 2011 - current

Current Posliton

National Congress Co-Chalr

Crvent Appointments

Chairpetson, Foundation for Aboriginal and Tslander Research Actlon (FAIRA)
Delegate, United Nations — udigenous [ssues

Avwards

Auateatian Funtan Rights Medal, 2008

4
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National Congress of Ausiralia’s First Peoples Limited

Dhractors’ raport (continued)

Willlam Brian Butler
National Congress Board Member 8 haly 2014 - envrent

Current Positions

Aboriglnal Advovate, Aged Rights Advocacy Sarviee, Adolaide
Consultant

Current Appoininents

Member gtf Board of Management, Reconeilintion South Anstralia Ine
Stolen Ganerations Allidnge

Prgvicus E{’nsitmns'lﬁpptﬂntm enfs

Co-Chairperson, Stolen Genertions Alliance

ATSIC South Australlan Zone Commissioner _
Founding Member, Secretariat-of National Aboriginal and Jslander Child Care
Avrards

Centenary Mailal

Venessa Cuvnow
Nntional Congress Board Mamber B July 2013 — eurrent

Curvent Pogitlons

Nattonal Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islandor Linson Officer, Alzbeimer’s Australia

Secreariat, National Aboriginal and Teorres Shrait Islander Dementia Advisory Group

Provicus Positions/Appointments _ N
Training and Resonice Officer for Indigenous Aged Care Sevvices, Aged Care Qld Ing

Ponnis Bgginglon
Nntional Congress Board Mewnber 8 July 2011 — current

Cuyrent Positlon

CEO, Abyrigiial Legal Service of WA

Curfent Appoinicients

Adjungt Professor, Curtin Unlversity

Meniber, Houlh Wesi Land and Sea Cowuneil

Member, National Legal Asslstante Advisory Body
Wember, National Abotlgingl Justice Advisory Cofmittes
Member, National Aboviginal & Tories Steait Islnnder Legal Services
Awarils

National MAIDOC Person of the Year, 2010

WA Ciflzen of the Year Indigeaous Leadershlp Award, 2011

Rodney Liftle ]
Kationa) Congress Bonrd Member 8 July 2011 -~ current

Current Pogitions

Chairperson, ACT Aboriginal and Torres Struit IsTandey Elocted Body
Consultant

Cursent Appolniiments

Vice President, ACT Gouneil of Social Services

Member, ACT Winnnnga Aboviging] Medical Services Bouard

Member, ACT Local Hospitals Network

Member, ACT Cirele Sentencing Panel

Membey, ACT Healih Coinetl

Memnber, ANU Indigeneus Advisory Group

Meinber, University of Canberra Indigenons Employment Consultative Group
Couneil Momber, Rural Bdueation Foundaiion Australia \




National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Directors’ report {contirued)

Tauuny Soloney
Niattongl Congliess Board Momber 8 July 2001 - cupront

Crerrend Positions

Conasuliant

Curreid Appolnfménis

Vico-Chnitperson, NATIOC Perth

Metnber, National NATDOC Cotivrittes

Vice-Chairpersen, Shelter (WA)

Mepaber, Aboyipinal Lawsiers Comntiftee of the Law Society of WA

Brevious Positlons/Appointments _

Managing Soltchtor, Lo and Advocacy Unit, Aboriginal Legal Setvice of WA

Cowapany Secretary

My Tanda Kearsiey
Coppany Secretary

Qualifieations

Bachelor of Laws (Eons) & Mastars of Law, Queensland University of Technology
Mastol' of Bioethics, Wonash University

Gradyate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governancs, Chertered Seoretavies Australia

Prafessional Monherships
Member, (Jilarta{t'.d Ssoretaries Austraiia
Wember, Tnstitule of Charterod Scerctatles aiid Adminisiatory

Professlonsl Experience
Experience |
Statutory company secretacy For a number of organisations for the past thres years

Praotleing lawyer for 20 yeas: spectalist practice advising olents within. the reseqrch and development sectot,
including univorsities, CRCs and independent research institytes,

'The above natired officers held office ducing and since the year end of the financial year except where indicated.
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National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Directore’ report {continyed) ,

Principal actlvities

The Waijonal Congress of Austealia’s First Peoples was established in 2010 as a Nationnd Jender aid advocate for
Aboriginal-dng Jorres Strait Islander peoples. It fs an independent, not-for-profit company Tiuilted by gharantes that
was neorporated on fhe 19 April 2010, The Australlan Government has allocated $30 million over 4 years fo
support the establishment of its operations, The organisation is based in the Sydiey suburb of Redfern and has a

membership representing all states and territories.
“The purpose of the Congress Is to!

> Provide natfonsl leadership and recogaition of {he status and of the rights of Aborigina] dnd Torres Stait

Islunder peaple as fivst nations peoples;

s Profect and ndvance The wellbelng and rights:of Aboriginal and Torres Steeit fslander pesples and
comnuties;

o Provide a roprosentutive voice of, and a condnit for communieations with and between, Aboriginal anil
Torres Strait Islander peoples;

¢ Seenrs cconomis, politieal, scefal, cultural and envivonmental futures for Aboriginal gnd Totres Sirait
Tslnnder peoples and communsities by working with governiments, service providers, communities and other

stakeholders;

© EJK'uiid strong relailonships seith governonent, industry and among Aboriginal and Torres Strall Islander
}Jeopk%s and cominnnities, based on mutual respeet and equality; and t

¢ Identify issues, research solutions and educate governinent service providers and Aborlgina] and Towres

Strait Tslander peoples aid comivnities fo achicve the above provesses.

Revisw of operations

The nst sutplus of the Congress for he financlal period ended 30 June 2011 was $992,800,

The gotivilies of the company for the period ended 30 June 2011 were:

o The estabshment of permanent offlees at Redferiy,
Development and implenentation of infeysiel policies and procedures;
Recrudiment {o establish a stalfing structure;
Provision of support to National Board and Eihies Couneil;
Development of a strategle plan; wd
Delivaring a suceessiul inaugural National Congress and elevted Board,

¢ B 9 <

zhanges in state of affalie

There was 1o significant change i ihe state of affairs of the entlty during the financial period.

Subsoguent events

']:hcre has pot been any niatter of cirenmsiance oceurtivg subscquent fo the end of the financial peripd that has
significantly affected, or may significantly affest, the operations of the entily, the resuls of those (]pe,rafhm_s, of the

state of affairs of the enlity in foture financinl yeus,
i

Future developmenis

Disclosure of $nformation segarding likely devolopments in the operntions of the entity in future financial yeats and
fhe axpected resulis of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the entlty, Accordingly, this
information has not been disclosed in {his report. '




National Congroess of Australia’s Firgt Peoples Limlied

Directors’ repart (continued)

Dividends

Under the torms of the company’s canstitutlan It is not entitled to pay dividends,

fndemnification of offlcers and auditors

During the financlal year, the compaiy paid o premiu. In respest of a contract lisnelng tho direstors of the eompany
(as named above) aud all executive officers of the company and of aty refated body corporate apalnst a liabllity
ncnrred s stuch a divector, secietaiy of excatitive officer to the extent permitied by the Corposations Act 2001, The
confract of fnsurance prohibits disclasure of the nature of the liabitity and the amount af the premium,

The company has not otlierise, during or since. the end of the fitancial period, oxcept fo the extent permitied by
law, indemnified or agreed to indenmify an officer ov auditor of the eompavy ot of aily tolated body carporate
agalnst & Hability inourred as such an officer or auditor,

Directors’ e : tings

The Folfowlng tdble sets out the number of divectors’ meetings (neluding meetings of committces of divectors) held
during the financial period and the aumber of neelings attended bir ¢ach dizgotor (while they were a director or
comudtiee membper), Durivg the financial period, 22 boird mestings wore keld,

Boayd of divectors

Dlrectors Eligibic to attend Atfended
Sam Jelfrios (Cio Chair) 22 19
Jusephine Bowrne (Co Chaly) 2 22
Kerry Avaboila : 22 Ié¢
Petdr Boclskin 22 20
Ned Pavid 22 15
Caligen Hayward 22 20
Klynton Wanganeon 22 2t
Daplie Yarean 22 18
Legs Malezer - -
Jody Broun - S
William Brdain Butier .
Yonessa Carnow - -
Dennis Bgpington - -
Rodnoy Littlo - .

ammy Soloheg
Auditorts independance declaration

The auditor’s independence dectaration is included on page 6 of the annual repart,

This directors® veport Is signed in accordance with & resofution of directors mude pursuant to s298(2) of the
Carpoiations Act: 2001, :

QO behalf of the Divectors

) Ce
19 ,5£$ﬁi-z’o’ﬂ>n
Hydnoy, 26 Septeuiber 2011
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The Bodrd of Direvtors

Nationa] Congress of Australin’s Fivst Peoples Lintiled
Lewel 2,

27-31, Gope Streat,

Redfern 1

NSW 2016

26 Seplember 2011

Dear Board Members o
Mationn] Coigress of Avsiealia’s Fivst Peoples Limiied

In aceordante with section 3070 of the Corporations Ast 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of
independence fo the dlreciors of National Congress.of Australia’s First Peoples Limited,

As lend gndit parfuer for the dudit of the financial statements of National Congross of Australia’s First Peoples
Tinited for the financial pertod ended 30 June 2011 I declare that 10 the best of my knowledge and belief, there have

beeir no contraventions of!

(i) the auditer independence requivenients of the Corporations Act 200 in relatiob to the audit; and
(i) any applicable code of professions] conduot in belation to fhe audit,

QL@icJ;\'i\LQH Tewodbn TManadCo

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

(-"/"’7'}&‘-.;.../\:_}&.-)@, ]Q?JFQ“J, CJ;}

-

Gaile Peares ™
Partner
Chartered A¢countants

Elability Bnudted by @ sehoms upproyed vider Prefussiona] Standards Legishalion,
Member o}' [eloitte Touchs Tolpaalsu Linfed, -
| 4
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Tol: 16% (0) 2 9922 70dd
Fax: +31{0) 2 93?? 7601
vrensrdeloiliascon,au

| Independent Andit Report
to the memibers of National Congress of Australia®s First
Peoples Limited

We have audited the necompatying financial report of Nationa! Congress af Australia’s First Peopley Linited, which
comprises the statoment of fluanclal position as-at 30 June 2011, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of cash flows aind statornent of changes fn equity for the period ended @i that date, notes somprising a
stnunary of significant accounting policies andl other sxplanatory Information, and tie dirdelors’ declatation as set
out on pagss 12 ta 25,

Divactors’ Responsibility far the Financial Report

The divectors of the company are responsible for tie preparation and fuir presontation of the Huancial repoit i
dceordance thh Austealian Accounhng Standardy (includitg the Australinn Actonitting Intetrprotations) and the
Corparations Mot 2001 and for such intérnal cantrol a8 the directors detennine Is necessar y o enable the preparation
sl the financial repart that is free from material misstatement, whather due to fiaud or ervar.

Auditor's Responsthifity

Our responaibility 18 fo express an aginlon on the finanoial report based on aur audit, Wo conducted our audit in
accordairce with Adstraltan Audithig Standards, Tliose standavds require that we comply with 1cia¥ant elitical
requitements mhtmg to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to abiain teasonable assurace whether
the financial report is free from materlal misstaternent,

An audit nvolves gerforming procedures to abtain aydit evidenco about the amounts amd disclosures in the financial
vepard. The procedures seleated depetid on ha auditor's judgement, including the azsessitient of the tisks of maleiial
misstaternent of the financial ceport, whether due to faud or ervor, In maklng hoso risk nssessments, tho auditor
considers internal control refovant to the entily’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fale viow, in
arder to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the eircumstances, but nat for the purposs of expressing an
opinion on the effectivensss of the entity’s iutemal control, An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accourtting policies ysed and he reagouableness of accounting estinisaies made by the difestors, 84 well ay eveluating
the ovepstl prosontation of (he finanetal report,

We helieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is. sufticient and appropridle to pravide a besis for our audit
opiniat,

Auditor's fndependence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have coiaplied with the independence vequirements of the Coiporations Aot 2001, We
cotfivnn that the independonce declaration requived by the Corperations Aet 2001, which hag been given to the
directors of Mytlotal Congress of Australia’s First Peaples Limited, would be in the sune terms if given to the
directors as at the time of the suditor’s report,

Liabifity limdted by a sobome approved yader Ero ferstonal Stndavds Legishatian, _ ‘
Membee of Deloiite Touche Tohutatsu Limited.
10
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Auditor's. Opinion

In our opinion, the financlal report of National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited fs injaccordances with

the Corporations Adel 2001, ineluding: o _
() glving 4 true and fair view of the company’s financlal posktion as at 30 June 2011 and of its performance

for ihe period ended on that.date; and
@iy complying with Australisn Accounting Standards (including the Australion Accounting Interpretations) wid

the Corporations Regulations 2001,

:%..Qﬁ.‘».’)’\i?{mf),‘ T godacs Jl,;ﬁq ins b S

DELOITTE TOUCID TOHMATEU

C/:] cwz..’.imi’ {2.3‘_1_,(:)_.".3 (€]

Gailo Peavce -

Prriner

Chartersd Accountanis

Sydney, [2.4, -Sw(v;\-ekag e 20N
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Natlonal Cengress of Australia’s Firast Peoples Limitad

Divectors’ declaration

The directors declare thal: :
(@) inthe directois® apinian, fhere ave reasonable grounds ta believe that the compary will be abla to pay its debts

as and whest they beoanto dus and payable; _
(b) in the ditestors’ opinion, the attached financinl statements and notes thersto are in aceordance with the
Cotporations Act 2001, Including compliance with accounting standards and giving a trueand fale view of the

financial position aud performancs of the company.

Signed in accordance with 3 resolution of the dirsciors made purswant to 5.295(3) of (he Carporations Act 2001,

O behatf of the Directors

7 ! @
SN P
R
B _rﬁ"ﬂ |
‘ Jddy Broun |

"~ Sydney, 26 Septeimber 2011
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National Conaress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Statement of comprehensive licome
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011

Pariog from

19/84/2010 to
S0/08/2011
Note $

Reveme 4 6,044,165
Clommunily engagement expenses {972,848)
Goverianes expenses (22,300)
Professiotial services and consnlilng expenses (387,403)
National office establishment aud operation expenses {221,682)
Office &gy ipment,supplies anid makntenance oxpenses {120,991y

(134,687 |

Operatioss of sthies covncl) expenses
Reimburshiment ABRC & FAHCSIA expensos {254,005)

Stafltravel expenses (10474)
Depreciation expenses {(1571,340)
Board member travel and acconimodation expenses (508,624) i
Loual offige ostablishment, (Board metibers) expsnses (9,132)
Stafr salaries papenses (891,853)
Board remuneration sxpenses (1,309,120
Surjrlus befoie income tix expense ] 002,806
Income [ax sxpenge : "
Borplug foy fhe finanela) pericd 992,806
Ofher pomprehensive hiconme -
Total comprehensive income for fhe finanein) peviod 992,806

_ Notes to the financial slaterents are elnded on pages 1710 25 .
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Mational Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Curvent agseds |

Crash and cash eqtiivaletits
Trade and othier Yecelvables
Total cutrent assets

Non-eurvont assets
Propetty, plant and equipment

Toinl now-current assefs
Total ngsels

Current Habtlities
Trade aud other payables
Pravisions

‘Patal current Hinbilities

Now-cuveent Habiities
Provistong

Totol nou-current Habilitles

Fotal labilities

Net jssels I

Faquity
Rewined suapiug

Total equity

Statement of financial position
ag at 30 June 2011

Note

20101

LEH@)
5

oo~

3,795,714

560

e BTIBYTS

911,319

4,710,194

3,616,364
79,625

3,695,989
20,699
21,699

3717688

992,806 _

FFars ooy

MNotes to the financial statements ace fncluded on pages 17 t0 25
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National Congress of Australia’s First Peopjes Limited

‘ Statement of changes in equity

for the financial péifod ended 80 June 2044

2011 }
Note %
Balange at incorporation
Surphus for the financial period 10 492 806
Balance at 30 June 2010 992,806

Notoes {0 the finmolal statements are included oh pagoes 17 to 25




National Congress of Australia’s First Paoples Lin&a-ited

 Statement of cash Hows
{or the fltanclal period ended 30 June 2011

Pevlod from
1910412040
ta
30/06/2014
Note $
rash Hows from operating aclivities _
Frinding feceived 9,124,245
Payiuents to suppliors and employees (4,337,698}
Tutersst incoine received 76,141
‘Other incotie. 1,885
Net cash provided by oporating activities L1(h) 4,864,573
Cash flows frm%yiuvesting aciiviti'g:g
Paymenis fot property, plant and equipnent (1,065,859
Mot eash qutfiow from bivesting activitios _(1,068,859) E
Natb inéeease in eash aud cash equivitlends 3,195,714
Cash and eash equivalents at incarporation . et
Cash and cnsh equivalonts at the eud of the finandinl period  11(a) AmesTid

Notes to flie financial statements are included on-pages 17 10 25




National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Notes fo the financial statements
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011

1. Goneral Information

Nattonal Conigress of Anstralie’s Tirst Peoples Limited (#he company) is a public company limited by goavontes,
ineorporaled and operdthng 1 Aushralia, The COTEPANY WAs ineol pmntcd on 19 April 2010 and has propared ity Hrst

set of finqniola] slatements up 1o the 30™ June 201 L

National Congress of Anstralia’s First Peoples Limited’s registered offiee and its prineipal placs of business are as
foilows: .

Repistared office and prineipal place of bushiess
Level?2,

231, Cope Streat,

Redfern,

NEW 2016

The entlty’s peincipal activity 1s to opsrate as a not-profit natienal leader for recopnising the statws (f Aboriginal dnd
Torres Strait Islander peoples as First Nation peoples, i

2, Signiflcant ascounting pollcies

Stafoment of compiiance
These fimncia) statements dre general pripose fnarclal stalements which have been prepared it pécordance with the

Corporations Act 2001, Accountitg Standards ang Interprétations, and comply with ofher vequitements of (he Jaw,

The financial statemenis were authovised for issue by the directors on 26 Angust 2011.

Basis of prepavation _
The financial reyort hos been prepared on the basis of historleal cost, except for cortnln nos-current assets and

finanoial instruments {hat are measured at vevalued amounts or fuir vah:es as e;.pldmed in the accomiing policies
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair values of the consideration glven in oxchmge for assets, All
arpdunis ale presented in Australian dollars, virless ofherwise noted.

Critical s ‘ﬁcemm!iny ¢ indgémenis and key sources of esihmation wieeriainty
In the ¢ app lication of the cmiupdny & accotinting policies, mabagenient is regaired to make judgeiments, estiniates and

qssumpﬁoﬂ]s abont earrying values of assets and Habilities that ave not readily appavent fiom other sowces. ‘The
ostimates and associnied assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual tesilis iy differ from thess estimates,

The ogthmatés and umlmlying assumpilony are reviswed o m onpgeing basls, Revisions to accounling sstimates are
zecopmse(l I the perjod $n wikleh the estimate fs revised If the Yevision affeets only that period or in The period of the

revision sind future perlods if the revision affects buth current and futute perlods,

Adoption of new and vevised Aceounting Standards
I the cuvvent year, the company bas adopied all of the new and revised Standards and Infespretations issued by fhe

Ausiralian Accovnting Stendords Board {the AASB) that are relevaiit 1o its operations and effective for the current
ansund repoiting period,

e | S :
17




National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the financlal perfod ended 30 June 2014

2, Siyniffcant accounting policies (contlnued)

Sigrilficart acequiiting polleles _
The following sigaificant accounting policies have been adopted in fhe prepatation and presentation of the financial

yepot:

(n)  Goeods mid sorvices (ax (GRT) _ .
Revenues, expenses and assols ate recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), vxgept:
i. whero the amount of GST Inetirred is not recoverable fioin the taxation authority, it Is recggaised as
pait of the cast of wequisition of an asset or as part of an item of expenss; or :
il,  forrecelvables and payables which ave recognised inclusive of GST.

The net ameunit of GST recoverable fiom, or paysble to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payiblés,

Cash flows ate. lncludsd in the statément of cash flows on a gross basls. The GST component of cash flows
arislag from fnvesting and financing actlvities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the tanation authority
is classified within operating cash flows,

&) Revenue o o
Revenns s theasuved at the fair valus of the consideration recoived or récsivable,

Govemmment grants

Govelnment geants are assistance by the gavermoit in the forin of transfers of resoweds fo the Natlonal
Congrass ifi return for past or futore complisnes with certain conditions relating to the aperating netivities of

the entity

Government grants are not recopnised watil theve is reasonable vssurance that the Congress witl
comply with the conditions attaching:to them and that the geants will be tocetved.

Gavernmeitt graiits are recognised in profit o loss on asystematls basis ovar the perfods In whtich
the Conpany recoguises as exyienses the velated cosls for which the grants ara intended to
campetsale.

Intorsst ingomo
Tiiférest rovenie is acerued on @ Hme basis, by reforonce to the principal ouistanding and at the ¢ffoctive

itterost vate applicable, which is the rate tiat exactly discaunts esthmated futuie cashi rooipts through the
dxpected life of o financldl asset to that asset's nef ¢arrying amount,

(¢} Income fax
The company doss not pay-ingome. twx as it qualifies for exanption wnder the Sectiont 50-5 Income Tax

Assessant Act 1997, Consequiently the ditectors consicer that no incoine tax is payablo

() Cash and cash equivalents _
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on haund, cash fu banlks and investnents fn money rarkot

Instruments, net. of outstanding benk overdrafls, Bank overdrafts are sfiown within borrowhigs in curzent
[iabititiss {n the statement of finnfielal position.

(&)  Properly, planut aud equipnient _
Depreciation Is provided an property, plast and equipment. Dopreciation 1z cateulnted on 8 stealght-fine Basis

s0 @5 to wiite 6fF the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected wsoful life,

The folioving useful lives are used In thie caloulation of depreciation:

Puradture and fittings 1) years
Software 5 yems
Qffigs equipment 4 ysark

Leasehold itaprovemeant 4 yoars
v

)
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Natlonal Gongress of Ausiralia’s First Peoples Limited

(@

0y

Notes to the financial sintements
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011

Significant accounting policles (continued)

Tmpairment of long-lived assets excluding goodwill

Al eash veporting date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its nsseis fo determing whether there is
any indication thal those assets have snffored an iinpairment logs, 18 any such indleation exigls, the reeoverable
amovnt of the asset 45 estimated in order fo dotermisie the extent of the impainnent loss {If any), Where the
assol does not generate -cash flows that e independent from other assefs, the compuny estimates the
Fepoverable amount of fie cash-generating wnil to which the asset belongs,

Reeoverable amomt s the higher of falr value less costs fo sell and yalue Inuse. Tn assessing valne innse, the
esihnated future cush fows are disconnied to tholr presént value vsing o pre-tax discomit iate ihat reflects
civent markel assessments of the fime valug of ‘monay and the visks specific to the asset for which rhe
eitiniates of future cash Mows have not been adjusted,

Ifthe recoverdble amomnt of an asset (or cash-gener ﬁﬁng unit) is ostinmated to be Jess than ils eatrying ainow,
the carrying amound. of the nsset (eash-generating wmif) is reduced fo ifs wcovelabla amonni, An inbaiviaent
loss Is recognised Iminediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset i cuiriod at revalued amount, in
which ¢agg the hnpabrinent logs ia treated as a rovaluation decrense.

Where an inpairment loss :,ubsoquenﬂy reverses, the catrying amount of the seset (cash-generating unﬂ) is
Increased to-the Tevised ostimate of its tecoverable amont, but only fo the exient {hat tho dncrersed carrying
am{nmt docs not exeeed the carrylng amount that would Tave heon determined had fo impairmesit logs been
3eci3gnsed for tlie tsset (eash-generating unif) in prior years, A reversal of an Impalrment Joss Is recognised
iminedintely Jn profit or loss, wiless fhie relevant asset is ‘eorried at fir value, by which case the reversal of fhe

Impaliment loss is treated as a rovaluation Increase,

Employes benefils
A [:a!»hiy is recognisod for benefils accruing to employees in vespect of wages and salaries, antwa] leave, long

servics Jeave, and sick leave when it s probable that settlement will be requived and they are eapable of bedng
measured yéliably,

Lisbilitles recognlsed in respent of employes benefits sxpecied to be seftied within 12 monils, are measured of
{hedr nominal velues nsing e renmeration rate expecled to apply ot the thne of settlement,

Tinbilities recognised in vespect of amployse benefits which are not expected 10 be settled within 12 months
ave measimed as the present valne of the esthmated fuure cash outflows to be matdeby the Company in respest
of services provided by eimployees up to reporting date.

Defined contributlon plang

Contributions 1o defined sontribniion superainuation plans are expensed when indurred;

Lonsed Assets

Operating lense payments are recogulsed as an expense on a stinight-line basis over the lease term, except
where anothor systenatic basts is more ¥epresentaifve of (he time pattern in which économic benefits from the
tonged asset are conswmed, Contingent rentals arising under operating leases dré recognised a5 an expsnse in
theiparlod in which they are jncurred,
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_ﬁfélﬂ_i@.ﬁﬂfi GCongress of Ausiralia’s First Peoplaes Lir&Litﬁed

Notes to the financlal statemenis
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011

2, Significant aceountlng pollcies (continuad)

() Staudpids #nd Tnterpretatiois issued not yst effective
At the date of authorisation of the financlal teport, the Standawts and Interpretations listed below were lv issue

tut not yet effective.

Initial application of the followlng Standard will tiot affect any of the auioufts recognised in the financlal
repart, buf will change the disclosuces presently mado fn relation to the company’s financial report;

Standard/lnterpretation Effective fur gl BExpected to be
reporting periods fudtinlty applied in
beglining on orafter  {he fvancial year
| : énded

o AASH 124 ‘Belated Party Disolostires (rovised I Jangary 2011 30 Juns 2012
Decoytbet 2009), AASB 2009-12 ‘Amendiments to
Austratian Accountlug Standards’ .

+  AASE O *Fhuaneial lusbruments’, AASH 2000-11 { Janvary 2013 30 Juno 2014
<Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards '
atlsing from AASE 9" and AASB 2010-7 ‘Aniendmenis
to Austealisil Accounting Stendards arising fiom AASB
9 (Dédenbiep 2010)

« AASH 2009-14 *Amendments to Austeatian f Janwary 2011 30 Tune 2012
Tnterpretation ~ Prepayments of a Minimuam Finding
Requirement’

«  AASB2016-5 ‘Amendinents to Australian Accounting | Jauary 2011 30 June 2012
Standards *

«  AASB2010-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 1 July 2011 © 30 June 2012
Stindards — Disdlosures on Tratsfers of Financlal
Assets’

s AASE 201048 ‘Amencdments to Australian Aceounting 1 Jannary 2612 M} June 2013
Stanchards — Deferved Tai: Rocovery of Undetlying
Assals’

3. Begment information

The activities of the company for the year ended 30 Jone 2011 wexe fn establlshing and promoting the National
Coongress ta be o national teader and advocate for recognising the status of Aboriginal and Torues Strailt Tslarcler
peoples and Fiest Natton peoples, The direetors consldor this (0 e one business segaent and all activity flees place

withiin Australia.
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National Congress t:i"&us'traiia’ss First Peoples Limited

MNotes to the financial statements
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011

4,  Surplus from operationy

Sutplus before income tox hos been ardived at after crediting/ {charging) the following items of income and expense:

Income

Tunds teioived:
Contributions from finding
Oiher rovenie

Tnterest révenue - bank deposits

TExpenses

Comintnity engagement expensis

Governasics expenses

Profossional services and consulting expenses
Natlonal offlee sstablishment and opetation expenses
Offiee equipment and maintenance axpenses
Cperations of ethics council expenses
Relmbuysemont AHRC & FAHCSIA expenses
Stafftravel expenses

Deprogiation expenses

Bonrd member fravel md accormnioidation expenses
Local office Hst, (Board) expenses

Staff Salaries expenses

Board Remneration expenses

5, ‘rr!xcle and other recelvables

Miscellaneous debjors
Seinivily deposits

Pevlod from
1910472010 to
somsészi

5,962,978
5,146

5,968,024
76,141

6,044,163

(©72,848)
(22,300)
(387,403)
(221,682)
(120,991)
(114,687)
(254,905)
(10,474)
(157,340)
(508,624)
(79,132)
(691,853)
(1,309,120)

(5,051,359)

201

1,062

2,199

3,261
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National Congress of Au tratia’s First Peoples Lim;wd

Notes to the financial statements
for the financial perlad ended 3¢ Juno 2041

6. Properiy, plant and sguipment

Furniture & _ Offles ‘Leasshold
Flitings Software  Equipment Improvements  Tatal
| 5 g 5 $ e d
Gross eariylug smonat at cost
Balance at incorporation - - " . .
Additions 77247 12,022 71,269 §08,321 4,068,859
Ralancs at 30 June 2011 177,247 12,022 71,269 408,321 1,068,859
Acenntulated depreciation
Balatics at incorporation . - “ - -
Diepreciation {11,496) {L,744) (12,294) (131,806} (157,340)
Balaiee at 30 June 2011 (11,496) (1,744) (12,294) (131,8066) _ (187,340)
Net bardovalue
Balares ag incorporation - “ “ - -
Balmice 2€ 30 Juee 2011 165,754 10,278 38,978 676,515 . 914,519
7. Trade and ather pavables
2011
§
Trade payables aud other payables (i), 335,687
Accrued expenses (i) ' (19,311
Deforrad income (i) 3,160,366
3,016,304

{{) Tho average oredit period on payables aid accruals is L month, No lnterest is charged on payables and

- aceruals, Ulthnato re-spcms'ii}ili{j'r for liquidity sislk monagoment rosts with the board of directors, whe have

an appromiste lguidity elsk management fiamewoark, The entity mamges [iquidity visle by mainaining
adequate reserves and monltoring actual cash flows.

@y The deferred lucome reprasents the proportion of governmmont grant Income received and not spent alb year

and
8, Provisions
2041
$
Current
Lmployee benefits 9628
Ner-current } .
2,699

Bmployee benefits

2




National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limiied

Notes to the fimmeial statements
for the financlal peiiod ended 30 June 2011

Q. Mombers’ gunraniee

Coptribuled Bouity

The company s 2 corpany lmited by guarantee. If the company 35 wound up, the Corporations Act 2001 and the
Constitution stato that ench of the members severally guaranteos the Linbility of the company up fo $100 per member.

10. Retained surplus
) 2011
$
Balance at incorpetration .
Met sorplus atiributable to membars 997,806
Balanca at end of financial pariod . -992%§Q§”

44, Noptes to the statement of cagh flows

() Reconcilintion of eash and eash eqidvalenis _
For the purposes of the statement of cash floves, cash and cash equivalents inclndes cash on hand and in banks and

h;vesi_iz\m_)its n money market instiuments, net of outstanding bavk overdrafls. Cash and cash equivalents at fhd end
of the finincial period a5 shown in fhe siatement of cash flows is reconclled {0 the related items In the slateinont of

financial position as foliovs: |
2019

f 3

Cash and cash equivalents 3,763,714
s S

(h) Reconcilintion of surplng for the period to net cash flows from opdrating ntivitles

Parlod fiom
1040412010 o
3010612011
$
Surplus for the yenr 952,806
Deprecintion of son- eurrent assels 157,340
Changes In nef assels and Habilities:
{Inerease)/deciense in assels:
(326

Trads and other recslvables
Increase/(decrense) in Habilities:

Current {inbilities 3688

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,864,873,
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National Congress of Australia’s Flrst Peoples Lin%ii‘@d

Notes to the financlal statements I
for the financial period ended 30 June 2011 '

12. Blnanelal tastruments

¢ Slpaiffeant accounting policles
Delalls of the significant accounting polivles and methods adopted, Iecliling the criterla for-récognition, the basls of

wieasuvement and the basls on wiich reveinies dnd expenses are recagnised, in cospect of each clags of finsucial
asset, finalicial Hability and equlty instramsint are disclosetd jn nots 2 to the fimaucial statonents,

hy  Tnterest rate vislo managenient _
The only interest bearlng finanelal assets are cash and tevn deposits at an gverage juterest raie of 4,75%, All other

financtal assels and labilities ave non-interest bearing,

(€}  Credit plslomanagement

Credit risl refors to the risk that counterparly will default on its contractoal obligations resulting fn financial loss to
the Company, The company has dcicpted the policy of only dealing with cudltwmthy counterparties rud obtaining
sufficient wﬂai{ml ar ather security where appropriste, as a means of wmitigating the risk of fndncial loss from

defaults, The contjiany measyres credit risk on a fir value basts,

The Compriny r!oes not have any slgnificant oredit risk exposure to aiy sfiigle conibsiparty or any company of
counterpattios having similar chavacteristics.

() Falvvalus of finaneial-Instietentds
The fair values of financial ssels aml finaneial habmtics (excluding derivative instrunients) ave determinéd in
accordaticy with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow nnalysis.

The directors consider tiat the cateying atnounts of flnanciel assets and financial Habllities recorded at amortised cost
in the financial statemonts approximates their fiir values,

R Loase Coimmitmeits

2011
4
Naoii-éancellable aperating [ease commitiments
Not tonger than 1 year 75,000
Langer thaei 1 yeat and not longer than 5 yedrs 206,230
281,250

Leasing miangelents

The operating IaLsc rotatos to properly, This lease i3 a non cancellable fease of logs thun five-year e, with ront
payable monthly|in advance. The manthly lease payments ars fixed for the term of the Tease. ‘

14, Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel of Nutional Congress of Austratia’s Flrst Peoples Limited during the ﬁsumciai pecied
wele:

Lindon Cognthes CEQ

Sawa Jeffries {Co-Cheir)
Josephine Bowrne {Co-Chair)
Reiry Avaheiia (Director)
Peter Buckskin {Diregtor)
Ned Bavid {Director)
Cotleen Haywaril (Director)
Kiyntont Wanganeen (Birector)
Dapfine Yarram (Directar}

24
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National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples Limited

Motes to the financial statements
for the finansial peried ended 30 June 2014

14, Key managemsent peisornel compensation {continued)

The aggrogate compensatlon tade o directors and other mebers of key management personnel of the company is
sot out below:
Perlod from
19i834/2016 to
A0/0672011
%

Shovi-eri employee benefits 1,408,527
Post-employment benefits 124,983

5 L

15, Related parly transactions

() Key mmnagement personngl compensation
Diatails of key managomeont pérsonnel compensation ate disclosed in nofe 14 fo the tinancial slalemonts

) Trangactions with othey related pavties

The Notlonal Congress of Auslialia’s First Peoples Limited i3 a not for pl_jdﬁt charity and does not disteibute
dividends fo any members at aty Hine and, on the winding up of the organisation, any remaining assets are required
to bo transforréd to a simila not for profit entily.

16, Remuneration of auditors
Period

from
418104/2619
to
3010872011
$

Audit of the finsnclal report 20,000

Tha anditor of National Congress of Ausiralin’s First Peoples Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsi.




NATIONAL CONGRESS
OF AUSTHALIA'S FIRST PEOPLES

CONGRESS 2012 ORGANISATION EVALUATION

Dear Members and Friends,

Lam pleased to present to you the first major review of Congress since out establishment in 2010, the|Organisatioh
Evaluation Report which was prepared for Congréss by the independent consulting compaty Sphere.

H

That the report presents Congrass as a "strong and tobust" and "efficient and effective” grganisation, Is testament to
all who have invested time and energy into Congress's set up, establishmentand subseduent waork,

{t is'also testament to the Congress Moh, our Members who have signed up to the journey of this unique, diverse
gt complex otganisation, ’
Sphere looked at the effectiveness of Congress’s gavernance, accountability and integrity standards as well as our

operations, achlevements (including our ability to provide a representative voice) and future viability.

The resulting report is thorough atid is baséd on a combination of internal and external interviews, and reviews of al
bur documents.

As well as reviewing the work done by Congress so far, it also identifies the areas for future wark and attention
including: |

e refining the ¢hamber structure, as well as the roles of Members, Delegates, the Boaid and Ethics Counall
o focussing on|effective engagement with Members and external bodies and organisations L

o continuing assessment of palicy and communications goals
o stiucturalissuesin the areas of financial sustainability, Aboriginal staff recruitment and dperations,

The Congress staff and Board are committed to building on the achlevements we have déliverad over & relatively
short time.

[ commend this report to you and ook forward to your feedback.

[ Uity

éfgﬁ”’@/
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Lindon Coombes
CEQ
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i Executive summary

The National Congress of Australia‘s First Peaples (Congress) is a national voice and répresentative body for
Aboriginal-and Torres Strait islander Peoples.

The organisation was estabiished in March 2010 following an extensive consultation process. The consultation
process bagan in March 2008 led by the then Aboriginal and Torres Strait slatider Social Justice Comninissloner,
Those initial ebhisultations were followed later that year by the establishrment of the 'Steering Gomralttee af
Aboriginal and Tarres Strait Islander members for the creation of a new national representative body’
{Steering Commitiee). The Steering Committee conducted further, in-depth consultations and released jts
repart ‘2009 — Our future i our hands', in August 2009,

The Introduction to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander Soctal Justice Commissloner’s issues paper (2008}
stated that ' !
“A National Indigenous Representative Body is a fundamentdl compaonent of any future agtion if we
are to achisve positive change.”
and that
“Without p_rﬁpe_r engagement with Ahoriginal and Torras Strait islander peoples, (Indigenous peoples)
governments will struggle in their efforts to make lastlivg progress in improving the conditions of
indigenous people and in our communities.
At present; there i not a transparent, rigorous process af the national levél for engaging with
Indigenous peoples in detenmining the policy settings and to hold governments accountable for thelr
perfarianee.”
The hational reprasentative bady, Congress, has now been establlshed, As defined In lts Constitytion; Congress
s a national vpice and representative body providing leadership for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Peoples. It adyocates for the recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander Peoples’ rights, and is charged
with secitting an econoamic, soclal, cultural and environmenital future for Aboriginal and Tofres Strait lsla}mder
Peaples. !

This ind_epemfent evaluation of Congress was undertaken in mid-2012, two years after Cangress began

operation. Over the last two years Congress’ aperations can be described in phases.

o The establishment phase ran from March 2010 — june 2011, An Inaugural Board was appolrited to 5ve‘rsét_e
the establishment of Congress. This Board was charged with setting Congress up and was not mandated to
fully advocate an Issues-hased platform.

o The organisation wasup and running from May 2011, This phase Is characterfsed by the shift from the
inaugural Board laying a foundation that dealt with set up [ssues to an elected leadership with afull
mandate to identlfy and implement a pollcy agenda,

Corigress Is therefore a young organisation. Durlhg thé astablishment phase, it invested extensive time dnd

effort in huilding a strong and rebust organisation platform and only around one year ago began firmily

focusing on jts d@dvocacy and policy development agenda.

The evaluation’s terims of reference were th éxamine Congress’ first twe years of opetation with referance to

the following issuss:

s Assess the affestiveness of Congress’ governance, accountahility and probity standards

I
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o Assass Conpress’ operations, achicvermnents [including its ability to provide a representative voice) and
future viability

o Assess the long toim financlal sustainabifity of the Congress taking into account fimding from the
corporate-and philanthroplc sectors,

The avaluation consisted of a combination of in-depth intetviews with Boarel Directors, management, Ethics

Councl, staff from the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA)

and others who plaved a key role in the establishment of Congress {see appendix 2} and a review of relevant

Congress docuihents,

Overall findings
Overall the evalilation has found that in the short time of its existence Congress has been both efficient and
effective.

Congress has undertaken a thorough, considered and rigorous. process in its approach to establishing the

organisation. Early in its development Congress leadership declded that they wolild not compromise oh

gettingthe butlding blocks right in order to meet unrealistic tirmeframes. This Is because pshbhshmg the

National Cohgress of Australia’s First Peoples is seen-as an historlc opportunity of national ahd inferhationzd

significance.

Now that Congrass Is up and running it displays the characteristics of a goed practice orgaﬂisatio:ill which

reflects its urique character, Congrass governance and organisational arrangements as well as its strategic and

operational plans aré in place, they operate well, and align with Congress’ purpose and operating

envirohment.

Congress has a program of policy development aind advocacy In place, it works effectively with a broad range

of paak bodies and experts and eomplemenis their activitias. It is focusing onhealth, education, country,

justice, and sbvereignty through its Pelicy Working Groups and has contributed to a range of natlonal policy

processes including NT Stronger Futufgs, Indigenous Language Learning Inquiry, Natlonal Cultural Policy,

National Anti-Racism Strategy, Inquivy into Foetal Alcohol Spactrum Disorder, and Senate Esthmat@ hearings on

the 2012 budget.

Congress takes great care to ensure that It is providing a national representative voice. This is primartly

achieved throvgh:

s Comprehensive and inclusive engagement processes

s Robust and transparent processes to ensyre the Delegates and Board reflect Congress’ constituancies and
prdmote gender aguality, integrity and rierlt based appolntments.

Akey challenge for Congress Is that of financial sustainabllity. The review notes that Congress Is adversely

affectell by having to operaté in an envirenment of financial incertainty and that it would be unrpasenable to

think ihwt Congress cah become financially independent from government over a ‘short period of time.

Fun thermore, Congress’ funding model should reffect its charter to advocate and yepFesent its constituency

and therefora its nead for independence. In this regard the review concurs with the 2009 - Ourfuture In our
‘hands’ report which récomimendech:

v Afleast 10 years of government recurrent funding

o The establishment of an Investmant Fund through contributions from government over the next decade,

Terms of Reference

In addressing the terms of reference, the evaluation specifically assessed governanice, acecuntability, probity,
operations, achisvéments and representativeness, and viability and financial sustainabllity of Congress,
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Governanee
Congress has effectively implemented the gavernance madel and arrangements recommended in the Steering

Cotmiittee Report. Congress’ governance madel has responded to the complex issues and priorities [t spught
to addrass including: . '

@ Estahlishl'ng a national representative hody which focuses on blg strategic national [ssyes

o Strengthening Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples arganisatians, drawlng on the knowledge and
experiences of experts and peak bodies and reflecting local and regidnal knowledge B {ts thinking

o Providing the perspective of Abariginal and Torres Strait Istander peoples and playing a leading role In
developing tiew partnerships hétween government and Aboriginal and Torres Stralt slander peoples

o Enswring gender equality, integrity ahd merit

¢ Beling an autonomous and indepenhdant body.

Accountability

Accountabifity is a kay focus for Congress. Congress has taken great care to establish fechanisfms and
pracesses that ensure a high fevel of accountahility in practice, Furthenmore, Congréss Is astablishing itseff asa
beacan for gaod practice in this regard, Congress’ practices to ensure [t remains accountdble involve a number

of tliménsions.

Corygress eﬁSLlres itis accountable to its membership through actively engaging with and invdlving both;
meirhers and thelr Delegates in priofity setting and policy development; Congress has mechanisms in p’ace
which enabie It to-hold both the Beard and the staff accauntable; it demonstrates a sound track record ({)F

accountability to its funders; arid furthermore, the Ethics Councilis a significant factor in establishing Congress
a5 a beacon for good practice [n respect of actountability.

Prabity

‘Whilst this organisation gvaluation [snot a ‘probity audit’, our assessrnent of the processes and internal
evidence shows that high probity standards are present In the organisation. Congress demonstrates bath the
presence and the disciplined implementation of processés and piactices to ernsure probity, Furthermore, the
Ethics Coundl provides scrutiny and advige about important policles and processes,

Operations

The operations clearly reflect the purpose and objectives of Congress, ang the values that Congress must
operate under as identified in the Constitution (professionalism and objectivity; iritegrity aitd honesty;
accountability and transparency; participation and inclusion; and being inforrmed), A comprehehsive range of
policies and practices have been both developed and implemented to ensui'e the effective operation af
Congress, and for such a young organisation (with limited staff until the and of 2011) the leve] of sophistication
of the operations fs a considerable achievement.

Achieven‘lentﬂl and representativeness
The report ﬂ;ids that both the Inaugural Board {mantated to establish the organisation) and the first elected

Board (manddted to camplete set-up activities and focus on driving Congress' advocacy and policy

development agenda) have realisad their objectives as set butin thair respective mandates, In partdeular,

Congress’ key achievarnents during the flrst two years are as follows:

e The organisation has been astablished, is hullt on a strong foundation, Is fully operational and its programs
are in-place and developing

«  Thereis growing recogrition of Cangrass amongst the Aboriginal and Torres stralt tstander community and
policy miakers and leaders across the country

o Congress has successiully established itself as a represontative body,
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Viabllity aiid financlol sustainability

Optisns Tor financial sustainability béyond goverament funding are not achievable in the short or medium
term, In the long term, financial sustainability may be supported by philanthropy, fea-for-service arrangements
and sponsorship, but government funding will still be a significant source of funding. In this regard, Congress
has {aken steps to explore options for finahtlal sustainability and contlnues to seek Deductible Gift Recipient
(DGR status. However this review suggests that the Australlan Government's commitment to long term
funding through the Establishment Investment Fund for the National Representative Body {as recornmend in
the ‘2009 - Our future In our hands” document) Is the most appropriate option fof sécuring the gpgoing
existence of Congress and enabling Congress 1o operate at arm’s-length from government.

inconcluslen, the findings from this evaluation indicate that to date the development, implementation and
achtevements of Congiéss have been appropriate and effective, glven the young age of this organisation.
However, as Congress grows ahd learns, it will be important that Conhgress review and modify Its systems and
processes, Congress has an establishad continuous improvement process, and [T 1s ¢ritical that this continues
to-be applied to all fayers of the organisation, As well, the review indicates that additional layers of complexity
in the governance, operation and implementation of Congress’ business are emarging as the organisation
matures, arid considerations in relation to Congress' future directions are discussed in Chapter 11 — Evaluation
concluslons and future considerations,
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# Introduction

2.4 Backgrouwnd

The Matlonal giongt‘ess of Australia’s First Peoples {Congress) s o national voice and representative body for
Aharigival an(il Torres Strait Islander Peoples. Congress advocates for the recognition of Aboriginal and Torres
Stralt rslanden] Peoples’ rights, and is charged with secliiing an econamie, soclal, cultural and environmental
future for .f\bc[rjgmal and Torries Strait Islander Paoples as per its Constitution.

Cotigress is a new organisation established as a company fimitad by guarantee and fncorparated in April 2010.
As a company, Congress is owned and controlled by lts membership and is independent of Government) The
Inagural B_oétd was appointed In March 2010 and charged with the résponsibiility of edtabilshing Congress.
The first elected Board took office in fuly 2011, Congress has recelved funding form the Australian Government
for the period 2010 -2013.

As a vaice for Aboriginal and Torres Steait [slander Peoples, Conjgress s requirad to fill a significant vatuur in

Australlan saciety. Its role, approaches and activities are gradually emerging and evolving and by definition
Cangress is embedded in its membership and Australia’s First People’s comrmunities.

2.2 Project requiremants

Congress has commissionad this organisation evaluation to assess the appropriateness, effectiveness and
efficiency of Congress’ operation since establishment. While this is a requirernent under the terms of Congress
funding agreement with governmerit, Congress has emphasised the importance of this evaluation in providing

faedback that can help guide future development.

’

The terins of feference identify the areas of focus for this evaluation to include!

«  An assessment of the effectiveness of the governance, decosntability and probity standards of the |
Catigress

¢ An assessment of the Cahgrass’ operatianis, achieverents (including its ability to provide a representative
volea) and future viability

& An assessment of the long-term financial sustainability of the Congress taklng into account funding from
the carporate and philanthropic sectors

¢  Recommendations for the organisakion’s future.

The evaluation process will also identify areas for improvement for the eperation of Congress and its programs
abd initiatives to better achieve its vision and objectives,

2.3 Methodalogy

The methodology used for this evaluation is based on estalilishet process and outcome organisation
evalugtion methoadology. The evaluation vesearch comprised:

s Ananalysls of the following key themes:

~  €ongress set-up
oo )
~ Fi’urpose and stratégy
- Tovernance arrangemerts

Watianal Congress of Austeafla’s First feaplgs: Organisatior svaluation %
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~  Services and activities
~  Structure and staffing
- Membership
~  Parinerships
~  Financial sustainability.
o Astrlctured examination of processes, practices and performance Is undertalen fer each of these key
themes by discussing three critlcal guestions:

~  What Is Congress’ approach, and does the approach match what one would expect in agood
‘practice orga-nisatien?

- What Is Congress’ performance and are expécted resulis belng achieved?

-~ What are Congress’ strengths and weaknesses?

Evalyation research consisted of a combination of in-depth interviews with Board Directors, management,
Fihics Council, FaHTSIA staff and others whe played a key role in the establishment and structure of Congress
(see appendix 2) and review of relevant Congress documents to develop an overview and analysis of the
or‘ganisﬁion’s efficiency, effectiveness and appropriatengss.

Finaﬂy,;a note on tarminology - this report adopls-existing terminclogy used by the National Congress of
Australia’s First Peaples [Congress). Throughout the report the organisation Is referred to as Congress, whilst
the national meeting of Delegates is referred to as Nationdl Congress.
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3 Establishing Congress

Overview

There are a number of reasons why a national representative Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander organlsation
is seen to be important. In the Australian context, these range from @ néed to establish formalised,
coordinated communications between the Government-and the First Peoples as praviously existed in
organisations such as the Abortglnal and Torves Strait Islander Commission {ATSIC). Interviationatly, there has
baen a giohal movement to recognise the unigue status of Indigenous Peoples including standards for their
develapmerit through self daterraination.

T'a do Justice to explalning the establishment of Congress would require a detalled study in its own yight.
However, for the purposes of this evaluation repart, the establishment of Congiess Is dascribed i the
foliowing three phases.

& Thelead-up to establishing Congress took place from 2008:t0 2010. It cornenced with initial
consultatjons on an‘issues paper” led by the then Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Soctal Justice
Carnmissiotiar, This was followed by the establishment of thé ‘Steering Cominittes of Aboriginal and
Totras Stllait Istander membiers for the creation of a hew national representative body’ (Steering
Cor’nmittcleh Following the release of the Steering Committee’s report 2009 - Ol future In our hapds’, an
Eehics Coundil was appointed.

o The establishment phasé can from March 2010 ~ lune 2011, An Inzugural Board was appointed by the
Steering Committee in March 2010 to oversee the establishment of Congress. This Board was charged
with setting Congress up and was not mandated to fully advocate an issues-hased platfarm, The
astablishment phase coticiuded with the appointment of the CEO, the launch of Cangréss and the eléctioh
of the Co-Chalrs and the Board, Durlng this peried the funding agreement commenced. Itrequired an
Activity worlc plan for May to December 2010 that outlined a range of Issues that needod to be addressed,

o The organisation was up and running from May 2011, This phase is charactefised by the shift from the
inaugural Baard layiig a foundation that dealt with set up issues to an elected leadership with a full
mandate to further identify and implement a policy agenda. The policy agenda was prloritised by the
Congress membership and was further developed at the Natlonal Congress in June 2011,

Table: Set-up timeline

July 2008 First round of consultations commaence - ‘ssues paper’
Decernher 2008 Steering committee established
August 2009 Release of 2008 - Our futare in our hands” report

lan 2010 Ethics Council established

March 2010 inatgural Board established
April 2010 Congress Incorporated
April 2010 Congress membership opens
Hatton Soigress OF Australia's Dirsk Paoples: Qramisation bvdluation g /
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May 2010 Funding agreement commences

May 2010 Congress Launch

Niay--al_uly 2010 National Information Tour by Co-Chairs

June 2018 CElO appointed

Nov 2010 | Move 1o permanent office in Redfern

Nov 2010 Neminations for Co-Chairs and Delegates open

May 2011 Firstelected Co-Chairs confirmed
June 2041 First National Congress and Chamber Directois elected
July 2004 | Fifst Etected National Board takes office

Practice

The funding agreement outlined specific issties that needed to be planned and implemented including
promotion of Congress; design 0f governance airangements; appointing staff including a Chief Financial
Officer; setting up an office; and establishing and convening the first National Congress by December 2010, All
issues were set out in the Activity work plan; they were addressed by the staff and were reported on,

One significant change was made to the plan during this period. The timeframe to hold National Congress was
extetided for sk months from the end of 2010 to mid-2011. This extensfon was decided in a transparentand
open njanner In order to ensure the organisation ‘got the inaugural Natlonal Congress right’s W reaching this
decisiop, Congress assessed risk, and gave consideration to an appropriate time belng given to allow maximum
particidation by members in the nomination process, and to confirm policy and processes.

The peviod leading up to National Congress Involved a great deal of complexity. Inaugural Board ri»embers and
staff wére charged with translating the St'eeﬁhg Committea report into a practical workable modet. This
involved a wide range of activities such as the development of complex legal guidelines, electing-and
appointing Delegates and consulting members, n particular a pational road show of community i}ﬁorma’tion
meetings was undertaken by the Co-Chairs, A significant responsibility was testing and fine tuning the draft
company Constitution provided by the Steeriiig Commiittee. The Board later sponsored ah amendment,
canried! by members, to allow the Co-Chairs to be directly elected by the full membership. This all needed to be
dealt with whilst simultanecusly setting up the orgahisation’s operations.

Buring the “up and running’ phase from May 2011 Conigress developed a.Staterdent of Principles and set policy
priovities which Congress began to implemant. Congress established four Policy Working Groups which
focused on polley priorities.

Key subniissions were prepared.on Nativa Title Act, the Natlonal Cultural Policy, and the Northern Tervitory
Stronger Futures policy, This period also saw a ramping up of the prametion ofthe organisation, and
membership recruitment.

Staff vecrultment and the establishment of robust financial systems were also majoi activities during this
perlod. Twenty staff had been appointed in the Congress office by the end of year two and the office was fully
operatipnal, During this period, other amendmaents to the requiréme_ﬁts set ot In the funding agreement and
act%vityﬁvork plans were made e.g. Congress detided not to appoint a OFD, rather.a Director of Operations
with a financtal background, {
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Discussion
o Extension of Congress set up timeframes should be vnderstood s o strength.

Thiis evaluation report will demonstrate that Congress has undertaken a thorough, consitered ahd rigorous
process in Its approach to establishing the organisation. Early in its development Congress leadership decided
‘that they would not corpromise on getiing the building blacks #lght in order to meet unrealistic timeframes.
This Is becairse establishing the National Corigress of Australia’s First.Peaples Is seen as an historic opportunity
of national and international significance,

Achlaving sucg’:ess'fui outeames required that Congress understand and respanded 16 the compilex multi-
stakeholder e{w_ironrn%ant i which it operates. This involved: : i

- Ensurlng constituents werea recruited and canvassed

- Providing opportunities to engage and allow active participation

~  paking good appointments

- Getting systems and processes right to ensure gperational effectiveness, as well as meeting other
obfigations such as equity and accauntability

- Ensuring activitiés were thoroughly planned and well executed.

Irn this context the fact that Congress dedlded to extend the timeframes for the 2011 National Congress should
be understood as a streng_th. All the changes made ta milestones and corresponding work plans were
considered, justifiéd, docurnented and communicated to membiers and other significant stalkeholders such as
fanding bodies and conimunities.

i
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4 Purpose and strategy

Querview

Whilst the remalnder of the evaluation report discusses how Congrass has developed unigue processes,
arrangements and activities to realisa its significant role, this sectionis required te report on whether or not
the organisation demonstrates that it has ‘clarity of purpose’, and that this ‘purpose’ is anslated intd a
strategic ageneia, which In turn, Is unpacked into practical implementation plans and monitofing and reporting
on implenientation,

Following extensive consultations, the Steering CommmHtes Report (page 22} describes the erganisation's
mission to ‘provide national leaclership in advocating for the recognition of the status of Aboiiginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples as First Nations peoples’,

The Stelring Commiliee took as its guiding principle Article 18 of the United Natlons Declaration on the Rights
af ndigenous Peoples:
i

Indigenous Peoples have the right to participate in decision-making matters that offect their rights,
throtigh représentatives chosen by themselves in accordance with theirown procedures, jas well as to
maintain and develop their own Indigenous decision-making institutions.

The report goes on to explain that the represefitative body should:
- Be avoice and an advocate
~  Actively pursue a principled and visionary agenda
—  Build new relationships with governiment, industry and amongst Aboriginal and Tofres Strait
Istander peoples and communities,

Rule 2 of tha Congress Constitution, ‘Congress Purpose’, flows from this and states that the Congress is
established for the purpose of:

{1} Providing national leadership and recognhition of the status and of the rights of Aboriginal and
Torres Stralt lslantler people as First Nations pecples
{2) Protecting anid advancing the welibeing and rights of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
peoples and cornmunities
[ (3) Providing a representative voice of, and a conduit for commuications with and between,
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
{4} Securing economic, political, sodal, cultural and environmental futures for Abojiginal and
' Torres Strait Islander peoples and commtinities by working with governments, service
providers, communities and other stakeholders
(5) Building strong rélatfonships with government, industry and among-Aborigingl aind Torres
Strait Islander-peoples and communities, based on mutual respect and equality
(6} Identifying issues, researching solutions and educating government, service providers and
Aberiginal and Torees Straft Islander peoples and communities 1o achleve the above

purposes.

Inturn, the purpose is transtated into strategic priorities which are outlined In the Congress’ current Strategic
Dirgctions document as follows:

{1} Unity through an Independent Congress
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Alrns to hamess the strength and diversity of Australia’s First Peoples and focuses on
membership and being representative

{2} Glve our peoples a say

Aims to provide opportunities for meémbers and communlties to shape policy and focusas on
engagement and being membership driven

(3) Defend and promaote rights

Aims to further economic, political, soclal, cultural and efvironmental development and
focuses on policy development :

{4} Cragté strong partnérshigs

Alims to build strong working relationships and focuses an working with partners and
potential partners '

{5} Build a sustdinable organisation

Aims to deliver best practice governance and operations that ate respactfut of culture and
focuses on organisational effecliveness and efflciency.

Preictice

Corigress has bvidence of a pathway and process to establish its purpose, strategic divections and
implementation frameworks.

The purposg of Congress was established by consultation protessés durlng thé Tead-up’ and ‘establishiyent’

phases of Congress and is outlinad in key documents inchidlng the Steering Comimlttee Regiort {2003), the
Congress Constitution and the Natlonal Congress report {July 2011},

Both the naugural and the first elected Boards, and the Nationaf Congress have informed the developmerit of
strategic plans which translate the purpose into focused strategic directions. The first Strategic Plan 2010 -
2015 was drafted in May 2010 and later updated and adopted by the new Board In July 2011, Its next strateglc
plan ‘Strateglc Directions’ has recently been adopted.

Cangress policy priorities were developed through raember consultation. A member survey was undertaken
prior to the National Congress which led to the estahlishment of the top five priorities as health, education,
country, justice and soverelgnty atong with Constitutional recognition. Strategic directions for these top
prioritigs were developed hy Delegatas at the Nattonal Congress.

Beneath the strateglc plan are a seties of consolidated and divislonal work plans and a planning and reparting
frameivork is being developed.

rterviews with Congress elected officer hearers and staff demonstrate that the leadership (both staff and
elected ofﬁceibearers} af the organisation have darity of purpose and a high degree of alignmaent,

The strategy development pracess Is consuttative and driven by the organisation leaders and Abariginal and
Torres Strait [slander communities. i

Discussion L

o Congress’ purpese and strategy display the characteristics of a geod pructice orgunisation and refiect the
inlgie character of Congress

A goad practice organisation Is expected to demonstrate clarity of purpose which Is commonly
understood and reflected in the leadership, work practices and teamworl of the organisation.
furthermare, the clarity of purpose shotild he transtated into a viable strategy expressed in a practical
implementation and reporting and review framework, Congress demonstrates this with a setof
documents and reporting and accountabifity frameworks that cascade from the purposes to the strategy
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and then to practical work plans. These are supported by the planning and reporting framework which is
belng finalised,

Furthermore Congress demonstrates that 1ts strategic directions have legitimacy as they have emerged
from a credible and structured engagement procass which reflects its role and purpose as a
representative body of, and avoice for, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islandlers. This is demonsirated by the
s:{_nsultations in the-lead-up to the establishment as well ag the member engagement leading up to and

during the Nationa) Congrass,

infeiviews with Congress staff and office bearers denionstrate shared understanding about ongress’
significant and far reaching mandate as a voice and represeniative body for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander peoples, along with a unity of purpose to ensure that over tifne Congress realises g potential

and bacomes a significant foree in our sotiety, i

Some interview respondents suggested Congress needed to provide a clearer Jong-term vision for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, which would serve fo guide Congress’ policy and advocacy work,

National Congresy of Australfa’s Flest Papples: Oiganisation svaluaticn 17
Aszust 2032




5 Governance model

5.4 Entrqductios‘s

Cottgress’ purbose and vaites afe-setout in Rule 2 of the Constitutlon. They are derived from extensive
consultation which is surmimarised in the Steering Committee repoft {2008) which reported that the
goverhance ir{od_el_slaould inter alia:

o Establish 4 national representative body which focuses oi the blg strategic national fssues

o Strengthen Aboriginal and Torres Strait (slander peoples organisations, draw an the knowledge and
experterices of éxperts and péak bodies and refiect jocal and regional knowledge in {ts thinking

o Provide the perspective of Aborlginal and Totres Strait sfander peoples and play z leading role in
developing new partnerships between government and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples

e Promote gender equality, integrity and merit

v Be anautonomous and independent body with untied government funding.

To achieve this Congress has developed a uniqué and sophisticated arrangéiment which comprises:

@ Membership organised into different Chambérs for orpanisations and Individuals

¢ ANational Congress which serves as a forum to provide expert and community advice ort palicy and
direction

o  ABoard imade up of two full-time Co-Chalrs and six part-time Directors {twa from each Chantber}

s An Ethics Council to ensure Congress acts with Integrity, nominaes meet commynity exjppectations for
office holtlers anel appaintments.are underpinned by merit based processes

e An office pf full-time staff to support the Board und Natlonal Congress,

Diagram; Congress governance stracture

Furthermore ﬁhe governance model estalilshes Congress as a company limited by guarantee with not-for-

profit status and ensures gender egualityin alf its representative structures,
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This saction discusses cach element of Congress’ governance model and eoncludes with an assessment of the
extent to which the goverianea model has achisved its stated Intent. Operations governance inc‘ud‘mg matiers
ridated to finances are discussed in Chapter 8 of this report.

5.2 Chambers

Cverview
Mermbers aré Aboriginal and Torres Stralt islandler organisations or individuals 18 years and over. Thay join and
are placed in one of three Chambers of Congrass,

o Chamber i - Abotiginal and Torres Strait Islandai peak bodies and national organisations
e Chamber 2 - Aboriginal and Torres Strajt Islander organisations

a  Chamber 3 - Aboriginal and Torres Straft Islander Individuals,

There are 4t Delegates allocated 1o each Chamber for meétings of the Natienal Congress. Members of
Chambers 1 and 2 have the opportunity to hominate and elgct their Delegates. Chamber 3 Delegates were
assessad and ranked by the Ethics Counclt and appoinied by the Beard. An additional allocation of ‘Special’
Delégales, without voting rights, were appointed by the Board to maximise participation. Al applicants and
the ineinbership were informed of this unique arrangement, the rationale:and processes involved,

Delagates from each Chamber elect a male and female delegate to become Directoss of Congress and
represent their Chamber, In addition to their efectoral role, the Con_sti’tution describes tha role 0f|Chambers fed
assist and collaborate with thelr Delegates {o ensure advice and infoimation relevant to their Chamber Is
provided to the National Congress and the National Board. Various provisions are outlined in the Constitution
ta ensure that activities such as communicatlon, meetings and informatlon dissemination, oceur within each
Chamber. The Constitution also states that Chamber merbers’ roles are to actively support and advocate the
issutes set by Congress.

Practice

To date the main areas of Chamber activity have been associated with the election of Divectors and their
involverent in business at the National Congress. The National Health Leadership Forum (NHLF) is 2 notable
exception, bringing together Congress organisational members who ate national peak bodies with an interest
Inhealth policy and service delivery.

National Congress has been positioned as a national assembly of Australia’s First Peoples. The Chambers help

ensure the National Congress is representative in the sense that they enstre that the voices of peak bodies

and na!l'ional organisations, organisations and individuals are ol haard egually, and that the greater number of

‘mdiv‘:dTal members and greater advocacy skills of organtsations do not drown each other out,

ii)fsmss(on i

o Thie Chamber structure Is an inclusive model which accommodates a diverse mepibership to gnhance
Congress’ rofe as @ representative body.

The design of the membership structure was developed to meet multiple objectives, some of which were
tdehated extensively in the national consultations feading up te the establishment of Congress (Our future
In our hands, 2009), Factors influencing the design of the stiucture included the goals to:

~  Collaborate with, hut In no way to substitute for, the extensive network of national, regional and local
community and sectoral Aboriginal and Torres Strait fslander organisations

- Balante the tension bebween belng grounded in local comimunittes and regions and focused on
influencing the national agenda.
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in general, the fivst years of Congress’ aperation has confirmed to most respondents interviewed that the

Chamber structure hias proven effective in providing a platform to a broad base of organisations as el as
ilndividuals, In this sense it is valued as ah inclusive model to unite Aboriginal and Tarres Strait Islanders by
enhancing existing-organisations. "

o Need to Incregse the opporiunities for involvement of Chamber membets and Delégates.,

To date Chamber members and Delegates have facused on the electoral roles and thelr roles at National
Congress, Greater engagement with, and involvement af, Chambers and Chamber Delegates is an
important opportunity to be pursued in due course {for exarple, it was suggested Delegates coutd play 2
key rale in providing a local presence for Congress). Even though there ias been some erigagement with
Chamher Delegates and membiers, usually led by Chamber Directors, there is 8 gereral facl of clarity in
relation to roles of the Chambers outside of Mational Congrass meetings. .

A signiftcant allocation of staffand finandial resources are prioritised for the Natlontal Congress meetings.
While there are multiple strategies for direct communication and engagement with all members, nodels
and ideas for intra-Chamber interaction needs to also constder resources,

o Reviewing ond perhaps madifying the Chamber structure Is likely to be tin ongolng conversation I
congrass,
As the k_e‘r vehicle to accoramodate members of a representative organisation, itis ursurprising that the
structure;and composition of the Chambers eliclted extensive discugsion In the Interviews. lley concerns
includedt:

- As a $ingle structure foi individual member nationally, the Chamber 3 arrangement dogs not connect
Congress to local communities across Australia, and therefore a geographically based hierarchy of
local, reglonal and rational levels of structure would be more rapresentative

~ Additlonal Chamibers should be created o existing Chambers modifiad to specifically refei to
representatives from First Mations Peoples and perhaps other coramunity hased sectors stich as
buslness, youth and élders, :

Corigress leaders are fully aware of such issues and are planning ta develop and focus discussion amangst
the membership to help shape a process to address these issues In the medium term. Whilst maty
interview raspondents helieve that addressing them could Improve the existing arrangements, a
restrutture of the Chamber model s premature and would be destabilising. At this polnt of the
otganisation's development, it needs lime to be allowed to settle and restieturing 50 soon pases ali
unnecessary Hsk. In this light tt must be noted that the conversation on the compasition of Chawmbers has
begun and needs to continue in a structured way.

4.3 Nattonal Congress

Qverview 'I
The National Congress is a critically Important annual forum of Congress. Itis an element of the Canstit?tional
miodel as it represents the assembly of Delegates that adyises the Board on Congress directon each yea‘r and

helps to ensura that Congress Is a representative body of Australia’s First Peoples.

This assembly comptises the 120 Delegates (40 from each Chamber) and Is mechanism to ensura that a
diverse spectrum of Aboriginal and Torves Straft Islander peoples and organisations are represented in
Congress and advise the Board on Congress directiohs.

The purpase and procedures are discussed in the Steering Comimittee repaort {2008) and set out in the
Congress Constitiition,
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Practice

The First National Congress was held In June 2011, There was extensive planning, preparation and direct
apgagement of membars for Delegate and Diregtor hdéminations, elettions and preparation of the agenda
Including the policy discussions,

Ethics Council members report a rigorous and time consuming process to ensure potential Delegates were

scrtltlniged on the basis of a fit and proper teést and Chamber 3 Delegates met the Boards” priorities for gender
balance, youth and remote and regional representation while ensuring the mix was diverse and représéntative
of a broad cross section of members, Evidence of diversity and compliance with Congress genderj"equlty policy

is provided in the National Congress report {2011} which outlines the demographics of the Delegates.
Prfor to National Congress, a meniber survey achleved 630 responses. This strviey jdentified 10 p#licy priorities
which were used to set the policy development agenda for National Congress. National Congress jwent on to
axplore these issues in policy forwns which set priorities, directions.and parameters for each policy area,

A comprehensive report from the 2011 National Congress provides a detafied outline of activities and
outcomes and sets clear strategic priorities for the Board and the Congress staff to pusue.

Thi National Congress was evaluated through a participant survey which recelved strong positive feedback ..
bveral axperlence: B7% said was excellent or very good, whilst 0% said it was unsatisfactory.

Preparation for next Mational Congress is underway, scheduled for September 2012, A further survay for
Delegates only has been completed to assist with planning the event and its agenda.

Discurssion

o National Congress purpose, structure and implementation represent good practice in all respects.
The practices for National Congress described above demonstrate good practice In respect of planning,
execution, review and accountability of the anhual National Congress. Organisers took clearly defined
steps to ensure that the Delegates and activities respond to and reflect the interests of Australia’s First
Peoples and that the National Congress meeting shapes the agenda of Congress.

o Sixmonth extension of the inaugural National Congress reflects proactive strategic nmncrgen?ent and
comntitinent to ehsuring thet Natioriaf Congress wias o successful anid eredible évent,
Congress management and Board demonstrate they were cognisant of extending the original date of the
imaugural National Congress and discussed this thoroughly within Congress and with government.
Furthermore the extension of Nationat Congress misrors similar Issues regarding set-uip timeframes for all
aspects of Congress. Congress decitled that getting things Fight In a complex, consultative, mult-
stakeholder environment meant openly acknowledging that initial time-frames were too ambitious, When
atlded to practical and intensive challenges including staff recriftment and formulating new poligies to
‘mplement Congress” unique structure, continuing with the ortginal timeframes would have meant
compromising on goed process angd the possibility of undermining Congress In the very early stages of its
tevelopmant.

5.4 Board

Querview

AL present the Board comprises eight Directors; fvo full-time Exacutive Directors as Co-Chairs elected by the
membership and six non-executive Directors, two elected from each Chamber by the Delegates from that
‘Chamber., Co-Chalrs arg elécted for two year term while Chamber Directors have four year terms. Direckars are
eligiblelto stand for re-election,
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fn addition to their leadership roles Board mernhers are éxpected to he Involved it policy development;
community engagement, membership recruitment gnd promotion of Congress’ aims. The Charber Directors
chalr thelr Chambers and each Policy Working Group (See Chapter 8 on Policy) is chaired by a Diréctor:

The Board of Congress réflects the unlque nature of the organisation, with an election process that is tailored
to its specific purpose and objectives, The Directors are elected by members to carry out the purpose of
Cangress as éieﬁned in Rule 2 of the Constitution, which Indudes providing a reprosentative voice df, ani a
conduit for commuiilcations with and between, Aborlginal and Torres Strait Istander peoples, As a result Board
mémbers havE busy programs of activities as leaders and representatives of Australia’s First Peoples. Theyare
required to meet with communities, government, and & wide range of stakeholders and engage lt)cal_ly,i
natiohaily an(f internationally in order to advocate and represent the interasts of Aboriginal and Torres Sleait
islandar peoples.

Management and staff are a team of professtonal policy, corporate affalrs, finance and administrative oﬁicers
who support the Baard to execUte thélr responsibilities, Whilst Congress lias used the vehicle-of a cﬁmi:iany
limiited by guaranteée with hot-for-profit status as the best avallable legal entity to achieve its objectives {in
part to strengthen Its independence by avolding being a statutory hody} it would be an error ta compare it to
‘regular’ service delivery or palicy research nat-for-profit organisatiois {NFPs). '

Practices

Board practicas aré discussed in terms of twa themes: sound governance and strategic [eadership,

From the perspactive 6f sound governance, the Natior:al Board has a Charter In place outlining structures,
rales and protocols, and Co-Chairs have employment agreements and Charnber Directors have “termas of
agreemant’ contracts which specify duties. In addition, several poficies and procedures guide the Board's
operations including the Directors’ Code of Conduct, the Conflict-of Interest procedure and the policy guiding
Directors’ metabetship on other boards {in draft stage). 8oard agendas and minutes are thorough. They reflect
the contents of the Board Charter and include monthly activity reports from Board members.

Furthermera ?nngress has a training program far the Board to enhance their skills in respect of thelr
governance rﬁsponsibilftles. Board members have been encouraged to join the Australian [nstitute of Company
Directors and [thay have been pravided with training by the Office of the Registrar of Indligenous Corporptions
{ORIC). ‘

With respect to stratégic |eatlership there is a great deal of evidenicd {Board Interviews; Board minutes) that
the Boaiid has establishéd a strong partnership and Is generally aligned providing effective leadership and
direction to the arganisation, They work to a clear set of priorities and balance the tensfon batween
implementing longer term programs whilst still having the capacity to respond ta urgent (ssues when they
émerga,

Goard members {oth Co-Chairs and Directors) report that they have full programs In order to execute thelr
responsibilities. Théy are remunerated for their work — Co-Chairs receive a full-time salary and Directars are
paid @ maximum of a three day per week equivalent payment, Payments were benchimarked against the
Australian Public Service and Congress is In the process of commlssloning a benchmarking study to ensure
Board payraents are in line with the broader environment.

Discussion

o The Board operates within comprehensive guidelines which set out thelr mandate and responsibilities,
meeting and decision making procedures and reporting progesses.
Therels 1 great deal of document based evidence, which s canfirmed by interviews, that Board processes,
practices'and reporting arrangements are well structured and in place.

o Clarifying|expectations of individual Directors, :
Whilst the review has found that the Board provides Cangress with effective leadersip and direction the
specific expectations of each Chamber Director are not adequately defined. As a result the framewerks
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which defing the accountabillties of pach individual Director do not provide a clear pleture-of reguived
outputs and results.

Developing Directors accountabillty frameworks is particularly difficult because of thelr multiple, and
apparently contraclictory rolés. On the one hand they perform the role of non-executive Directors who
attend Board meetings, set policy and execute their fiduciary responsibilities. On the other hand they
recelve payments equivalent to a three day per week job and are expected to play an active role in
axecuting the work of Congress. In this regard they perform funetions like chalring Pelicy Working Groups,
Chamber reprasentation, genersl promotion of Congress, stakeholder and community engagement,
advocacy and membership recruitment,

Adopting clear accountability slatements for individual Directors will help address this issue and will
provide Directors with guidance to clarify exactly what activities Directors aré being remunera_tegl for. itis
important that this exercise be pursued In a spirit that maximises Congress’ ability to attract and retain
talent at Board level.

Board mermbers remuneration,

Payment of Boastl members was ralsed as an fssue during the research for this evaluation. There were a
fenge of responses identifiad In the review, as some felt that Chamber Directors should be paid for full-
tinje roles, some interpret these positlons as part-time jobs, whilst others interpret the remuneration as a
mdre generie payment. Whllst Board members have generic position descripiions and reporting protocels
m ;!)la‘ce, there is still sbme ambigulty on exactly what their roles are and what they are being remunerated
for and on what basis.

A general concern expressed broadly across the review was that the remuneration for Chainber Directors
hias not been well explained publically, 1t was roted that Directors of riot-for-profit Boards are often
volunteers and therefore the significant difference between the level of commitment and involvement.of
Congrass Directors to that of more traditional not-for-profit Boapd Directors needs to he well explained.

This review concludés that given Corigress Is a national representative body where elected officers have
Ieadersh‘rp, atlvocacy and representative roles and significant corrasponding workloads there is strong
alignment between Congress’ purpose and Board remuneration. Ip this regard itis reéssur‘mg to note that
Congress has commissioned a éalary benchmarking study to ensure remuneration is in keeping with the
broader market, '

Co-Chair model works.

Whilst the Co-Chalr model is unusual, the review indicates that it has benefits which work well for
Congress. In‘particular, gender equity was highly valued, the workload is shared by two who are each able
to play to their strengths, and joint sign-offs on key issues means more careful consideration as the Co-
Chalrs oftén discuss these key Issues. It Is also noted however that this model creatés additional
c‘mln;alexkties in clay-to-day governance arrangements,

Boitrd member elections. _
As Congress grows it is expected that the Ethics Council will be required to provide advice oni policy
lnc\uding copfirmation of alections, campalgning rules, use of resources by incuibbents, and the possible
introduction of a process to ‘screen’ potential Board candidates {for example, requiring candidates to
demonstrate they have adequate support prior to being formally nominated). E

Ethics Councl

Overview

Consultations leading up o the establishment of Congress (Steering Committee Report, 2009) identiflad the
fmporiance of ensuring that the national representative body acts with integrity and that its appointments are
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underpinned iay merit based processes, This led to the establishment of an Ethics Councl as an element|of
Congraess’ governance model.

Thefirst term of the Ethics Council was norinated and anhouncead by the Stearing Commitiee The naugural
Board ratified the appaintments and approved the Ethics Council’s recommendation Lo replace two members
as part of its polley of renewsl,

The Ethics Coundil curréntly comprises six people. Its purpose, responsibilities and conduct are autlined in the
Congress Constitution and the Ethics Council Charter, Ethics Councll members are well respected members of
the Aboriginal and Torres Straif Islander community who hiave a track record of serving the community with
Integrity and malntalning exemplary €thical standards, They are appointed to two year terms of office and the
Ethics Council has adapted a succession poficy wherehy each year, two of its members are replaced (on a
gender aquity basis).

The Ethics Councll advises the Board in respect of ethical practice, integrity and transparency, Its
responsibifites include:

@ Advice to the Board regarding eligibility of applicants for Co-Chalr elections and Delogates

< Complaints handiing and grievaince procedures

o Advice otf polictes and procedures.

i
In practice the Ethics Council meets guarterly; supperted by an Executive Officer, itis reported to functi

afficiently and Council’s documentation reflécts this.

Practice L
1

The Ethics Councit have Terms of Reference which outling Its functions, composition and térm of office.

To date it has spent a high proportion of its time on advice about membership and elected representatives. [t
has also dealt with a small numbear of complaints and Ras begun laoking at hroader policy issues, e.g. itis
currently providing advice to the'Board on sponsarship policy; and on dealing with appeintrents of Board
mermhiers onto external Committees,

Discussion

a  The Ethics Councilis a well-functioning und appropriate body. It fosters ethics in the governance of
Congress and is executing its responsibilities.

The Ethics Council fs an Innavative mechanism that has emerged in response to a stated need from a
broad stakeholder consultation. It contributes an added dimension Lo good practice governance models
and is praised for drawing senior and credible cammiunity members into an oversight role,

Meeling éeponfts and interviewees confirm that the Ethics Coundil operates effectively and executes [ts
res;:nonsiIJEEi_‘t{es.
The warldof the Ethics Council has nat been reviewed and should ba, in due course,

o Ensure the Board regularly consider whether issues should he.reférred to the Fthics Couneil

A kay.opportunity that could ba realised is for Congress ta. make greater use of the knowledge and skills
within the Ethics Council. This refates to broadening the exteitt of advice provided hy the Ethics Covnil
{i.é. udvice on the ethical dintensions of arange of policy issues helng addressad by Cangress) and, to
ehable this, increasing the interaction belween the Board and the Ethics Councll, In addition significant
policy issues or changes that clearly fall withir the scope of the Ethids Coundl a.g, the anendment of the
Constitutloh regaiding Co-Chalr elections, needs to lie discussed with the Ethles Council as early as
possible, Care should be taken to ensure there is consensus amongst Ethics Council and Board members in
retation to potentially broadening the extént of advice provided by the Ethics Council, and devéloping
guidetines on what issues shoutd be raferred to the Ethics Council and at what point this should be done,
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5.6 Conclysion

This evaluation finds that thire is an alignment between Cohgress’ unigue role asa national representative
body for Australia’s First Peogles and its corresponding, unique governance model. Core élements have been
effectivaly implemented in line with the organisation’s stated objectives and Constitution, i.e.

t

o The use of a registared company model to promote and protect independence

¢ AnlEthics Couneil 1p promote the highest standards of ethiics and integrity

o Mei'rit'bas_e{l appointments

® ‘Geénder equity

o Astructure that focuses on‘Congress’ national role whilsk at the same time using Chambers 1o ensure that
a broad spactrum of Aborlginal and Torres Stralt Jslander individuals and organisations are waltoned inlo
Cangress

o Aresourced and supported Jeadership téam of elected representatives able to execute their advocacy and
laadership roles.
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& Membership

Overidew
As at & July 2(]12, there were 4,443 individual members of Chamber 3 (including 4,194 existing members and
255 new applications approved). There were also 141 ofganisational menibers madé up of 44 Chamber L
ieinbers and 97 Chamibier 2 members.

At the time of the review, staff noted that when comparable membership basad organisations discuss 1
coverage, they Include the number of members of thair member organisations. Based on documents ;arbvided
with matbership apilications, and ari Informal survey, the 141 curreit organtsations that are metnbers of
Congress represent approximately 50-60,000 Aboriginal and Torves Strait (slander peoples.

When assessing the mentbership profile, for Chamber 2 membership, 42% of members are malg, 57% are

femalg, with almost half of the membeis aged 35-54 years {47%). As the following diagram shows, there is
grestior representation of members in NSW, SA and ACT when compared to the total Aboriginal and Torres
Stralt Islander population, and an undér-t‘epreseﬁtatien in QLD, NT, TAS and WA, (This analysis Is based on
Chariber 3 membership data at 21 June 2012 In comparison with the 2011 ABS Census. Please note-a small
amount of data is unrepresented because information was.not provided hy members In thelr applications).
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Practices

Thie process for membership is that individuals-and organisations apply to be a member of Congress, and these
applications a_}re reviewed. All individuals that have declaréd they have met the criteria by signing a
maembeiship form dre reviewed and submitted by staff with a recommendation to approve to either Co-Chair
{Delegated frgm the Board), Organisations apply and are assessed by Congress staff and a recormmendation is
made to either Co-Chair for approval or rejection. Kegular reports are given 1o the Board for information and
special or camplex cases are referred for discission by Directors,
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i ,
Enc’reas%ng mesbizrship has been a significant focus of Cohgress since membership first opened in April 2010,

Since Aprit 2018, membership hoas grown significantly, and on average Congress received 200 Chjmber 3
membership applications per month, The following graph summarises the changing Chamber 31 ]embership
Aumbers over time: *

Chamber 3 membership numbers - date aproved
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Congress undertakes a range of activities focused on increasing membership numbers, and engaging with
current members, as follows:

o Regular advertising in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander media
o Attendance/stalls at key Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander events

s Bodrd, staff and member activities (including Delegates and youth participants) focusing on Increasing
membership

o Communication and membership recruitient through emall, printed newsletier's (plahneéd), website,
social media and media profiie

«  National Congress
¢ Member surveys

o Providing epportunities for members to have a'say and interact including Policy Working Groups, online
cana'igns and events such as Constltutional reform, Stronger Futures legislation and the youth program.

membegrship has been attendance at key Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander events, and this has been the

The evicreme of growhig membership numbers Indicates that to date, the most effective approach for growlng
‘curnerslione of the membership strategies,

To.date, feedback has been gathered from members in a number 6§ ways, including feedback from Delegates
on the 2011 National Congress and the menmber survey conducted from May-June 2011 where 630 members
participated, Most recently (Fel — March 2012), Delegates weresurveyed (via orillne and telephone) to
measure interest in program ideas for 2012 National Congress, and to explore their lavels of interest in policy
and acvocaty, jeining Working Groups, joining a campaign group for Constitutional recognition, and in
raceiving membaership recruitment packs, It Is worth rieting that iany Delegates offered unsolicited positive
comments about thelr long-term hopes and asplrations for Congress, while orily two Delegates were critical of
Congress’ performance. The survey also feund that telephone Is an effective way of communicating with
Delegates, although rasource Intensive. The feedback from this suivey will be used to guide the Natlonal
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Congress program, as well as guide approaches for engaging Delegates in policy and acdvocacy and men‘ber
recruitment, i

Discussion

]

Membership recruitment has been effective

Since inception there has been a gradual but coisistent growth in individual membership, currently
trending at approximately 200 mernbets per mionth, In respect of orgarifsatiohal tnembaers, all respondents
reported that coverage of organisational members is very good and representative of Aboriginal and
Torves Strait Islander community organisations and key peak bodies. There.are same notable excaptions
and Congrass.has axpressed a clear commitment to ¢ontinue dialogué with organisations that are not
currently members,

Increasing membership is a key goad of Congress and Congress needs to-continue to explore motivations
and barriers for foining, and to develop innovative strategles for attracting néw members,

Congress has been on a considerable learaing curve In relation to membership, Cangrass’ first
menhership recruitment target of 30,000 by 2011 in the infifal strateglc plan 20102015 (1 December
2010) Is now seen as ynrealistic, as thére is a greater Jevel of uniderstanding regarding the challenges for
recrudting members, The recent consolidated work plan in support of thé strategic directions document
{2012/13 Lcites 8,000 Individual members and 500 arganisation members as the target for December
2013, In the interviews for this evaluation there was significant discussion regarding metnbership
numbers, and the general consensus is that Congress has been successful in achieving the current
membership base of approximately 4,500 individual membaers, but that mambiership numbers shouid
continue to increase.

However, the discussions identified considerable chaltehges for increasing menibership nurnbers. Barders
{dentified include the young age of Congress, cynicism in the community, and a common attitude adoptet
by community membefs to ‘walt-and seg’. The review indicates the need for continued focus on
rembetship recrultrent, understanding barriers and enablers to Joining, exploring membership
expactations and preferences, and on developing innovative approaches far increasing membership.
While to date face-lo-face recriitment through community events has been successful, consideration
should also be given to other approachas for increasing membership such as woiking with existing
Delegates and members to recruit new members, or telemarketing,

= Staff noted that In the expanded staff structure, provislon has been made fot a new appraach to fage-
to-face recrultment, An incentive based model with a poal of contracted staff is heing developed, The
model will identify key areas/regions/states that require targeting and engage people with focal
cannections who have access to communities.

—  The second round of slections will also be used to driva mambership, through the candidates and the
wider membership to ensure they get to have ‘a say in the Congress’ by being a mamber and having
the right to vote, :

!

Effective engagement with members and Delegates is eritical for the success of Coilgress,

The maln approach forengdgement with membersincludes online and-email updates, based on the first
member survey {conducted in May-fune 2011 with 630 mernbers responding) which indicated this as the:
preferred contact méthod. Media is also used to provide updates, as well as contact at key Aboriginal and
Torres Stralt Islander aveents and forums., Engagement with organisatfonal menibers includes direct
contact by Conigress, A proportion of Delegates and members are also engaged via working groups. [tis
worth noting that the Delegate survey conducted via telephane In 2012 indicated that Lelephone rather
than onling is a prefarred method of engagement for some Délegales.

There are greater challenges in recrufting Individuel members.
There are.a number of challenges In recruiting individual members:
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One of the Issues identifted In the review is the challengé for Congress in being a national
represéntative voice while malntaining refevance to members at the grass-roots Jevel. The charter for
Congrass is to fill the gap in relation to being a national representative veice, with an understanding
that Congress should not duplicate what existing organisations are alveady doing, given that there are
many organisations with a focus on grassiroots Issues. Communicating the value of this vision to
indivicluals'is a ey challenge.

Similarly, the priority areas that Congress has identified {based on membership preferences} are fong-
term goals, and this also presents challenges in demonstrating achievements in the short-term to
Congress’ membership. Congress should continue to explore and promote the benefits Congress can
offer to members, '
In addition, In the absence of State/Territory or regionally based structures; some respodeents have
commented that i s difficult to convince potential members that Congress is sble to regrésent
Aborlginal and Torres Stralt Istander people fram all over Australia,
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7 Structure and staffing

Owrerview

; !
Cangress currgntly has 21 staff primarily spread across three teams, including Corporate Affairs, Operations
ang Policy, as well as the Ethids Qouncil Execulive Officer, and the National Board Executive Officer, Th
diagrant below details the currentstaffing structure of Congress (as at fune 2012), 7

i

The CEQ was E mployed in June 2010, and In the initlal perlod of oparation there was a skeleton staff including
the CEO, the Diregtor of Corporate Alfairs, the Memberships Coordinator and Office Manager, Most of the
current positions included in the organisational chart were recruited in 2011, and by the end of 2011 Congress
had the full complement of staff, Congress has since decided to expand the structure to address new prjorities
and hetter deltver exlsting corporate goals,

i
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Overall'the design of the current skructure is neatly aligned with the actlvities Congress is raquiret to carry out,
lts threa core teams are each responsible for executing 2 key activity died.

Managermant of Congress and to-ordinatien between the arcas Is well organised, .and is overseen by the
Executive Management Group (consisting of CEO, Director of Corporate Affairs, Director of Operations and
Director of Policy) who meet regularly to coordihate teamwork and collaboration across the organisation,
provide oversight, and suppert the CEQ, Board and membership,

Up until the full complement of staff was in place {end of 2011), Congress operated under considerable strain
due to limited staff resources. Glven this, respondents unlversally reported that the achlevernents of Congrass
have been sighificant, _

Over the last six months, Congress has operated with a fully established staff complement which has enablecd it
to understand gaps and efficiencies within the existing staffing structure, In this context Congress has
developed a new organisation structure which expands the organisation from 21 to 28 staff and fills key
operational gaps.

The additional staff poesitlons have been approved by the Board for inclusion in the 2012/2013 budget, These
positio‘r?swﬂi take the full staff complementto 28 people, and include;

" Op! rations: Finance Manager, Travel & Admin Support Officer, Admin Support — Executive Assistant, and
'Fusfding Development Manager |

o {:of‘porate Affalrs: Events Manager Corporate Medla Manager and Membership Manager (tojmanage a
pool of contractors)

«  Policy: Two additional Policy Officers,

A consistent theme from the inferviews was that Congress is stalfed by commltied, high calibre émployees.

Discussion

s Congiress prganisetional structure is aligned with and meeting the needs of Congress.
The current structure worked well to get Congress up and running. The expanded staffing structure will
enhance the capacily of Congrass.

o flecruitiment of staff has tiken longer than would be expecied.
The review indicates that staff recruitment has been incremental, and the rationale for the time taken to
recruit staff is sound. Congress Is committed to eémploying Aboriginal and Torves Strait Islander staff, and
initial recruliment strategies have fecused on this, Where an Aboriginal and Torres Strait 1slander person
has not been recruited, an aclditional recruitment process has been conducted.

Aboriginal and Tosves Strait |slander staffing is cuvrently at 50%, with the majority of future positions to be
formally identified as positions for Aboriginal of Torres Strailt lslander people,

o Regular reviews of the érganisational structure should be conducted to ensure the structure continues to
mé]et the needs of the organisation. :
it will be impariant to monlterthe effectiveness of the proposed structure 1o ensure efﬁcien! ias are
maintained, and milestones achieved. In particular Congress must take care that olitputs arejmatched
with staffing resources, and-that the staffing structure does not pose an inappropriate drain bn funding. It
wifl also be important for Congiess 1o assess staff satisfaction levels, in order to moniter achievements
with regards fo building a positive workplace culture that is collaborative, su pportive mid unjted.
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& Services and activities

2.1 introctucticn

This chapter Is divided Into faur sections to reflect the fodus of Congressin relation to outputs and activities:
Paliey, Coarporate Affalrs, Operatiohs and Finanicial Marnagement,

8.2 Policy

Overview

The core of th'e research and policy woik of Congress is the palicy team, which comprisés eight positions and
the Poli¢y Woifking Groups, The policy team is reasonably new: the Director of Policy started i June 2011, and
policy staff were employed from August-September 2011, The policy team is occasionally suppérted hs) the
Ethics Council Execttive Officer and the National Boaid Executivé Officer. The palicy teain also accesses
assistance from cansultanits atid édvisors to expaind thelr capadity.

The wotk of Cangress in research, policy and advocacy is guided by the Statement of Principles, available on
the wehsite and by Engugement and Empowerment — Congress Policy and Advocacy Guidelines,

The policy priorities for Congress have béen determined by the metmbers. In 2011 the member survey af 630
thembers identified five top priotitles for policy and advocacy: health; education; country; justice and
sovéreignty along with Constitutional recognition.

Aswell ag pursuing these priorities Congress needs o respond to new community fssuas and unforeseen
opportunities, Congress has developed a guideline which provides a transparent process for deciding which
niajor opportunities will be taken u;ﬁ, antitled The Guide ta Taking On New Policy and Advacacy Work (this is
included within the decument entitied Engagement and Empowerment —Congress Policy and Adyocdey
Guidelines).

Practices

regards to achjieving the key milestones as outlined in the wark plan, A draft Policy Platforea has been

The strategle ]’)Irection of Congress has bieen translated into a work plan for Policy. Congress is on track with
developed .'ztrj(_wili be released for input and discussian prior to the 2012 National Conpress meeting.

The Policy Wdrking Groups provide a mechanisin for accessing the expertise of memhers on key poficy issues,
aid there are Policy Working Groups for health, education, justice and country. Bach Working Group Is
canvened by a Director of Congress, is supparted by a merhber of the palicy team, and indudles Corgress
mambers anid Delegates, with specific recruitment of organisations and individuals with expertise in the
relovant policy area. Each Wotldng Group develops a work plan, which provides direction for the members, as
well as & process for monltoring progress. There are also docurmented terms of reference for the Policy
Waorking Groups, and the functioning of the Working Group is gulded by the £ngagement and Empowerment —
Cohgre_sé Polfey eind Advacacy Guidelines. Generally, the Working Groups meet by phone every four to eight
weeks, as well as correspond through email and wildspace {w’iké_siaéce fs an online space for Worldng Group
inarmbars to view documents, share infolnation and discuss and camment on policy positions} and occaslonal
face-to-face meatings, The model for the Policy Working Groups was developed ry Congress, based on &
review of the approaches used by several other reprasentative organisations to work with their members to

develop policy.
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Thie achievéments to rlate in research, policy and advocacy are summarised below. These are categorised in
terms of the priority areas for policy and advocacy (as Identified by members), and responses to new
community Issuses.

Achievements in Priority Policy Areas:

o Constitutional recognition - The Co-Chairs of Congress were ex-officlo members of the Prime Minister's
Expert Panel on Constitutional Recognition of Aboriginal and Torrés Stralt Islander peoples (2011) and
weye involved ina number of the consultations that were held across Australia. Congress provided a
statement o the Expert Panel to refiect the views of Congress members {September 2011). This

st;]ltemerzt was based on a number of consultation approaches:

- | Anissues paper was prepared to help infoim the Delegatd discussions at the Inaugural -i\%ational
Congress meeting
- Atthe Nattonal Congress, Delegates participated in a workshop on Constitutional reform
At the conclusion of the woricsiiop, Delegates conpleted a detalled survey to gauge thell views on
whaether Constitutional reform was important and what form It should take '

— Anonline survey of the Congress broader membership was conducted.
o Health— a number of achlevements have been identiied in the health area.

~  Cbngress has established a Health Working Group, consisting of state peak bodies and organisations,
indivicuat health experts, consumers and people working on the ground in Aboriginal communities in
health care and service delivery. The Working Group started in Miay 2012,

- Congress Co-cliairs the Natioial Health Leadership Forun {NHLF, started in August 2011) that has
brought together peak organisations from Chamber 1 in a national representativa hody for Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Iskander peak badies whose core business is the health of Aberiginal and Torres
Strait Islander people. Representatives from the NHLF cusrently sit en the Stakeholder Advisory Group
informing the development of the National Aborigingl and Torres Strait Jslander Health Equality Plan
{NATSIHEP).

~  Congress will play a key role in the consultation program over the coming months to inform the

development of the NATSIHEP. Congress will develop a toolkit that aims 1o empower members to

undertake thelr own consuliations in their communiiies, The NHLF will respond in unity as 3 leading
veice feptesenting an Aboriginal and Torres Strait position on health issues to government, Congress

I will actively participate In the Department of Health Public Consultations on the NATSIH tP Congress

will also undertake a general swivey of membeérs to complement the contributions coming from

within the health sector.

¢ Education —The Education Working Group started In early 2012 after extensive Jialson and discussion with
Aboriginal and Torres Strajt Istander leading educators. The Education Working Group has developed a
work plan, outlining thelr priorities, which Intludes developing anh overall policy on education for
Aboriginal and Tories Stralt Istander people, and dogumenting Information on svceessful educational
programs. As well, the fducation Werking Group provided advice and input for Congress! response 1o the
Recommendations of the Review of Funding for Schooling (The Gonski Review} in June 2012,

o Couilry — Congresssubimitted & Statement to the Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation
Commitiee on the Inguiry inte the Native Title Amendment (Reform) Bill 2041 {subimitted in October
2011). The Country Working Group started in early 2042, and has beenworking on a range of policy issues
inchuding Native Title reforms. As well, the Country Working Group pajticipated in the First Peoples’
National Water Summit in Adebalde in March 2012, and a Congress Water Policy which supports the
recommendations of the Summit is under devilopment. Congress will hast the etractive industiy
rmimdta'ble in August 2012 with the United Nations Speclal Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigénous
Peoples,

F Mational Congrass of Austyalia’s Elrst Peenles: Organisation m-_alua_tic,ln
Avpust 2002

28




]

Justice — The Justice Working Group started in November 2041, The Justica Working Group had 2 face-to-
face meeling In Darwin in March 2012 and as a resuit-developed a drafi Justice policy statement which is
curreﬁfly;under review by the Working Group.

Soverelgrly — As part of the commemoration for the 40% anpniversary of the Aboriginal Tent Embassy,
Congressheld its Frst Peoples Forum on 24-25 January 2012, The event was entitled Soverelgnty and Self-
Dete_ﬁh_in o The Political Contract,

Achievements i responding to current conmmunity and policy Issues:

[+}

NT Stronger Futures - Congress developed a position statement (September 2011}, provided a submission
{0 the partiamentary inguiry (Feliruary 2012), had an observer role at the compnunity Senate cornmittee
‘hearings throughout the NT, had regular communication with government, and detailed a propasat calling
for human rights scrutiny (fune 2012). .

Indigenous Language Learni'ng_ inquiry = Congress established a Languages Reference Group (October
2011}, provided a submission Lo the Parliamentary Inquiry into Language Learaing In Indigenous
Communitles {Deceniber 2011), Divadtor Curaow met with the House of Reprasentatives Standing
Committee on Abatigingl and Torres Straft Islandet Affairs, and the Committee requésted attditional
information and as a result a supplementary submission was provided (June 2012).

Congress developad and submitted to the Minister for the Arts a position paper.on a National Cultural
Policy {Pecember 2011}, based on direct discussion with members kiown'to he involved in arts-related
activitles, and research into submissions already prepared by Congrass membar organisations.

Matfonal Anti-Racisim Strategy — Congress was invited to Join the National Anti-Racis Partnership as one
of two ey nof-government representative bodies (along with the Federation of Ethnic Communities
Coumncils of Australia) to be Involved In the development of a Natiohal Ariti-Racism Strategy. Congress
developeII a positlon paper on the National Anti-Racism Partnership and Strategy {lune 2012},
Demanding accountability of government — Congress published 20 questions for the Senate Estimate
hearings }:n the 2012 budget by seeking advice fram paak hody arganisations. '
Developed position on Foatal Aleohol Spéctrum Disorder and provided to Parliamantary Ineuiry.
Governance and leadarship —Congress will develop a position statemerit regarding the Australian
Government’s plan to develop the governance and leadership framework by theend of 2012 (this i§ being
developed under the Gaverninent's inftlatives to close the gap in governance and leadership).

All Congress policy staterents are avallable on the website,

Discussion

o

Given the limited staff resources within Congress up until .S‘eptemberzdll, there has been substantial
progress in developivig a model, consulting with members ond praparing and submitting policy statements
an a wide range of issues., .

There s a great deal of dociment based evidence, which is confinmed by interviews, thal processes amdl
practices in developing policy are well structured, in place and are gathering momehtum, 1tis worth
noting that Congress Is continuing to develop the policy model, with cotisideration glvei to the cole of
Working Groups, Congress staff and the Board i determining policy positions.

The approgch for determining policy priorities and developing policy and devacaey is based on an effective
modle], a.tfd evidence Lo date suggests Congress is providing o natiohal representative voice, and not
replicating the activities of existing peak bodies.

Cohg‘ressFlas a clear agénda of policy pricrities, determined by a credibie member driven pracess. Thisis
impoitant, as Congress could lose focus given the wide range of Issuis it could bé addrassing. Buring the
course offour research varlous policy gaps were identified (joby creation and sconomic devetopment) but in
general there was significant agreement with the Congress’ policy priotitisation process.

Natlenal Congrass of Australia’s Fiest Paoples: Organisation evatuation ! :,)‘-]
August 2012 |




|

The review also suggests that itis Important for Congress to have a cleaf leng-term vision for Aborigival
and Torres Strait Islander peoples, which woeuld serve to guide Congress’ policy-and advocacy work, and
th&;; should to be considered within the current policy framework.

The Policy Working Group maodel appears 1o be an effective structure that allows for Input fipm existing
peak agencies, but does not replicate their activities, The approdch to date is very clearly fockised on
building on the expertise of existing peak organisations, and adding strength to their advocacy position
through the unlty of a number of key group's and individuals who may not normally come together In this
way. Impottantly, Congréss doas not only consult member organisations when accessing expertise in the
vaitous policy ardas, The achievements in the health policy area to date, Including the NHLF and the direct
engagement with the government in the development of the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Health Equality Plan, provide positive examples of how Congress has brought key groups together to
présent a sirang national voice, The review also indicates that the Justice, Education arid Coliniry Working
Groups are aciive in working to provide 3 national represéntative voice.

Managing workflows needs te consider reactive versus protctive policy direction,
It is Important that Congress responds to current communlty and policy issues and takes advintage of
unforeseen opportunities, as well as focus on the profity policy areas as identified by the membership In
the 2011 National Congress, The policy team has developed The Guide to Taking on New Policy and
Advotaey Work (this Is Inchided within the document entitled Engagement and Empowerment — Congress
Policy andt Atlvocety Guidelings), which provides a transparent process for identifying priorities. This
trahsparent process for identifying priorities is imiportant, as a key challenge for Congress is the need to
delivei on the key priority areas, while also being responsive to current pelley issues.

To dote there has been less dctivity on sovereignty.

I this area Congress held jts First Peoples Forum on 24-25 January 2012 {in comiemoration of the 40"
anniversary of the Ahorigingl Tent Embassy). However, In comparison o the other priority & !eas, the
Congress has been less active in this policy area, primarily due-to limited resourcas.

A key chaflenge for Congress Is developing communication channels with Worifing Groups thot effectively
overcome the challenges of geographic dispersion.

‘Congress needs to monitor and eveluate the effsctiveness of tommunication channels used by the
Waorking Groups, and there Is 4 fieed o consider creative ways io overcome the challenges of engaging
with geographically dispersed groups. It was noted in the interviews that wikispacé is riot utilised as
effectively as it could be, ahd while it Is too early ko changethe approach at this stage, it is important that
Congress review cominuiilcation channels on an ongoing basis. Given the need to reprasent Aboriginal
and Torres Stralt Islander people from rural and remote locations, it will be important that Congress keep
this in mind (inclughing thie resources feguired th engage with those from rural and remote locations) when
assassing effectivé communlcation channels,

‘There is an opportunily to broaden the reach of the consultations Congress conducts with members in
po!lic,v ait advocacy over time,

Copgress Is Interested In developing a wider range of options for engaging with members on policy Issues,
including, for example, conducting forums and royndtables. The Extractive Industries Roundtable (planned
forAugust 2012} is an example of this, asthe forum will engage with Tepresentatives from Chamber 4 and
2, and goverament and intistry, The toolkit and member survey developad as part of the Health Working
‘Group is another example of how Congress is developing new methods for engaging with mambers. A
Delegate suTvVay was conducted from February to Mareh 2032, and the results of this will also guide
approaches for engaging with Délegates in relation to policy and advocacy. It will be fmportant that
Congress continue to review and develop a broad range of cohsultation approaches.
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8.3 Corporate Affalrs

Ouerview

Corporate Affairs is responsible for everits and forums including National Congress; maileting and
commurtications {inciuding media); membership recruitment, manageraent and engagement; and
campaigning. As well, Corporate Affairs sipports the Co-Chalrs and the policy ohjectives of the Board, and
supparts other divisions in Congress, Including the prormotion of Conpress policy positions.

Currently there are seven staff employed in Corporate Affairs. The Director of Corporate Affalys has been
involved with Congress since the beginning, dnd the other statf members were recruited around fuly 2018,
with the Full camplement of staff fecruited by the end of 2041, Corporate Affairs will recruit an additional
three staff inembers in the 2012/2013 finahcial year. The hew positions will include an Events Manager,
Cotporate Media and Membership Manager.

Practices

The stratagic direction of Congress has been translated into a consolidated Operational Plan (for 2012/ iE.B), and
this plan dearly identifies responsiblfities for Corporate Affairs. Congress {s on track with regards to working
towards the key milestonés as outlined in the worlcplan. ' '

The highest piiority for Congress s communicating with members, and within this, prefarence is alwaysigiven
to utilising Aboriginal and Torres Strait isiander media and direct communication through newsltattets. |

Ire thelr role as the publiciiterface of Congress, Carporate Affairs activities are underpinned by the values
identified in the Constitution 1.6, professionalism and objectivity; integrity and hoviesty; accountability and
transparaiicy; participation and Inclusion; and being informed.

Furthermore, Corporate Affairs evaluate every key event that they manage, and the results of these
evaluations are reported to the Executive Managerment Group and Board, with a focus on identifying ‘what
wotked” and continuous improvernent.

Achievements to gate for Corporate Affairs include:

s Development of a strong corporate hrand
o Attendance at key Abariginal and Torres Strait Islander evénts

o Produding policy for membership induding implementing a practical process of application and
assesstent from sometimes complex criteria framed in the Constitution

e Driving arLd increasing membershl numbers (see section & far more Information), including the

e Developlng a range of communication toals stich as fact sheets, emall newsletters, wehsite, sodial macia
and medik releases; 1t should be noted that the emall newsletter has been produced since March 2011,

with 1-3 newslatters produced every manth {at the time of the review 19 newsletters had been praduced)

ins_té:[latjn of a new member database

¢ Congress has achleved a strong profile in Abatiginal and Torres Strait Islander meilia and mainstream
bredla, and is a key contact for media organisations in relation to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Isfander
comimnity issues

o Plahning and holding National Congress in 2011

o Use of wabcast and live interaction with members and wider community (two successful online events
have been conducted, with more planhed for the future) .

o Forinulating policy and procedures for first elections of Ca-Chairs and nominations of Delegates for
Mational Congress

& Major Congress events, such as the Youth Program, In partnership with FAHCSIA that created a hew
miembership tietwork and provided skills to 88 young peaple aged 18-25 from rural, remoteand Urban
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areas. The Sovereignty Forum in Canberra and Extractive Industry Reundtable in Melbourne assist with
promoting Congress” advocacy role In issues important to constituents

o Assist with the design and promeotion of 2011 online member survey

¢ Campalgns, including Strongef Futures and Cobistitutional Reform,

Discusston

o Engagement with members and the wider comniunity is an area where considerable resources need to be
directed.
The focus at.the moment in communicating with members is through newsletters (distributed via emaif)
andl through coverage in Aboriginaland Torres Strait Islander media. It is crucial that Congress-engages
effectively with thelr mambership base, and greater resources need to be direciad to developing and
implementing appropriate engagement strategies. While a lot of strategies have been tried ip relation to
engaging membership, it is important Congress continue to look for new ways to.engage witl {and

act‘ivate) meinbers,

o Maintdining o fote-to-face cominiinity presence-is o key challenge.
It is understood that a face-to-face approach Is the most effective strategy in generating mernbers,
although the original national tourthat the inaugurat Co-Chairs conducted was felt to have limited
attendance, Given this; Congress in more recent imes has foctised on participating In existing key
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander evants, This should continue be a key focus In the future, and
Congress should expand and formalise ways of maximising the benefit of its national network of members,
Delegates and partners. Oneé strategy to be considered s identifying state based volunteers to engage
with othet members and coordinate recruitmient activities. So far, ohe Queensland Delegate has agreed to
take on the role of State Coordinator, Gther Delegates jn each and every state should be identified and co-
optecl into similar roles. The recrafinent of thie Menibership Manager and the Partnerships Manager will

deliver a boest to this eritical function.

8.4 Operations
|

Overvigw

At the lime of the review, Operations included a Director, Office Manager, Receptionist and Admjnistration
Assistant, It should be noted that this is a very recent team, with obly Two team members as at iMay 20012,
Addillohal positions will be recruited for the 2012/2013 financial year, including a Finance Manager, Travel &
Adinin Support Officer, Admin Supporl — Executive Assistant and Funding Develapment Manager| Operations
Is responsible for HR, IT, Finance and Administration. Finance is discussed separétely in séction 8.5,

Practices

The Operations team has a work plan which reflects the strategic directions document for Congress, and are
on track for achieving these milestones, The maln focus of Operations is to support managemant, the Board
and other areas within Congress. The clear priorities at the moment are financial management and reporting
systams and HR, in refation to continuous development and streambining of processes. Anothei key priofity is
long-term financial sustainability, ineluding pursuing Deductible Gift Recipient {DGR) status.

The Operations team has drafted {as at May 2012} a Planning and Reparting Framework to assist in work behig
propesly planned, approved, budgsted and monitored, enabling progress to ba tracked and issues to be
resolved. The strategic plan forms the basis of this framework, with each individual planning tool cascading
from this strategic plan {including operational plan, annual budget, divisional plans, individual work plans,
quarterly financial reporting and an annual achisvements report).

Another focus of the Operations 1am at the moment is developing an Operations Manual brokei up into the
different'areas of respongibility [e.g. corporate affairs, corporate povernance, Fthics Council, financhal
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management, human iesources, National Board, operations, policy aid advocacy). Cansiderable developmerit
has afraady béen undertaken to develop this Operations Manual in order to provide a ‘ane stop shop’ wheré
all emplayees;can access policles, progedlures, and guidelines.

Human Resources: Congress has policies and procedurés in place with regards to HR, and the current HR
polities are a‘ipropﬁate. trportantly, several policies are cutrently belng reviewed and finalised. The facus for
HR i5 developing the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander Recruitment and Retention Policy, and funding has
heen provided from OEEWR to undertake this. The Operations team is also developing a Staff Developrjent
Appraisals Frarewotk and conducting a salary benchmarking review. [t should be noted that pursuing BGR
status s an important consideration in this review, as this offers conslderahle benefits for employees.

With regards to recrultment, Congress has a transparant process for réceuitmant, and thisis done through EOY,
advertisaments h refevant publications, and promaotion on the Coangress website, Congrass is committed to
recruiting Aboriginal and Torres Stralt (slander staff, and has worked with an Aborigingl HR Recrultment agency
to support this commitment. Once the Aboriginal and Torres Strait (slander Recruitment and Retention policy
is In place, it will formalise thls commitient, and [dentify clear targets and strategies,

There are training opportunities for staff, based on needs identified by managers or regiiests from Individual
staff members. Itis impaortant to note that the Staff Development Appr alsal Frarmeworl will iriclude a focus on
tralning and staff devélopment in a more formalised approach. There isa commitment to mentoring within
Congress, although limiited staff resources have meant that to date this has not been lmplemented across the
organisation.

Information Techiialogy: Thé current [T approach is appropriate.

Cohgress has hi external IT provider who is In theoffice once a week and offers 24 hour onlineaccess.,
Congress (s ddveloping an [T strategy with a 5-10 year outiook with regards to streamlining; standardising and

updating whep réquired, Including renewal processes. |
I

Admiinistration: The'Operations’ team has a comprehensive sulte of processes and procedures which zu'i_ elther
establistied of in devefopment e.g. information management, docurent management and reporting,
Congress also provides administration support o Board members who are not located In the Congrass office.

Discussion

o  There are clear processes and policles in place to yulde the proper opecation of Congress.
‘Congress follows a continuous improvement framewatle, and Congress is curently focusing on
stteamlining thelr policies anid processes, wiich will further enhance the efficient, profassional and
transparent operations of Congress,

s Training and induction of new staff hus worked well, but Congress will benefit from formalising their
approach to staff developinént.
While the review suggésts the current approach to staff training has been appropriate (hased on needs
jdentified by managers and individual staff requests} this wifl be formalised within the staff Develapmerit
Appraisals Frameworl. (¢ will be Important to implement thisin the short-tarm, especially given the
growth in staff numbers in 2012/13.

o Given Conigress is a very hew organisation, to date mentaring has not heea @ focus. As Congress grows aitd
matures, mentoring should be an important focus for Congress, dnd policies should be develaped to
formalise|and guide this commitmient,
Corgrass should develop clear policies and practices for mentoring, hoth within the staffing structure and
the Board. Management indicated a commitment within the staffing structure of Congress to mentor
young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istander people {for example as part of succession planaing and
through intetnships). it is warth noting that the 2009 - Qur future in our hands’ report identified
recomimendations from the Steering Committee that the members of the Board ‘agree ta formally fnentor
at least one young Aborlginal and Torres Strait [slander person {to be selected from the. membershlp of
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thg Congressy, and it will he imiportant that Congress consider this recommendation. }t was noted that
mantoring will be addressed in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Recruitment and Retention Policy.

i

8.5 Flnancial Management

Overview

Over the past two years Congrass has developed systéms and procedures to ensure accountability and
transparency In the management of its finances. In particutar:

¢ The first financial audit was conducted for the perlod January 2009 to June 2011 (this was an ungualified
audit}

» A Uelegation of Authoritigs Framewerk has beeni developed -~ including financial delegations

o A financial reporting system is in place which not only includes input based financial reporting bui also
activity based financial reporting .

»  The first organisational budget was developed for year ending 30 June 2013 and approved by the Board,
which included a consolldated budget, and individual budgets for Corporate Affairs, Ethics Council,
National Board, Operations, and Policy. :

8.5.4 ! Finenclal Audiy
Priictices

Congrebs appointed Deloitte to conduct its first financial audit (unqgualified audit). The audit did not identify
any material weaknesses in the interaal controls of the organisation,

Thie audit 2lse noted a number of issues forthe Board's attention highlighting areas which needeji
improvement, Congress responded to these issues by aletter to Deloiite from the CEQ in Novernler 2011,

‘Discussion

o Congress has appointed & reputablé firm to conduct its financial audit. Furthérmore, the audit was
conducted by a practice within Deloitte which specialises in not-for profit organisations,

o The following Issues for improvement were identified by the audit:

High tevel of importance

- Appointment of non-executive Director 1o the Board. This recommendation was not accepted by
Congress as it was considered important that the Board only be composed of elected members.
However, this issue was addressed through the decision of including an independent member to
the hewly established Finance Committee. Congress In now in the final stage of appointing a
suitably qualified person.

~  Eslablishment of a finance committes, mplemented. The Finance Commitiee’s role is defined by
its Charter: to assist the Natlonal Board In discharging its oversight responsilillities in financlal
reperiing, sk management, internal contrel, external auditor Independence and performance;
and compliance with laws and regulations. Since its inception the Commitiee has met four tities.

!~ Clarification ffom FaHCSIA that government funds cén be used o remunérate Direglors.
Implermnented.
= Development: of Credit Card receipt policy, implemented.
—  Establishment of a procedure for changes to the payroll master file. Implementad.

Medium level of importance
- Establishment of a procedure to review raonthly bank reconciliations. implemented,
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- Establishment of a procedure to review the fixed asset registér, mplemented.

- Establishment of a procedure to report system accruals. imnplemented,

—  Clarification from FaHCSIA of the policy far international travel. Congress sought clarification
fram FaHCSIA on the Interniational travel criteria {n the funding agreement, This has been
¢hanged in the new deed vatlation with FaHCSIA,

~ {mprovement of procedures for payroll check. Implermented.

- Ppolicy on salary review, Congress has committed to undertake a benchmarking exercise to

address thisissue,
‘~  tmprovernent of procedures for changes to journal entties. mplemented.

a  Congress has responded promptly to all issues identified by the alldit, The Auitor is of the view that-thls
deinonstrates a cosmmitnient to continuous organisational improvement —itis common practice for 1ssties
ideméfiedl by an audit to be addressed before the next audit but Cohgress has acted and reportéd orithe
recommendations immediately,

o {tis also the view of the Auditor that Congréss has an impressive system of financlal conlrols given the
organisation has only bgen In éxisténce for two years,

853  Delegation of Authoritles

Pructices

Congress operates under a Delegation of Authorities Framework last reviewed in Decambar 2011,

Disctission

s Clear financial delegations are an important elément of good organisational management and
accountability. The Congress’ Delegation of Authorities Framework provides clear accountability on who is

responsible for dedslons alfecting finances,
¢ The areas cavared by the Framework are appropriate for the Congress’ context,

o Furthermore the Operations Director has taken responsibility for educating staff on the contents of the
framework — not just the officers with delegations under the Framework. This is good practice.

8.53 Finaqcial Raporting

Pracifees

The Finance Cmeittee and Management receive the financial reports monthly. As part of the Baatd pack,
Board membs%rs receive finandial regorts each meeting, t

Significantly, the reports not only include expenditure disaggregation by inputs {e.g. wages and rent) but alsd
disaggregation by activity (e.g. policy activities, events, expenditire on each Board menher). ]

Congress provides financlal repart to FaHCSIA at its monthly meetings and written financial statements
quarteriy.

Since Its [nceptlon, Congress lias underspent the FaHCSIA grant by around $4 million. The reasons for this
under-expenditure have included:

e Adelayih the inception of the orgariisation by G mionths

o The lead-up time to emplaying staff,

We have confirmed with the Auditor and the Operations Director that, consistent with tha requirements of the

FalHCSIA grant, Congress has nat:

o Made any loans of gifts
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Used the grant to relieve cash flow prablems in other areas of activity
Used the grant to make staff payouts
Pakd commissions, suceess Tees 65 banyses

Raised debt.

Blscussion

<

The Congress' system of financial reporting is robust and transparent, n particular, financial reports
disaggregated by activity. provide great clarity on hoiv the organisation Is spending its funids, Thesé reports
are also a useful resource for each area of work to monitor éxpenditure and plan for the future, The
regorts could be made even more usefid if expenditure currently classified under Operations {in particular
Peqsonnei Costs) was classified under eagh area of activity, Congrass plansto implement this measure in

© the 2012/13 budgat by reporting Salaries, Travel ahd Accarmmodation aid Statf Tralning in il?is manner.

funding H recelves from FalICSIA. This appears a wise approach given the organisation is only two years

Congress holds the view that it Is more Important to spend its grant cautiously than to spend all the
old and the importance of recruiting and retaining suitably gualified staff for the Congress’ ftiture.

The financial oparations of Congress are consistént with the funding agreement with FaHCSIA, Budget
vaiiations have been reported as part of the quarterly written report to FaHCSIA (for example following

the establishment of the Ethics Councll).
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% Partnerships

Overview

Congress is interested In partnerships for a range of reasons, Broadly, partrierships are important to hel
Congress achieve thei purpose, eithance thelr level of influence, and their ability to'be Informed, and t
advocate and negotiate, Partnerships offer benefits to both Congress and its partners, by strengthening:
capabllities to advocate for Aboriginal and Torres Strait [slander peoples,

Daveloping strong relationships is an lmportant component of the worl¢ that Congrass does. There are four
main sectars that Congress has focused on to date, including Government, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Istanider
organisations, non-Government organlsations, and the.corporate sector, Thepractices in each of these sectors

are detailed helow,

Practices

Q

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander prganisations.
$trong partnerships have developed as a result of the policy wark that Congresshas conducted, For
exardple, the establishment of the National Health Leadership Forum (NHLF) which brings together 14 key
health-focused member organisatidiis. Strong partnierships have also developed thraugh the Justice
working Group, and through the work on campaigns such as the Stronger Futures in the NT Bill, Congress
h_asjoineif as 4 partnerto form a consortium with universities and five Aboriginal organisations in an
Australian Research Councit grant subenission to provide mentoring support to emerging Abotlgnal
researchars. Congress has a partnership with the Australian [nstitute of Abarigtnal and Torres Stralt,
Islander Studies (AIATSIS). Cangress has also developed relationships with Indigenous organlsatiom! within
the international context, Including the ndigenous Pedples Orgawisation (PO} and with the Australian
Hesrpan Rights Coramission,

Government seclor %

The profite and influence of Congress has grown considerably in the past 12 months, and Congress has
approached all sides of politics in a bipattisan approagh. Congress’ Co-Chairs and other Board members,
CED and staff have diet with the Prime Minister, the Minister for Abariginal Affaics Jenny Macklin, the
Minister for Indigendus Health Warren Snowdon, and Attorney-General Nicola Roxon. As well, Congress
has tield two briefings ak Parliament House that were well attended by Members of Parliament, had '
discussions with Parliamentary Committegs examining issues affacting First Peoples {e.g, Stronger Futures
in the NT Bill and the languages Inquiry), and met with the Secretary of the Departrment of Primé Minister
and Cabinel, and heads of major agendles such as Health and Education. The Prime Minister has agreed to
hold an annual meeting with Congress,

Cotigrass has also met with the Opposition Leader Tony Abhott aid Oppositien spokesparson for
Aboariginal Affairs Nigel Scullion, and representatives from the Australian Graéns and Independents,

f(fongre's;siis also approached by governmerit agencles for Input and advice, For example, Congress is a key
partner i the develapment of the new national health plan, and has been asked for input on water policy,
tradltionz[l knowledge, criminal justice and education. Congress has accepted invitations to participate on
expert advisory pariels for the Australiar Bureau of Statistics (ABS} tn order to provide an Aboriging
peispective to their work and improve data collection and reporting. This relationship also offers Congress
benafits in Increasing awareness of data avallable to support membership and pelicy infttatives. Congress
is on ihe expert panel for the Productivity Commission ~ Overcorning lndigenous Disadvantage Warking
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Group, lovking at the integrity with which data is interpreted and reported on for Closing the Gap. In
addition, Congress has developed a partnership with the Australlan Institute of Health and Welfare,

Cohgress has developed an engagement framework to guide the relationship with government ageneies,
and this is in the final stages of approval with sign-off expected soon. Congress Is also close t.l) finalising a
government relatlons plan that includes political engagement,

Non-Government argonisations.

Congress has developed relationships with a number of NGOs, including {but not limlted to): the
Australian Council of Social Services {ACOSS); the Australian Indigenous Minority Suppiier Council;
Reconciltation Australia; Oxfaiy the Australlan Council of Trade Untons (ACTU); Australians for Native Title
and Reconciliation (ANTaR); Amnesty International; aind the Australian Education Union (through the
Edugation Working Qroup}.

Corporate sector.

Congress has sponsorship frem Qantas, and will continue to explore opiions for sponsorship of events and
partnerships with Corporates to make the best use of limited budgets. This includes arrangements with
suppliats such as hotels gheen thé national activily of the organisation and expanditure to date.

Discussion

&

Congress has positive partherships with Aboriginal erganisations and peak bodies.

Copsistently Congress was viewed as having begh very successful in developing partnerships with key
Abf)rigina! and Terres Strait slaneter organisations, and this s Jikely to be further enhanced as Congréss
sztures and the Policy Working Groups gain moimenturn. '

Co ngress has given considerable focus to developing partnerships with government. l

The bipartisan approach that Congress has taken to developing partnerships with government s highly
vajued. The focus on developing relationships with upper levels of government is also viewed as critical to
the sticcess of government partnerships. As a result of these (among other) strategies, the profite and
influenee of Congress has grown considerably in the past 12 months. While several positive piar'tnerships
have been formalised {e.g. ABS and Productivity Commission — Overcoming Indigenous Disadvantage
Working Group), the review finds that Corgress has billt 4 very sotnd basis on which to further éivhante
strong and effectlve parinerships with government, and that the outcomes from these partnershlips are
yet 1o be fully reallsed,

Developing partnerships with the corporate sector is in its infaricy.

Given the young age of Congress, focus on developing partnerships with the corporate sector has been
limited. However, there is considerable Intarest from Board Directors and management to develop and
implement strategies to formalise partnerships with the corporate sector in the short to medium term.
This also includes developing partnerships with Indigenous businesses and entrepreneurs.

Congress is looking ut developing strategic partnerships with organisations who cannot be members of

Congress, and this will recelve greater focus in the future,

Fot example, Congress Is considering developing a ‘friends of Congress’ network for those organisaticis
that support Congress but are unable to become members, or who could becorme non-voting members.
This miay be an additinrial source of ihcome. ‘ ‘
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14 Financial sustainability

Overview

Congress was established entirely through Australian Government recurrent fuhding. The engaing financial
sustatnability of Congress is a matter of priority for the organisation.

The importance of this issue is two-fold, On the one hand financial independence fram government provides
certainty that the organisation will exist In the future, On the other hand, finandlal independence means that,
in developing paliey positions and conducting its activities, Congress can operates at arm’s:length from
government.

These are issues orlginally identifled by the ‘Our future in our hands’ repart. The report’s recommendatjons to

the Aus’ﬁl‘aliaq Governmeant inclided;

s Reconimendation 3: That the Australiai Government cormmit to provide recurrent funding for the pational
representative body's operations over the initial five years of operations from fanuary 20171, with ap
estimate of $50 million Identifled in the report. [t 1s anticipated that there would be a nsed for a further
five years of funding by government, but at a reduced rate as the otgadsation begins to access consistent
streams of independent funding,

o Recommendation4: That the Australian Government coramit to a substantial contribution over ten years
(nto the Establisiiment Investment Fund for the National Representative Body to ensure its sustalnability
and finandial viability into the future. This fund will require a total of $200 million from all sodrces over the

ten years to ensure a sufficient recurrent expenditure base for the ofganisation aftar ten years.

Practices

Long term financlal sustainahitity Is a high prlorlty for Congress. A number of steps have afready been taken in
this area including:

o The Board commissioned a report from Delottie on fiure aptians for finahcial sustainability, The report,
aiising from a workshep hield with Congress, provided recommendations ai ~ound three areas: ¢lear
deﬂmliol} of the missian/core purpose, securing current and future funding and operational efficiancy

s Congressihas ofttained sponsarship of $60,000 p.a. from QANTAS thiough discounted alr travel costs

e Bosrd mebers have earned sitting fees through participation in consultative bodies i

o Resérve t'L'nds:hav'e heel invested in a high-yield investment account,

In addition, Congress is actively pursuing Deductible Gift Reciplent {DGR) status, which it currently doesinot
have, as this Is critical ta the organisation’s ability to attract non-government funding.

Congressis also developing a risk mitigation plan to determine how Congress could continue to operate shoutd
thé existing funding arrangérment not continue.

x

Disctissiaon

Piscussion of financial systainability has to ocour i the context of two key factors. Firstly, it would be
unreasonable to think that Congress can become financlally Indapendent from government over a short period
of tima. This is why the ‘Our future in our hands’ report recommended at {@ast 10 years of goverhment
recurrent funding. Secondly, the nature of Congress as an organisatioi - with-a chatter to advocate and
represerit jts cohstitueney - creates signtficant difffeulties i {rplementing some oplions for financial
Independence, For axample, the provision of fee-far-service arrangements inight compromise the

organisation’s chacter and a situation could easily arlsé where (,ongrem trades its dependence on governmaerit
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for a dependence on ‘clignts’. This Is why the ‘Our future I our hands’ report recommended the astablishiment
of an vestment fund theough contributions from government over the next decade.

It Is also important to recognise that the uncertainty in relation to the future funding of Congress Is a key
concern for many, including Board members, staff, the Ethics Councll and Congress imembers. iis important
that Congrass acknowledge this concern, arid inform this interested audience that this is a priorlty for
Congress, and that adequate focus is being given to resolving this financial uncertainty.

The following is a surmary of potential sources of funding, the opportiinities being purstied by Congress, and

bl

‘the limitations.

Phitanthropy

Copgress Is pursuing DGR stalus, The success of Congress in achieving this goal is paramouni if the
organlsation is to access significant philanthropic donations - as well as to be able to offer employee
benefits which will help Congress attract and relain staff, The organisation is also undertaking significant
promotion activities not only within its constituency but also in the wider community.

However, it has to be noted that competition for the philanihrople dollar.is fierce and that Congress
stands at a disadvantage because: T

1. The organisation Is young and has limited exposure thyoughout the community

2. Phitanthropic donations will tend to favour srganlsations Which provide direct serviess which are
better understood in the community than providing representation and advecacy.

Fee-for-service arrangements

Gongress has pursued opportunities in this area through sitting feas following invitations to Beard
members to participate in consuliative bodies.

However, if the organisation wants to obtain significant funding from this area through an expansion of
the services it provides, it is essentlal that it puts info place a meachanism to filter opportunities ~ for
exammple through a formal process of assessment of opportunities by the Ethics Councll ~ to avoid
compromising s charter, 1twould be important to ensure that Congress’ effesiiveness as an independent
hody is not limited due to a necessity to generate funds through fee for service arrangéments,

AL the sanie time, if the organisation wants to pursue this apgroach it needs to develop a husiness plan
detalling the services it wants-to provide, the resources Congress is prepared to cormit and the strategy
to make sure thal services are provided at a profit.

Sponsorsiip

Congréss has had success in this area throtigh a sponsorshiy deal-with QANTAS and Is planning to pursue
further sponsorship in particular for Congrass avents, |

WhiISE this source of funding can be effective in lowering the cost hase.of the organisatior, it is not
realistic that a significant part of Congress’ work be funded through sponsorship - although this could also
raise the same [ssbes as fee-for-services arrangements depending on the nature of the sponsor.

Government

Congress has undertaken sighificant activities to promote the orgahisation among the Australian
Government, the Opposition and other Members of Parliaments. This is an Importanit area of work as
continuing funding from government is the best prospective option for Congress financial sustainability
both I the short and medium term.

Achieving support for the existence of Congress across all political parties (and in particular from the
current Opposition} Is a key deliverable in this area, The ideal putcome would bée for Congliess to achieve
bipartisanship on the implementation of Recommentlation 4 from the ‘Our future in our hands’ report.
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o Mem bers‘hlp fees

Whilst thére are acknowledgead difficulties in ralsing funds thrgugh membership fees due to the low
income levels of rhany Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, there was & suggestion that fees could
he dea‘iveﬁ from Incorporated organisations. There Is also.a proposal to astablish a Friends of Congress
category to allow individuals and arganisations to support Congress financially.

I summaty, whilst Congress Is working hard at exarviining options for fiancial sustainability outside of
government funding, it isnot realistic that this will accurin the short or mediumterm, This emanates from the
nature of the organisation as a representative and advacacy body. Itis common practice that arganisations of
this nature be funded by.government, The establishment of a fund by governtient wolld ensure bath the
ongolng existence of Congrass and tha ahility to operate at atm’s-length from government.
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%4 | Evaluation conclusions and future considerations

i1 Inteeduciion

This section of the report outlines the evaluation conchusions In response t6 the evaluation tarms of reference,

which state'that the evaluation must ‘examing the #ppropriateness, effectiveness and efficiency of the

Congress’ and must include:

s Anassessment of the effectiveness of the governance, accountakility and probity standaids of the
Congress

®  Anassessment of the Congress’ operations, achievements {including its ability to provide a representative
volce) and future viability

e Anassessment of the fong-term financial sustainabllity of the Congfess taking into account funding from
the corperate and philanthropic sectors

o Recommendations foi the organisation’s future.

112 | Governanee

Key finding

Congress has effectively implemented the governance model and arrangements recommanded illv the Steering

Committeé Report.

Discussion f

As has been discussed in this report, the mode! has effectively respondet to most of the complex issues and

priorities it needed 1o address ncluding:

o Establish a pational representative body which focused on the big strategle national issues

o Strengthen Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples oiganisations, draw on the knowledge and
experlences of expeits ahd peak bodias and reflect Jocal and regional knowledge in fis thinkiing

o Provide the perspective of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander pecples and play 2 leading role in
developing new partnerships betwesn govermmenl and Aboriginal and Torres Stralt Islander peoples

°  Ensuring gender equality, integrity and merit

o Bean autonomous and indepandent body,

The key exception to the objectives set out In the Steering Committee Report is the establishiment of a funding

arrangement that is not tied to government to ensure the organisation is sustainable. This is discussed laterin

this chapter,

In terms of the implementation and administration of the governance arrangements, this evaluation has found

that in general the leadership, management and work practices and processes one would expect to see In such

an organisation are either present or In development. At the same time the organisation is young and many of

its systems and processas need 1o be reviewed aid modified as the organisation grows and learns, and in this

regard Congress has an established a continuous improvement process.

Future Issues

It is recomnmended that some key issuas need to be addressed in order io strengthen Congress governance
arrangements including:
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Implemienting the role of Chambeis

To date the Chambers have functioned primarlly as a means of ensuring equal representation for peak
bodies-and national greanisations, other organisations, and individual membérs In the election of the
Board and for the selection of Delegates, Some Chiambers have begun Implertenting Chamber
engagement strategles and this shauld be further develaped by exploring opportunities to expand the
involvementt of Delegates and members in Congress, commensurate with the roles described for the
metnbers and Delegates af each Chamber in the Constitution.

Expanding the role of the Ethics Council,

(t s noted that the Ethics Councll has to date spant a great deal of its engrgy oh advica around nomination
ane electoral procadures and coiplaints handling, i Hias begun t6 give feadback an policy issues. At the
sama time there Is scope for the Ethics Council to both review and reflect on its warle to date and explore
oppartunities to expand its program, It is recommended that the Board and the Ethics Council meet to
explore anportunities and consider whether or not to espand the role of the Ethics Council, Furthefmore,
and following this process 1t would he rppropriate to develap guidelines on what issues should be referred
to the Ethics Councit and at what point this should be done. '

Clarifying, improving and communicating key elements of the govérnance arrangements.

Now that the organisation is up and rutining and the governance drvangements héve been impleménted,
anathet layer of complexity is emerging. This relates to the following issues:

- Developing accountability frameworks for individual Oirectors, This evaluation report has noted
that therg is some debate around the ¢concept of a Chamber Divector belhg a nen-executlve
Director but at the same time receiving a maxtinum of a three day per week equivalent payment
to execute Congress activitles. Some Interpret this as a part-time Job; others interpret thisas a
mare genaric payment; whilst others see'this as an inadeguaté paymefit for what is efféctively a
full-time commitinent, Whilst Board members have generic position descriptions and reporting
protocols in place, there s still some ambiguity on exactly what their rales are and what they are
being remunerated for and on what basis, Consideration should be glven to establishing
individual accountahility frameworks for each Divector, Howevar this shoufd be pursued in a spirit
that maximises Congress’ ability ta {i) attract and retain talent at Board Jevel; (il) ensure there s
flexibility to accommodate varylng tline commitrnents that different Board members are ableto
Lontribute; and (i) can be cleatly articulated and justified to members.

-~ Congress is incorporated as a company, limited by guarantee that has NFP status, {tis Important

' o note that this legal entity was selécted because unlike statutory bodies, the company modef
enabled the organisation to establish itself independently. The unintended consequence of this
detislan Is that some stakeholders compare Congress Baard roles aiwd réfmuncration to their
experience of traditional NFP Boards, arguing they should be voluritears, The Congress T
commualcation stiategy should eisure that Congress is cdearly difterentiated from more
traditional service dellvery or research NEPs. [n this context it may be worth considering
resaming.elected office bearers to give them titles that more clearly reflect their dual rales {ie,
not-executive Directats who attend Board heetings, set policy and éxecute thelr fiduciary
responisibilities and representatives who receive payments equivalent to a three day per weak
job and are expected to play an active role In executing the work of Carigress}, [t must be noted
that the possibiility of renaming the élected dffice bearers would need to be carefully considered
and take cognlsance of any reguirements set outin the Corporations Act. '

~  Poard reviews. Eatlier the review notes that now that the organisation Is up and rutining and the
governance atyangéments have been Ihplemented, another layer of complexity is emerging. In
this light the Board should undertake regular performance reviows (say every 1to 2 years) to
reflect an lessons learnt and identify opportunities to improve the operations of the Board:
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s Preparing to deal with situations where the Board disogrees with advice,

As Congress develops it is possible that the Bodrl, its advisory bodies anhd/or staff may not be in
agreement. For-example: the Board could disagree with advice from Natlonal Congress; Working Groups
ahd/or the Ethics Council about a particular policy or action arising from a complalnt. Directors aré the
ingdividuats with he statutory responsibility for the company and must uphold thelr responsibilities under
tha Corporations Act and other legislation. They are the legal decision makers, Congress should ensure
that there Is a clear understanding of the role of the Board and the limits In relation to the atvisory
bodies, and clear processesfor how critical differences should be addressed.

103 | Acoountability

Key finding ) |
The evaluation has found that accountaliility Is a key focus for Congress, Cbhgress has taken grea& care to
establish mechanisins and processes that ensure a high level of accountability in practice. l’urthexlmore,

Congress is establishing itself as a beacon for good practice in this regard,

Discussion

Accountable practice involves a number of dimensions.

o Congress ensures it is accountable to s embarship: Members and their Delegates are actively involved
in priority setting and policy development. Congress programs and activities are shaped by thisinput and
Congress has transparent planning and réporting mechanisms in place to ensure they are able to hold
Congress accountable, Congress Is proactive in this regard and has instituted regular reports back and
surveys to seek Teedback as well as adopting a ‘member access to information” policy.

s Congress has mechanisms in place which enable it to hold both the Board and the siaff accountable,
Congress demonstrates a broad suite of policies, standards, guidelines and reporting processes in this
regard. Board and staff member reports outline thejr activities in relation to what they are reguiret to
achieve, Section 11.2 on Governance discusses the nead for greater clarity about what Is ékpected of each
individual Director; the accountabllity framework For Individual Directors would be improved if these
expectations were stated more clearly.

o Copgress demonstrates a sound track record of accountability to fis funders. The outcomes and
reduirements set out in the Funding Agreément are complied with meticylously. Congress liaises with its
government funders In an efficient and constructive reanner and any vaifations to furiding arrangements
are escafated and addressed with good hotice and in a constructive manner,

e The Ethies Council is a significant factor in establishing Congress as 2 beacon for agcouptable praciice.
Congress has a strong body of respected and independent community leaders who advise the Board In
respéct of ethical practice, integrity and transparency.

Future Issies

it is recommended that sorme key issues need to be addressed in order 1o contiaue to sirengthen Congress
accountability. '

o Commiinicare the value of strong processes to ensure accountable practice.
Evaluation resedrch found both pride for and strong comimitment to Congtess transparency and
accountabillly practices which were genherally seen to be in keeping with Congress purpose, However
there was soma frustration with what a few respondents described as unnecessary red tape. To avoid
sorne of this frustration, the importance of the strong accountability practices should bé discussed on an
onguing basls.
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o Gredter clority on individual Director’s roles and obligations will strengthen accounibability frameworks,
As discussed in 11.2 Governance, greater clarity on individual Directot’s roles and ghligations will halp
Cohgress|streiigthen atcauntability and reporting frameworks far Individual Directors. |

114 Probity standards

Key finding

Whilst this ofganisation evaluation cannat be defined as a ‘probity audit’, our assessment of the pracesses and
internal evidance shows that high probity standards are present in the organisation. Congress demonstrates
Isoth the presence as well a5 the disciplined implementation of processes aid practices to ensure probity.

Discussion

o Given that Congress is 2 young organisation there isa strong sulfe of practicesin place or i development
to foster probity, These include;
- An Operations Manual in development with a wide range of polices in place
~  Salaries {including payments to Directors) were initially determined by benchmarking with the
public sector salary scales. Congress has now coiminissiohed a comprehensive benchinarking
axercise to ehsure all salaries to stafl and the Board are benchmarked fn a thorough manher
—  Procurement of important tehders Is administerad independently
- Independént Company Secretary
?aund delegations and processes to manage staff and Board memnber expenses and
feitnbursements. _ |
o The Ethics Couricil provides scrutiny and advice about important policies (e.g, sponsorship policy) and
processeé including standards far eléctions of office bearers.

Futtere Issuies
it is recommended that some key issues need to be addressed in order to contlnue to strengthen Congress
probity standards,

e [Ensure key policies are reférred 1o the Ethics Councll.

The Ethics Council can help protect and enhance Congress’ probity. Congress should strive to maxitiise Iis
use of the Ethics Coundil to scrutinise and provide advice on refevant policies In this regard.

o Communicate the vahie and importance of strong practice to foster probity.
As a representative body Congress seeks to raise the har on its practice.in this regard. Simitar toissifes
ratsed in respect of accountability {see 11.3) a few respondents fear thers [s a tension between strong
sound pragtices to ehsure probity and avolding too much red tape. This tension shauld he addrassed
through ohgolng communication ahout Cangress’ strong practices to ensure probity,

s A formal probity audit.
A formal probity audit-will be an important exercise for Congress to undeitake in due course. The purpose
of this aulfit woulif be to ‘pressure test’ ahd confirm the findings from this evaluation as well as Identify
gaps and best practice probity improverments. .

115 Operatiobs

ey finding

The operations elearly reflect the purpdse and objectives of Congresss, and the values that Congress must
operate under as identified In the Constitution {professionalism and objectivity; integrity and honesty,

accountahility and transparency; participation and inclusion; and being informed). Congress follows a
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continuous improvement framework, and a comprehensive range of policies and practices have haen both
e eloped and implemented to ensure the effective operation of Congre'SS’.-F_Q'r such ayoung orgaisation
(wIth fimited staff untit the end of 2011 the lavel of sophistication of the operations is a considerable
ievement. i

ae
stcussjon

o Inassessing the operations of Congress, it is important to constder the core activities of Congress
{inclucling research, poilcy and advocacy and corporate affairs), and the support activities of tongress
{such as aperations, and the support provided to the Board and Ethigs Counclll, The current sltaffing
structure and processes are appropiiate for delivering these core and support activities, and the abifity of
Congress will be further enhanced as a result of the growth in staff numbers and the current development
and streamlining of polities and proceduies,

o Given the limited time that Congress has been operational, there are some policies and procadures that
are still In development, including: the Planning and Reporting Framework; staff develapment appraisals
framvawiork; salary benchmarking; Aboriginal Recruitment and Retention Policy; Operations Manual, These
policies and procedures will be finalised in due tourse aind will further enharnice the effectiveness of the

operations of Congress.
Future Issues

o Achallenge for Congiess to date has been balancing the need to Implement policiés and systeiis that
ensure Congress operates within the values as set out in the Constitution, and the need 1o defiver in

re ?ticn to Congress’ purpose. While there have been extensions to timetables to meet some goals

idfintiﬁed in the strategle directions, as reviewers we afe corifident that these declslons by mandgement
were transparent and well considered. However, it will be imporiant that leadeyship and management.
appropriately balance this conflict in the Tuture, so that good governance and sound adminisiration
practices are followad while simultaneously delivering the outpuis expected by members and funders.

o As Congress grows; it will be Important that regular reviews of the organisation’s structure and processes
are conducted to ensure the sbructure continues to meet the needs of Conaress. !

e Mentoring will be an important focus for Congress as it grows and matures, both in relation to staff and
the Board.- While this will be considered in the Aboriginal Recruitinent and Retentton Policy, i Is important
that Congress ensures this s a focus of its.operations.

116 Adchigvdéments and reprosentativeness

Key finding

Congress has been operating for just over two years. The mandate of the Inaugural Board during the set-up

year was to establish the organisation by putting elected leadership, staffing and credible advisory struciures

and processes in place without commiencing its program of activities, At the tine of this evaluation, the first

elected Board has been in place for one year i.e, since July 2011, s role has been to completa set-up activities

and coftinue to identify, design and implemant a Congress program of activities, The review finds that both

Boards have realised thelr objectives as set out in their respactive niandates. In patticular, Congress’ key

‘achievqments during the first two vears are as follows:

¢ Thé organisation has been established, is builton a strong foundation, is fully operational and its programs
ard in-place and developing rapidly

o There is growing recogiiition of Congress amongst the Aboriginal and Torres Strsit Islander ¢ mmunity and
policy imakers and leaders across the country |
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Congress has suctessfully established ftself as a represeritative hody, This has been achievad through
ensuring that participation in Cangress and the development of Its program of priotities has been
achieved through a legitimate and consultative process with mambers which has:

- Drawn in a broad section of Abariginal and Torres Strait Isiander commanity organisations, peak

bodies and experts
- Been based on merit, gender equity and wall formulated and rigorous processes (incuding the

scrutiny of these processes).

Discussion

0

The govealnance mode] and arrangements are in place. They arg built on a fouridation of a strong process-
hased organisation which draws In and Is supported by a broad range of perspectives from Aborlginal and
Torres Stﬁaft Islander communities, particularly community organisations, peak bodies and experts.
Building gn the achlevements to date, some Congress feaders suggest there (s a need to openup
conversation on how best to use and/or modify the Chambar structure to stréngthen the diversity avid
inclusiveness of Cangress.

The arganisational strecture is neatly aligned with the activitles Congrassis required to carry out, apd this
wik be enhanced with the expanded staffing structure. Over tme though, it will be Important to monitor
the affectiveness of the organisational stricture to ensure efficiendies are malntained, and millastanes
achleved. (¢ wilf atso bie important for Congress to assess staff satisfaction levels, in order to monitor
achievements In relation to building a positive wotkplace culture that ts collaboratlve, suppartive and
united.

There was some discussion that the abllity of Conggress to be representative is primarily dependenton
having a large number of members, especially Chamber 3 members. While this review indicates thereis a
need for continued focus on bullding the mémbership base, we believe this alone does‘iiot determire the
effectiveness of Cangress In providing 4 represeritative voice for Aboriginal and Torres Strait islandar
people. Other factors of equal significance include the effectiveness of Congress.in; developing strong
relationships with a broad range of Aboriginal and Torres Straft Islander peak bodles and community
organisatiohs; and engaging with imembers and key experts to develdp and implemant policy and
advocacy. The review has found that considerable inroads have been made {n this regard, and that
Congressishould continue to focus on enhanding their aperations jir this aréa. Thereview atso hi ighlights
the impartance of developing strategies far buitding membership nutabers, In par ticular, Congress should
expand a[x'd formaltse ways of maxitnising the benefit of its national network of members, Delegates and
partnars.] One strategy baing considered is identifying state based volunteers to engage with ather
members and coordinate recruitiment activities,

As a recognised advocacy and representative Hody Congress has changed the Australian policy
development landscape. It has a bipartisan approach, has regular meetings with a range _Qf-g'overn_i?ent
ministries, shadow ministers and political parties, and has met with hoth the Prime Mipistar.and the
Leader of the Qpposition,

A kéy challenge for Congrass to address now is how to respond to the pressure to deliver, Thisis a
challenging Issue as two key factors need to be considered. Firstly, Congrass has established crediifle and
representative policy developmenit processes, and thaese rigorous and incluslve approaches to policy
development are impoitant to malntaln, and require titme to smplement Secondly, while the evidenceto
date Indicates that achievements {n relation to developing policy statements and relevant activities have
been significany, achieving éhanges in relation to policy gulcarmesis a forig-term goal, with riany factars
outside the control of Congress.
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Futyre fssues

itIs recommended that some key Issuies heed to be addressed to stréngtheh achievements and
représentativengss of Congress including:

o Effectively translating strong policy capacity into policy wins, The current processes with regard to policy
and advoeacy are 3 significant short-term aéhievement, and form a strong and necéssary foundatfon for
developing crédible policy. These can be seen as the inltial steps towards the long-term goal of positively
Influencing Australia government policy; as Congress matures, expectations of these ‘wins’ will be greater.
it is also critical that thase 'wins’ are communicated to members and the-wider community, so that the
story of these achievements is told {for example, through the document entitled Congress achigvements
2011-2012),

e I0is also Importent to appreciate that a key goal of Congress Is Lo support change within Abotlginal ahd
Totres Strait Istander cammunitias, to huild unity, empowerment and capacity. This is.a key principle
unberpinning the current operations of Congress, and it is Important that this continues to drive the
po!icies and practices of Congress. It Is also critical that Congress has a clear Jong-tefm vision/for Aboriginal
angl Torres Steait Islander peoples, which will serve to guide Congrass’ policy and advocacy work,

o There Is an expectation of some for Congress to he organised at local and regional Ieve'ls__, of based on
State dnd Territory vepresentation. It will be important that Congress continually focus on halancing the
tenslon between being a national representative volce and belng seen to be relevant for all Aberiginal and
Torres Strait Islander ihdividuals.

o Thereis a heed to review the composition of the Chambers. There are a number ef concerns that the
composition of Chambers should be revised to enhance the represeniativeness of Congress. Some of the
gaps raised Include Chambers that focus on constituencies including: First Nations peoplés, the business
sector, and youth. It is stressed that the erganisation is very young and i would be unwise o move to a
restructure of the Chambers at this early stage, but respondents indicated theréIs a need 16 commence
this diseussion, including the capacily of Congress to resource such an expansioh,

107 Viability and financial sustainability

Key finding

terrmn. Wy tha long-tesim, financial sustainabliity may he suppoarted by philanthropy, fee-for-service

arranggrients andsponsorship, but government funding will still be a significant source of funding.

D:’scuss;fan

o Steps have been taken to explore financial sustalnability in the long-term, although these haye been
limitad to some extent given the short time that Congress has been operational, As wel],'theireview'
identifies a number of challenges In securlng long-term funding butside government, Including not having
DGR status, the difficulties in gendrating philanthroplc donations that often favour organisations that
provide direct sérviess 16 cormmunities, petential conflicts with this charter if generating income through
fee-for-service, and fimited opportunities for sighificant funds to be generated through sponsorships.
Given these factors, this review supgests Congress should prioritise securing rellable core funding from
Government, while working to raise additional funds through philanthropy, fee-fér-service and
sponsorships. The conclusion drawn by the review is that government will continue to be the primary
funding hody.

v This review suggests that that the Australtan Government's commitment ta long-term funding through the
Establishment Investment Fund for the national representative body (as recommend In the ‘2009 - Dur
future In our hanils” docurnent) is the most appropriate option forsecuring the ongoing existence of
Congress and enabling Congress to operate at arm’s-length from goveliiment,
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Future issue

o  Congressshould continua to actively pursue:

- Government funding commitment

- the Steering Committee’s recommandation for the Establishimént investment Fund

-~ DGR status

- funding sources through philanthropy, fee-for-service opportunities and sponsorship, !

e Condiderabte effort should be dedicated to Rurther develop and Implement the buslness plan that detalls
strategies and activities, 4 list of key Individuals and organisations to target, the resources {ongressis
willing to commit to this, a feasibility assessment to ensure the funds gathered do not exceed the costs In
generating funds, and clear processes for ensuting Congress’ Charter Is nat compromise.
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Appendices

APRENDIN 1: Refesenres

Aboriginal and Tofres Strait Islancler Social justice Commissioner, Building & Sustainable National Indigenous
Representative Body - Issues for Consideration, 2008

FaHCSIA - National Cangress of Australia’s First Peoples Funding Deed, 24 May 2010 - 30 June 2014,

National Congress of Australia’s First Peoples;

Activity Plan May - December 2010 and ‘flow diagram to deliver the Inaugural Congress’
Board Paper health uptate {dated § July 2012), Agenda Title: Natlonal Aboriginal and Torres

‘Strait Islander Health Plan

Chiamber 3 Mémbership Statisiics Report —as.at 24/4/2012

‘Congress achievements 2011-2012 (not yet publically avallable at time of review)

Congress Strategic Directions 2012/13 - Operational Plan

Constitution

Divistonal Plan 2012-2013, POLICY TEAM (15 June 2012)

Eelucation Working Group Work plan (June 2012}

Engagement and Empoweanment — Congress Policy and Advotacy Guidelings

Ethics Counddl Charter '

tthics Council Terms of Reference

Evaluation Report for the 2011 Natlonal Congress

Justice Working Group Work plan

Members survey report, June 2011

National Board Policy/Guideline; NB2

Pianning and Reporting Framework (draft) (May 2012}

Position Paper: National Anti-Racism Partnership and Strategy (June 2012)

Responsé to recomimentlations of the Review of Funding for Schooling (June 2012}
Strategic direction (draft), (2012}

Strategic Plan 2010 - 2015

Statement of Priviciples
hitp://nationalcongress.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/CongressPrinciplest.pdf
Statement to the Australian Government on the Inguiry into Language Learning in indigenous
Communities conducted by the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs Commitiers
(December 2011)

Statement to'the Australian Government oh the Ingulry into Language Learning In Indlgenous
Commutiities conducted by the Aborlginal and Torfes Strait Islander Affars Commitgee -
Supplementary Statement (June 2012} '
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- Statement to the Australian Government an the Narthern Territory Intervention {September
2011}

- Statement to the Expert Panel oh Constitutional Recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
lislander pecples (September 2011)

- Statement ta the Minister for the Arts onthe proposal for a National Caltural Policy (Décernber
2011) ;

- Statement to the Senate Lega! and Constitutional Affairs Legistation Commitiee on the lnqLiry
into the Native Title Amendment {Reform) Bifl 2011 (October 2011)

- Statemeant to the Senate Standing Commiittee on Community Affair's on corditions affacting
Aboriginal Communities in the Narthern Territory including the proposed Stronger Futures in the
Northarn Territory Bill {2011) and accompanying Bills (February 2012)

- Survey of Delegates (March 2012)

Steerlng Committea for the Creation of a National Representative Body, 2009 Our future in our hands -
creating a national representative body for Aboriginal ahd Torres Strait Islander pedples; AHRC, (2009}

Nationul Congress of Australia’s First Proplas: Organlsation :ev.ﬂualmq H e
August 2611 oL




APPENTHY 21 Interviews

Grouping

Co-Chair

Name

loty Broun

Les Matezer

Board

Brian Butler

Venessa CUrnow

Dennis Eggington

Rodney Little

Tatimy Sclonec

Daphne Yarram

i
Ethics Coungil

Josephine Bourne

Tom Calma

Wesley Inoch

rlr\'/!ary Graham

Martln Nakata

Compahy Secretary

Tania Kearsley

Management

Lindon Coombes

Laigh McLaughlin

Aaron Ross

Deborah Soler

FaHCSIA

Anne Sattler

Geoffrey Thomas

Former Co-Chair

Kerry Araiieg_n’a‘

Sam Jeffries

Commissioner

inal and Torres Strait Islander Soclal Justice

Tharani Jegatheeswaran |

Mick Goocla
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